CHARACTER THEORY AND ARTIN L-FUNCTIONS

by

PENG-JIE WONG

A thesis submitted to the Department of Mathematics and Statistics in conformity with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Queen's University
Kingston, Ontario, Canada
August 2017

Copyright © Peng-Jie Wong, 2017

Abstract

In the spirit of Artin, Brauer, and Heilbronn, we implement representation theory together with the *Artin formalism* to study L-functions in this thesis.

One of the major themes is motivated by the work of Heilbronn and many others on classical Heilbronn characters. We define the *arithmetic Heilbronn characters* and apply them to study L-functions. In particular, we prove a theorem concerning the analytic ranks of elliptic curves as predicted by the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer conjecture.

In a different vein, we employ the theory of supercharacters introduced by Diaconis and Isaacs to derive a supercharacter-theoretic analogue of Heilbronn characters. Moreover, we generalise the effective Chebotarev density theorem due to M. R. Murty, V. K. Murty, and Saradha in the context of supercharacter theory.

Lastly, we study the conjectures of Artin and Langlands via group theory and extend the previous work of Arthur and Clozel. For instance, we introduce the notion of near supersolvability and near nilpotency, and show that Artin's conjecture holds if Gal(K/k) is nearly supersolvable. As a consequence, the Artin conjecture is true for any solvable Frobenius Galois extension. Also, we derive the automorphy for every nearly nilpotent group. Furthermore, the Langlands reciprocity conjecture has been established for Galois extensions of number fields of either square-free degree or odd cube-free degree as well as all non- A_5 extensions of degree at most 100.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I want to thank my teacher and mentor, Professor Ram Murty, for all his kind encouragement, guidance, and inspiration over these years. Indeed, this thesis originated from the NCTS Lecture he gave during the summer in 2012. Without him, this thesis would be impossible. Meanwhile, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Professors Wen-Ching Winnie Li and Chao-Liang Shen who set me on the path to an adventure of arithmetic.

I am also grateful to Professors Amir Akbary, Selim Akl, Nicolas Hudon, Andrew Lewis, and Mike Roth for serving as members of my examining committee as well as their valuable comments on the previous version of this thesis.

Last but not least, I deeply appreciate my family and friends in Taiwan, Canada, and U.S.A. for their unconditional support and warmth. My life and study have been made delightful, enjoyable, and meaningful by them.

Statement of Originality

I, Peng-Jie Wong, being a candidate for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, hereby declare that this dissertation and the work described in it are my own work, unaided except as may be specified below, and that the dissertation does not contain material that has already been used to any substantial extent for a comparable purpose.

Contents

Abstra	act		i
Ackno	wledge	ments	ii
Staten	nent of	Originality	iii
Conte	\mathbf{nts}		iv
List of	Abbre	eviations and Symbols	vi
Chapt	er 1:	Introduction	1
Chapt	er 2:	Group-Theoretic Preliminaries	11
2.1	A Litt	le Finite Group Theory	11
2.2	Finite	-Dimensional Representations and their Characters	14
2.3	Review	w of Supercharacter Theory	19
Chapt	er 3:	Galois and Automorphic Representations	24
3.1	Galois	Representations and L-Functions	24
	3.1.1	Artin L-Functions and Artin's Conjecture	24
	3.1.2	The Chebotarev Density Theorem	32
	3.1.3	Classical Heilbronn Characters	35
	3.1.4	Elliptic Curves and their L-Functions	37
	3.1.5	Hecke L-Functions	39
	3.1.6	Artin-Hecke L-Functions and CM-Elliptic Curves	40
3.2	Auton	norphic Representations and the Langlands Reciprocity Conjecture	42
3.3	Auton	norphy and Functoriality Results	45
	3.3.1	Some Known Cases of Langlands Reciprocity	45
	3.3.2	Base Change and Automorphic Induction	47
	3.3.3	Tensor Products and Symmetric and Exterior Powers	49
	3.3.4	Applications to the Langlands Reciprocity Conjecture	50
	3.3.5	Potential Automorphy	52

Chapte	er 4: Applications of Supercharacter Theory	54
4.1	Super Heilbronn Characters	54
4.2	Supercharacters and Artin's Conjecture	62
4.3	An Effective Chebotarev Density Theorem	63
Chapte	er 5: A Variant of Heilbronn Characters	70
5.1	Weak Arithmetic Heilbronn Characters	70
5.2	Arithmetic Heilbronn Characters	75
5.3	Applications to Artin-Hecke L-Functions and CM-Elliptic Curves	92
5.4	Applications to Automorphic L-Functions and Elliptic Curves without	
	CM	95
5.5	An Application of Weak Heilbronn Characters	100
Chapte	er 6: Conjectures of Artin and Langlands	103
6.1	Nearly Supersolvable Groups and Nearly Monomial Groups	103
6.2	Nearly Nilpotent Groups	109
6.3	S-Accessible Characters	113
6.4	Variants of Nearly Nilpotent and Nearly Supersolvable Groups	115
6.5	Applications to Frobenius Groups	120
6.6	Groups of Order at most 100	123
	6.6.1 The Case $ G = 48$	124
	6.6.2 The Case $ G = 60$	125
	6.6.3 The Case $ G = 72$	125
	6.6.4 The Case $ G = 80$	126
	6.6.5 The Case $ G = 84$	126
	6.6.6 The Case $ G = 96$	127
Chapte	er 7: Concluding Remarks and Future Directions	129
Bibliog	Bibliography	

List of Abbreviations and Symbols

M monomial
SMsubnormally monomial
NM nearly monomial
NSSnearly supersolvable
NNnearly nilpotent
G^i the <i>i</i> -th derived subgroup of G , inductively defined as the derived
subgroup of G^{i-1} , with $G^0 = G$
G'the derived subgroup of G
G_{π} a Hall π -subgroup of G (in particular, if $\pi = \{p\}$, then it is a Sylow
p-subgroup of G)
$\mathbf{Z}(G)$ the centre of G
$\mathbf{F}(G)$ the Fitting subgroup of G , i.e., the maximal normal nilpotent sub-
group of G
$\Phi(G)$ the Frattini subgroup of G , i.e., the intersection of all maximal
subgroups of G
$\langle g \rangle \dots \dots$ the subgroup generated of g in G
$H \leq G \dots H$ is a subgroup of G
$N \leq G \dots N$ is a normal subgroup of G

```
N \times H \dots a semi-direct product of N by H
C_m 	ext{......} the cyclic group of order m
C_m^n 	ext{......} the direct product of n-copies of C_m
V_4 \dots \dots the Klein four-group
Q \dots \dots the quaternion group of order 8
S_n 	ext{.....} the symmetric group on n letters
A_n \ldots \ldots the alternating group on n letters
\mathbb{F}_p \dots \dots the field of p elements
GL_n(F).....the group of non-singular n \times n matrices over F
SL_n(F).....the group of n \times n matrices of determinant 1 over F
PGL_n(F)...GL_n(F) modulo the subgroup of scalar matrices
Irr(G) ..... the set of irreducible characters of G
Irr(G, \sigma)..... the set of irreducible characters of G appearing in \sigma
Sup(G).....the set of supercharacters of G
\mathbf{C}(G).....the space of class functions of G
        \ldots \{\chi(1) \mid \chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)\}, the set of character degrees of G
\mathcal{C}.....the class consisting of groups G with \mathrm{cd}(G)\subseteq\{1,2\}
\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \psi \dots the induction of \psi from H to G
\operatorname{SInd}_H^G \tau \dots the superinduction of \tau from H to G
\operatorname{Sym}^m \dots the m-th symmetric power
Gal(K/k)..... the Galois group of a Galois extension K/k
K^H.....the fixed field of H \leq \operatorname{Gal}(K/k)
```

Chapter 1

Introduction

A natural number is said to be prime if it has exactly two divisors, namely, 1 and itself. Prime numbers have been studied for a long time as they are building blocks of natural numbers. Indeed, every natural number n admits a unique factorisation

$$n = p_1^{e_1} \cdots p_k^{e_k},$$

where p_i 's are distinct primes and e_i 's are natural numbers. Therefore, in order to understand properties of natural numbers, studying primes is crucial.

It was more than two thousand years ago that Euclid proved the infinitude of primes. His elegant argument is that assuming there were only finitely many primes p_1, \dots, p_k (say), the number

$$p_1 \cdots p_k + 1$$

is not divisible by any p_i . Thus, there would be a new prime diving $p_1 \cdots p_k + 1$, which leads to a contradiction. In 1737, Euler gave another proof via an *analytic* method.

He considered a special function

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{-x}$$

of a real variable x > 1. By the unique factorisation, he then wrote

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{-x} = \prod_{p} (1 - p^{-x})^{-1}$$

for x > 1, where the product runs over all the primes. Since the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{-1}$ diverges, by taking $x \to 1^+$, Euler proved the existence of infinitely many primes. Motivated by this result, Euler and Legendre asked if there are infinitely many primes in a given arithmetic progression. More precisely, for any given two coprime natural numbers a and a, are there infinitely many primes a such that

$$q \mid (p-a)$$
?

The affirmative answer was given by Dirichlet in 1837 (for q prime) and in 1840 (for all q). For this purpose, he considered the periodic and completely multiplicative functions defined on integers, what now are called *Dirichlet characters*. Furthermore, he associated the L-function $L(x, \chi)$ to each Dirichlet character χ by defining

$$L(x,\chi) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \chi(n) n^{-x} = \prod_{p} (1 - \chi(p) p^{-x})^{-1}$$

of a real variable x > 1, where the product is over all primes.

In a different theme, there was a conjecture due to Legendre and Gauss asserting

that the prime-counting function

$$\pi(x) = \#\{p \le x \mid p \text{ is a prime}\}\$$

is asymptotic to $x/\log x$ as $x\to\infty$. To answer this, Riemann in 1859 suggested that one should study

$$\zeta(s) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{-s} = \prod_{p} (1 - p^{-s})^{-1}$$

as a function of a *complex* variable s. Moreover, he showed that $\zeta(s)$ extends to a meromorphic function on \mathbb{C} which has only a simple pole at s=1 and satisfies a functional equation. Also, Riemann derived an explicit formula for $\pi(x)$ in terms of zeros of his zeta function.

The next step was taken by Hadamard and de la Vallée-Poussin independently in 1896. They proved the conjecture of Legendre and Gauss, which is now the celebrated prime number theorem, by using Riemann's idea and showing that $\zeta(s)$ is non-vanishing on $\Re(s) \geq 1$. Shortly after, de la Vallée-Poussin gave a quantitative form of the above-mentioned theorem of Dirichlet. This is now called the prime number theorem for arithmetic progressions, which states that if natural numbers a and q have no common prime factors, then the proportion of the primes p congruent to a modulo q is equal to $\frac{1}{\phi(q)}$, where ϕ is the Euler totient function.

Indeed, the analytic properties of L-functions have been utilised to establish results of a purely arithmetic nature. For instance, to study primes, mathematicians were forced to investigate prime ideals in number fields. This led Dedekind to his zeta functions. Furthermore, in light of work of Riemann and many others, Landau derived the *prime ideal theorem*, asserting that in every given number field the number of

Prime ideals with norm at most x is asymptotic to $x/\log x$. Moreover, in 1922, Chebotarev obtained a vast generalisation of the earlier-mentioned result of Dirichlet. His remarkable result, nowadays called the *Chebotarev density theorem*, describes probabilistically how primes p distribute in a given Galois extension of the field of rational numbers $\mathbb Q$ with respect to their $Artin\ symbols\ \sigma_p$ (cf. Sections 3.1.1 and 3.1.2). In particular, if the given Galois extension is cyclotomic, the Chebotarev density theorem gives the prime number theorem for arithmetic progressions. More precisely, considering the q-th cyclotomic field $\mathbb Q(\zeta_q)$, where ζ_q is a primitive q-th root of unity, one has $\mathrm{Gal}(\mathbb Q(\zeta_q)/\mathbb Q) \simeq (\mathbb Z/q\mathbb Z)^{\times}$. Moreover, for each prime p coprime to q, the Artin symbol σ_p is defined and $\sigma_p(\zeta_q) = \zeta_q^p$. Thus, σ_p only depends on the arithmetic progression to which p belongs modulo q. Hence, by applying the Chebotarev density theorem in this context, for any q coprime to q, the number of primes $p \leq x$ which is congruent to q modulo q is asymptotic to

$$\frac{1}{\phi(q)} \frac{x}{\log x}$$

as $x \to \infty$.

Meanwhile, for every Galois extension K/k of number fields with Galois group G and every representation ρ of G into $GL_n(\mathbb{C})$, Artin defined the L-function attached to ρ and conjectured that his L-function can be extended to an *entire* function whenever ρ is non-trivial and irreducible. Via his celebrated reciprocity law, Artin showed that his conjecture is valid when n=1. From this and the induction-invariance property of Artin L-functions, Artin established his conjecture when G is an M-group, namely, all irreducible characters of G are induced from 1-dimensional characters of subgroups of G. Furthermore, by his induction theorem, Brauer proved that all Artin L-functions

extend meromorphically over \mathbb{C} and indeed satisfy the functional equation predicted by Artin.

In light of Artin reciprocity, Langlands further conjectured that for each representation ρ of G, ρ should be associated to an automorphic representation π of $GL_{\dim\rho}(\mathbb{A}_k)$, where \mathbb{A}_k denotes the adèle ring of k; and if ρ is irreducible, then π will be cuspidal. If such a π exists, then ρ is said to be automorphic. This is often called the Langlands reciprocity conjecture or the strong Artin conjecture. Indeed, Artin's conjecture follows from the Langlands reciprocity conjecture and the theory of automorphic L-functions.

By the works of Iwasawa [29] and Tate [64], one knows that the Langlands conjecture for GL(1) is exactly Artin reciprocity. The next big step was taken by Langlands [37] and Tunnell [66] who proved the Langlands reciprocity conjecture for 2-dimensional ρ with solvable image. In much the same spirit, Ramakrishnan [54] showed that solvable 4-dimensional representations of GO(4)-type are all automorphic; and Martin [41, 42] derived the automorphy for ρ with projective image (in $PGL_4(\mathbb{C})$) isomorphic to $E_{2^4} \rtimes C_5$ or an extension of A_4 by V_4 . Moreover, the automorphy of odd 2-dimensional icosahedral representations over \mathbb{Q} follows from Khare-Wintenberger's proof of Serre's modularity conjecture (cf. [34]). In a slightly different vein, from their theory of base change and automorphic induction, Arthur and Clozel [2] derived Langlands reciprocity whenever G is nilpotent. Moreover, they showed that if G is solvable and ρ is accessible, i.e., χ is an integral sum of characters induced from linear characters of subnormal subgroups of G, then ρ must be automorphic. These results will be discussed and summarised in Section 3.3.

A conjecture of Dedekind asserts that the quotient $\zeta_K(s)/\zeta_k(s)$ is entire if K/k is

any finite extension (not necessarily Galois). By the works of Aramata and Brauer, this conjecture is valid if K/k is a Galois extension. Moreover, if K is contained in a solvable normal closure of k, Uchida [67] and van der Waall [69] independently proved Dedekind's conjecture in this case. However, this conjecture is still open in general. We remark that Dedekind's conjecture follows from Artin's conjecture and that all these results, in fact, rely on the theories of Artin L-functions and induced representations. On the other hand, to study zeros of Dedekind zeta functions, Heilbronn [23] introduced what are now called the Heilbronn characters. His innovation allowed him to give a simple proof of the Aramata-Brauer theorem. This profound idea was also used by Stark [62] to prove that if K/k is Galois and $\zeta_K(s)$ has a simple zero at $s = s_0$, then such a zero must arise from a cyclic extension of k. Moreover, in the spirit of Heilbronn and Stark, Foote and V. K. Murty [19] showed that if K/k is a Galois extension with Galois group G, for fixed $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}$,

$$\sum_{\chi \in Irr(G)} n(G, \chi)^2 \le (\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} \zeta_K(s))^2,$$

where $n(G,\chi)$ denotes the order of the Artin L-function $L(s,\chi,K/k)$ at $s=s_0$. Furthermore, if G is solvable, this result has been improved by M. R. Murty and Raghuram in [49] and later Lansky and Wilson in [39]. In particular, the result of M. R. Murty and Raghuram generalises the works of Uchida and van der Waall.

Following the path illuminated by Heilbronn, Stark, and many others, in Section 5.1, we will introduce the notion of weak arithmetic Heilbronn characters that satisfy properties analogous to some properties of the classical Heilbronn characters known by the works of Heilbronn-Stark (Lemma 5.2), Aramata-Brauer (Corollary 5.4), Foote-V. K. Murty (Theorem 5.3), and M. R. Murty-V. K. Murty (Proposition 5.6). Later, in

Section 5.2, more conditions will be imposed on weak arithmetic Heilbronn characters which take them closer to Heilbronn characters. These will be outlined in Lemma 5.7 (Heilbronn-Stark lemma in full strength), Proposition 5.11 (known by the work of M. R. Murty-Raghuram), and Corollary 5.12 (the Uchida-van der Waall Theorem). We will go on to derive several extensions of results of M. R. Murty and Raghuram for arithmetic Heilbronn characters.

In Section 5.3, we will apply the results from Section 5.2 to study Artin-Hecke L-functions and L-functions of CM-elliptic curves. Furthermore, in Section 5.4, by applying the results from Section 5.2, we will study holomorphy of quotients of Rankin-Selberg L-functions arising from certain cuspidal automorphic representations that allows one to investigate holomorphy of quotients of L-functions associated to non-CM elliptic curves. Also, in Section 5.5, we will use properties of weak arithmetic Heilbronn characters along with the celebrated result of Taylor and his school on the potential automorphy of symmetric power L-functions of non-CM elliptic curves (cf. Section 3.3.5) to deduce generalisations of the results of Foote, M. R. Murty, and V. K. Murty. In particular, one such consequence, Theorem 5.35, is predicted by the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer conjecture.

In 1988, under the assumption that the generalised Riemann hypothesis and the Artin conjecture hold, M. R. Murty, V. K. Murty, and Saradha [48] gave an effective version of the Chebotarev density theorem, refining the previous work of Lagarias and Odlyzko [40] as well as a result of Serre [58] (cf. Section 3.1.2). More recently, Diaconis and Isaacs in [16] constructed a theory of supercharacters and showed that their theory of supercharacters shares similar properties of the classical character theory. For instance, they proved that there is the first orthogonality property in general

and derived super Frobenius reciprocity for certain matrix groups. We will give a brief review of the supercharacter theory in Section 2.3 and derive super Frobenius reciprocity for all groups. Inspired by the work of Brauer, Heilbronn, and others, we are also interested in studying Artin L-functions via the theory of supercharacters. Indeed, we derive a supercharacter-theoretic analogue of Heilbronn characters in Section 4.1 and give an effective version of the Chebotarev density theorem for Artin L-functions attached to supercharacters in Section 4.3. Furthermore, as will be discussed in Section 4.2, the Artin conjecture is true for Artin L-functions attached to suitable supercharacters. As a consequence, we obtain the same effective estimate given by M. R. Murty-V. K. Murty-Saradha without the assumption of Artin's conjecture for these cases.

From the above discussion, it is not hard to see that all the results suggest that the group-theoretic method shall be a key of optimising our understanding of the Artin conjecture. For instance, the Artin conjecture has been derived for certain solvable Frobenius extensions by Zhang [75] by invoking the theory of Frobenius groups. (We recall that a group G is said to be Frobenius if it has a non-trivial proper subgroup H such that $g^{-1}Hg \cap H = 1$ for all $g \in G \backslash H$.) Thus, for our purpose of studying Artin's conjecture, the major part of Chapters 2 and 6 are devoted to collecting pure group-theoretic results and developing a method of low-dimensional groups, respectively. (We call a group low-dimensional if all its irreducible characters are of "small" degree.) Such group-theoretic machinery will allow one to obtain information of representations of groups via their low-dimensional (normal) subgroups.

We will say a finite group G is nearly supersolvable if it has an invariant series

$$1 = N_0 \le N_1 \le \cdots \le N_{k-1} \le N_k = G,$$

where each subgroup is normal in G, the quotient N_{i+1}/N_i is cyclic for every $i \geq 1$, and N_1 belongs to the class C consisting of groups all of whose irreducible representations are of dimension less than or equal to 2. We note that the symmetric group on four letters, S_4 , is not supersolvable. However, as it admits a normal subgroup isomorphic to the Klein four-group V_4 , S_4 is nearly supersolvable. This, in fact, motivates our notation of nearly supersolvable groups to study Artin's conjecture.

As an application, we derive the following theorem in Sections 6.1 and 6.5 (cf. Theorems 6.5 and 6.29).

Theorem 1.1. Suppose that K/k is a nearly supersolvable Galois extension or a solvable Frobenius extension. Then the Artin conjecture holds for K/k.

In light of their work on the automorphy of accessible characters of solvable groups, Arthur and Clozel asked if one can classify the accessible groups (cf. [2, pp. 220-221]). From this question and the accessibility of subnormally monomial groups, i.e., the groups all of whose irreducible characters are induced from 1-dimensional characters of subnormal subgroups, one may further want a classification of the subnormally monomial groups. We remark that this desire arises naturally as the symmetric group on three letters, S_3 , is not nilpotent, which prevents one from applying Arthur-Clozel's automorphy result on nilpotent extensions. Nevertheless, it can be shown that S_3 is subnormally monomial and hence of automorphic type. As one can see, a general criterion for subnormal monomiality is now crucial for studying the Langlands reciprocity conjecture.

Inspired by the above observation and discussion, we introduce the notation of nearly nilpotent groups as follows. A group G is said to be nearly nilpotent if it admits a normal subgroup N in the class C described above such that G/N is nilpotent.

Furthermore, we will prove the following result that presents an enlargement of Galois extensions of number fields satisfying Langlands reciprocity (cf. Theorem 6.12 and Section 6.6).

Theorem 1.2. Let K/k be a Galois extension of number fields with Galois group G. If G is a direct product of two nearly nilpotent groups, then Langlands reciprocity is true for K/k. Moreover, Langlands reciprocity holds for all non- A_5 Galois extensions of number fields of degree at most 100.

Our result covers all *metabelian* Galois extensions as well as Arthur-Clozel's theorem on the automorphy of nilpotent Galois extensions. Also, as all groups of square-free order are *meta-cyclic*, it follows that Langlands reciprocity is valid for all Galois extensions of square-free degree. One may regard this theorem as the "metabelian class field theory" or the "square-free reciprocity" as predicted by the Langlands program.

Chapter 2

Group-Theoretic Preliminaries

2.1 A Little Finite Group Theory

In this section, we will recall some notations and results from the theory of groups. Firstly, G always denotes a finite group, and H and N denote a subgroup and a normal subgroup of G, respectively. A semi-direct product of N by H will be denoted as $N \rtimes H$. Also, G' and $\mathbf{Z}(G)$ will stand for the derived subgroup and the centre of G, respectively. Moreover, we let $\mathbf{F}(G)$ denote the maximal normal nilpotent subgroup of G, i.e., the Fitting subgroup of G, and let $\Phi(G)$ stand for the Frattini subgroup of G, i.e., the intersection of all maximal subgroups of G. For any finite set π of primes, G_{π} denotes a $Hall \pi$ -subgroup of G. The cyclic group of order m, the Klein four-group, and the quaternion group of order 8 will be denoted as C_m , V_4 , and Q, respectively. The direct product of n-copies of C_m will be denoted by C_m^n .

Definition 2.1. A finite group G is said to be nilpotent if one of the followings holds.

N1. G admits a central series, i.e., there is an invariant series of subgroups

$$1 = H_0 \le H_1 \le \cdots \le H_{k-1} \le H_k = G,$$

where for each i, H_i is normal in G and $H_{i+1}/H_i \leq \mathbf{Z}(G/H_i)$;

N2. G is a direct product of its Sylow subgroups; or

N3. Every subgroup H of G is subnormal, i.e., there is an invariant series of subgroups

$$H = H_0 \le H_1 \le \cdots \le H_{k-1} \le H_k = G,$$

where each H_i is normal in H_{i+1} .

Definition 2.2. A finite group G is called supersolvable (resp., solvable) if there exists an invariant series of subgroups

$$1 = H_0 \le H_1 \le \cdots \le H_{k-1} \le H_k = G,$$

where each H_i is normal in G (resp., in H_{i+1}) and each H_{i+1}/H_i is cyclic.

Definition 2.3. A finite group G is said to be meta-cyclic (resp., metabelian), if G has a normal subgroup N such that both N and G/N are cyclic (resp., abelian).

Let S_n denote the symmetric group on n letters. It is well-known that for $n \leq 4$, S_n is solvable. In particular, S_2 is isomorphic to the cyclic group of order 2. Also, S_3 is not nilpotent but supersolvable. Indeed, S_3 admits a normal cyclic subgroup of order 3 and hence is a meta-cyclic group. However, S_4 is not nilpotent nor supersolvable.

A classical result of Hölder asserts that a (finite) group of square-free order must be meta-cyclic. Moreover, in 2005, Dietrich and Eick [17] studied the class of groups of cube-free order and, in particular, characterised non-solvable groups of cube-free order. Their work has been extended by Qiao and Li [52] who gave a description of the class of solvable groups of cube-free order as follows.

Proposition 2.1. Let G be a solvable group of cube-free order. Then one of the followings holds.

1.
$$G = (C_a \times C_b^2) \rtimes (C_c \times C_d^2)$$
, or $(C_2^2 \times C_a \times C_b^2) \rtimes (C_c \times C_d^2)$; or

2.
$$G = (C_a \times C_b^2) \times (C_c \times C_d^2) \times G_{\{2\}},$$

where a, b, c, and d are suitable odd integers such that (a,b) = (c,d) = 1, ac is cube-free, bd is square-free, prime divisors of ab are not less than prime divisors of cd, and C_m denotes a cyclic group of order m.

We remark that Qiao and Li showed that the first case happens if a Hall $\{2,3\}$ subgroup $G_{\{2,3\}} = G_{\{2\}} \times G_{\{3\}}$ of G is non-abelian (cf. [52, Lemma 3.8]).

As mentioned earlier, G is a Frobenius group if there is a non-trivial proper subgroup H of G such that $g^{-1}Hg \cap H = 1$ whenever $g \in G \backslash H$. In this case, H is called a Frobenius complement of G.

Definition 2.4. Let G be a finite group. A proper subgroup N is called a CC-subgroup if for every non-trivial element n of N, its centraliser $C_G(n)$ is contained in N, where $C_G(n)$ is defined as

$$C_G(n) = \{ g \in G \mid gn = ng \}.$$

We note that if G admits a non-trivial proper normal CC-subgroup, then G is a Frobenius group. Conversely, a theorem of Frobenius tells us that if G is a Frobenius group with a Frobenius complement H, there is a normal CC-subgroup N of G such that $G = N \rtimes H$, where N is called the *Frobenius kernel* of G. On the other hand, all Sylow subgroups of a Frobenius complement are cyclic or generalised quaternion, and a deep theorem of Thompson asserts that every Frobenius kernel is nilpotent. For more details, we refer the reader to [26, Chapter 7] and [27, Chapter 6].

2.2 Finite-Dimensional Representations and their Characters

Let G be a finite group. A representation ρ of G on a finite dimensional vector space V over $\mathbb C$ is a group homomorphism from G to GL(V), the general linear group on V. Given a representation ρ of G, the character of ρ is a function on G defined by $\chi(g) = \operatorname{tr} \rho(g)$. A linear subspace $W \subset V$ is called G-invariant if $\rho(g)w \in W$ for all $g \in G$ and all $w \in W$. In this case, ρ can be seen as a representation of G on G0 on G1. A representation by G2. A representation G3 is said to be irreducible if there is no proper and non-trivial G-invariant subspaces G3 of G4. In addition, the character G5 of a representation G6 is called irreducible if G6 is irreducible. If G6 is irreducible if G8 is irreducible. If G8 is a finite dimensional vector space G4.

$$(f_1, f_2)_G = \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} f_1(g) \overline{f_2(g)}.$$

If $f: G \to \mathbb{C}$ is constant on each conjugacy class in G, then f is called a class function on G. We will let $\mathbf{C}(G)$ denote the space of class functions of G. It can be shown that the set $\mathrm{Irr}(G)$ of all irreducible characters of G forms an orthonormal basis for the inner product space of all class functions on G with respect to the inner product defined above.

Let H be a subgroup of G and f a class function on H. The *induction* of f from H to G is defined by

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} f(x) = \frac{1}{|H|} \sum_{g \in G} \tilde{f}(g^{-1}xg),$$

where \tilde{f} extends f by setting $\tilde{f}(g) = 0$ for all $g \in G \backslash H$. By using the definition of induction, one can deduce that $\operatorname{Ind}_H^G f$ is a class function on G if f is a class function

on H, and one can also show the following reciprocity theorem.

Proposition 2.2 (Frobenius Reciprocity). For all class functions ϕ on H, a subgroup of G, and all class functions θ of G,

$$(\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi, \theta)_G = (\phi, \theta|_H)_H,$$

where $\theta|_H$ is the restriction of θ from G to H.

We recall that a character is said to be *monomial* if it is induced from a linear character (i.e., a character of degree 1) and that a *monomial group* (or an *M-group* for short) is a group that all of whose irreducible characters are monomial. As will be discussed in the next chapter, monomial characters play a crucial role in studying Artin's conjecture and Galois representations. In light of this, we shall further recall some concepts of *relative M-groups* and *relative SM-groups* (cf. [26, Chapter 6] and [25], respectively).

Definition 2.5. Let G be a finite group and let N be a normal subgroup of G. A character χ of G is called a relative M-character (resp., a relative SM-character) with respect to N if there exists a subgroup (resp., a subnormal subgroup) H with $N \leq H \leq G$ and an irreducible character $\psi \in Irr(H)$ such that $Ind_H^G \psi = \chi$ and $\psi|_N \in Irr(N)$. If every irreducible character of G is a relative M-character (resp., a relative SM-character) with respect to N, then G is said to be a relative M-group (resp., a relative SM-group) with respect to N.

We note that if N is normal in G and G/N is nilpotent or supersolvable, then G is a relative M-group with respect to N. In general, one has the following result due to Price (cf. [5, Theorem 7.63] and [26, Theorem 6.22]).

Theorem 2.3. Let G be a finite group with a normal subgroup N such that G/N is solvable. If every chief factor of every non-trivial subgroup of G/N has order equal to an odd power of some prime, then G is a relative M-group with respect to N.

From this, one has a result of Huppert (cf. [26, Theorem 6.23]) as stated below.

Proposition 2.4. Let G be a finite group and let N be a normal subgroup of G such that G/N is supersolvable. If N is solvable and all Sylow subgroups of N are abelian, then G is an M-group.

Moreover, based on Theorem 2.3, Horváth [25, Proposition 2.7] gave a sufficient condition for groups being relative SM-groups as follows.

Theorem 2.5. Let G be a finite group and let N be a normal subgroup of G with G/N nilpotent. Then G is a relative SM-group with respect to N.

We note that Horváth omitted the proof and remarked that it is similar to the proof of Theorem 2.3. However, for the sake of completeness, we give a proof below.

Proof. By Theorem 2.3, we already know that each $\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)$ is a relative M-character with respect to N, i.e., there exists a subgroup H with $N \leq H \leq G$ and an irreducible character $\psi \in \operatorname{Irr}(H)$ such that $\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \psi = \chi$ and $\psi|_N \in \operatorname{Irr}(N)$. Now as G/N is nilpotent, all its subgroups are subnormal. In particular, we have

$$H/N = \overline{H_0} \le \overline{H_1} \le \cdots \le \overline{H_{m-1}} \le \overline{H_m} = G/N,$$

where for each i, $\overline{H_i}$ is a normal subgroup of $\overline{H_{i+1}}$. Now by lifting this series (with respect to N), we can see that H is subnormal in G. In other words, each χ is a

relative SM-character with respect to N, and hence, G is a relative SM-group with respect to N.

Recall that a $Dedekind\ group$ is a group G such that every subgroup of G is normal. By an analogous argument as above, we have the following variant that may be of interest.

Proposition 2.6. Let G be a finite group and let N be a normal subgroup of G such that G/N is a Dedekind group. Then for every $\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)$, there exists a normal subgroup H of G with $N \leq H$ and $\psi \in \operatorname{Irr}(H)$ such that $\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \psi = \chi$ and $\psi|_N \in \operatorname{Irr}(N)$.

As a consequence, any irreducible character of a metabelian group G is induced from a 1-dimensional character of a normal subgroup of G.

For Frobenius groups, one also has the following theorem that characterises their (induced) irreducible characters (cf. [26, Theorem 6.34]).

Proposition 2.7. Let G be a Frobenius group with Frobenius kernel N. For any $\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)$ with $N \nsubseteq \operatorname{Ker} \chi$, one has $\chi = \operatorname{Ind}_N^G \psi$ for some $\psi \in \operatorname{Irr}(N)$.

We recall that a group is called p-elementary if it is a direct product of a p-group and a cyclic group, and that a group is said to be elementary if it is p-elementary for some prime p. Let us state Brauer's theorem on induced characters.

Theorem 2.8 (Brauer Induction Theorem). Let G be a finite group and χ a character of G. Then there exist integers n_i such that

$$\chi = \sum_{i} n_i \operatorname{Ind}_{H_i}^G \psi_i,$$

where H_i 's are elementary subgroups of G and ψ_i is a linear character of H_i .

To end this section, we collect more results from the representation theory of finite groups.

Lemma 2.9. Let G be a finite group and $\mathbf{Z}(G)$ its centre. Then for every irreducible character χ of G, one has

$$\chi(1)^2 \le [G : \mathbf{Z}(G)].$$

We let $cd(G) = {\chi(1) \mid \chi \in Irr(G)}$. Via the above lemma, Theorem 2.3, Sylow's theory (or the computer algebra package [20]), one has the following.

Lemma 2.10. If G is of order 1, 2, 4, 3, or 9, then $cd(G) = \{1\}$. If G is of order 8, 16, 6, or 18, then $cd(G) \subseteq \{1,2\}$. If |G| is 12, 24, or 36, then $cd(G) \subseteq \{1,2,3,4\}$ where $4 \in cd(G)$ only if |G'| = 9.

We also invoke below a result of Isaacs (cf. [26, Theorems 12.5, 12.6 and 12.15]).

Theorem 2.11. If G is a finite group with $|\operatorname{cd}(G)| \leq 3$, then G must be solvable.

Let ρ be an irreducible representation of G. As the finite subgroups of $PGL_3(\mathbb{C})$ have been classified by Blichfeldt [6, 44], one has the following.

Lemma 2.12. If ρ is primitive, 3-dimensional, and with solvable projective image \overline{G} in $PGL_3(\mathbb{C})$, then \overline{G} is of order 36, 72, or 216.

We let $GO_n(\mathbb{C})$ denote the subgroup of $GL_n(\mathbb{C})$ consisting of orthogonal similitudes, i.e., matrices M such that $M^tM = \lambda_M I$, with $\lambda_M \in \mathbb{C}$. Also, we define the (m-th) symplectic similitude group as

$$GSp_{2m}(\mathbb{C}) = \{ M \in GL_{2m}(\mathbb{C}) \mid M^t JM = \lambda_M J, \lambda_M \in \mathbb{C} \},$$

where J is the matrix defined as

$$J = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & I_m \\ -I_m & 0 \end{array} \right),$$

and I_m is the identity $m \times m$ matrix. We note that irreducible primitive finite subgroups of $SL_4(\mathbb{C})$ were classified by Blichfeldt [6] in 1917. However, as mentioned by Martin [43, Chapter 5], Blichfeldt's list is presented in terms of generating matrices and geometrical invariants, which is not the most convenient form for studying Artin's conjecture. Hence, we will use a classification due to Martin as stated below.

Lemma 2.13. Suppose that ρ is primitive, 4-dimensional, and with solvable projective image \overline{G} in $PGL_4(\mathbb{C})$, and that the image of ρ is contained in $GSp_4(\mathbb{C})$. Then \overline{G} is isomorphic to $E_{2^4} \rtimes C_5$, $E_{2^4} \rtimes D_{10}$, or $E_{2^4} \rtimes F_{20}$, where E_{2^4} is the elementary abelian group of order 2^4 , D_{10} denotes the dihedral group of order 10, and F_{20} is the Frobenius group of order 20.

2.3 Review of Supercharacter Theory

Recently, Diaconis and Isaacs [16] introduced the theory of *supercharacters* which generalises the classical character theory in a natural way as follows.

Definition 2.6. Let G be a finite group, let K be a partition of G, and let X be a partition of Irr(G). The ordered pair (X,K) is a supercharacter theory if

SC1.
$$\{1\} \in \mathcal{K}$$
,

SC2.
$$|\mathcal{X}| = |\mathcal{K}|$$
, and

SC3. For each $X \in \mathcal{X}$, the character $\sigma_X = \sum_{\sigma \in X} \sigma(1)\sigma$ is constant on each $K \in \mathcal{K}$.

The characters σ_X are called supercharacters, and the elements K in K are called superclasses. In addition, if $f: G \to \mathbb{C}$ is constant on each superclass in G, then we say f is a superclass function on G.

It is clear that the irreducible characters and conjugacy classes of G give a supercharacter theory of G, which will be referred to as the *classical theory* of G. Throughout this section, we will often equip groups with (possible) supercharacter theories without mentioning this.

We remark that Diaconis and Isaacs showed that every superclass is a union of conjugacy classes in G. By the orthogonality property of Irr(G), the set of all supercharacters, denoted Sup(G), forms an orthogonal basis for the inner product space of all superclass functions on G with respect to the usual inner product. Moreover, they also defined *superinduction* and then obtained *super Frobenius reciprocity* for certain matrix groups equipped with special supercharacter theories. In general, one can develop such a theory of superinduction as the following.

Definition 2.7 (Compatibility and Superinduction). Let G be a finite group and H a subgroup of G. If for any $h \in H$, $SCl_H(h)$ is contained in $SCl_G(h)$, where $SCl_H(h)$ and $SCl_G(h)$ are the superclasses containing h in H and G, respectively, then such supercharacter theories of H and G are said to be compatible, or G and H are compatible (with respect to the given supercharacter theories) for short. Moreover, if G and H are compatible, the superinduction $SInd_H^G \phi$ of ϕ , a superclass function of H, is defined by

$$\operatorname{SInd}_{H}^{G} \phi(g) = \frac{|G|}{|H|} \frac{1}{|SCl_{G}(g)|} \sum_{i=1}^{m(g)} |SCl_{H}(x_{i,g})| \phi(x_{i,g}),$$

where $SCl_G(g)$ is the superclass in G containing g and $\{x_{i,g}\}$ is a set of superclass representatives in H belonging to $SCl_G(g)$.

Since $SCl_G(g') = SCl_G(g)$ for any $g' \in SCl_G(g)$, one can choose $x_{i,g'} = x_{i,g}$ for all i's. Thus, $SInd_H^G \phi$ is a superclass function of G for any superclass function ϕ of H. On the other hand, Diaconis and Isaacs, in fact, gave an example in which the induction $Ind_H^G \sigma$ of a supercharacter σ of H is not a superclass function of G. Thus, the definition superinduction associated to compatible supercharacter theories of G and G is crucial. We also have below a theorem that generalises Frobenius reciprocity.

Proposition 2.14 (Super Frobenius Reciprocity). Suppose that G and H are compatible. For all superclass functions ϕ on H and all superclass functions θ of G,

$$(\operatorname{SInd}_H^G \phi, \theta)_G = (\phi, \theta|_H)_H,$$

where $\theta|_H$ is the restriction of θ from G to H.

Proof. For any $g \in G$,

$$\operatorname{SInd}_{H}^{G} \phi(g) \overline{\theta(g)} = \frac{|G|}{|H|} \frac{1}{|SCl_{G}(g)|} \sum_{i=1}^{m(g)} |SCl_{H}(x_{i,g})| \phi(x_{i,g}) \overline{\theta(g)}$$
$$= \frac{|G|}{|H|} \frac{1}{|SCl_{G}(g)|} \sum_{i=1}^{m(g)} |SCl_{H}(x_{i,g})| \phi(x_{i,g}) \overline{\theta(x_{i,g})},$$

where $x_{i,g}$'s are superclass representatives in H belonging to $SCl_G(g)$, and the last equality holds provided that $x_{i,g} \in SCl_G(g)$ and θ is a superclass function of G, i.e. θ is constant on each $SCl_G(g)$. Let g_1, \dots, g_k be distinct superclass representatives

of G. Since $\operatorname{SInd}_H^G \phi$ and θ both are superclass functions of G, one has

$$(\operatorname{SInd}_{H}^{G} \phi, \theta)_{G} = \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} \operatorname{SInd}_{H}^{G} \phi(g) \overline{\theta(g)}$$

$$= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{j=1}^{k} |SCl_{G}(g_{j})| \operatorname{SInd}_{H}^{G} \phi(g_{j}) \overline{\theta(g_{j})}$$

$$= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{j=1}^{k} |SCl_{G}(g_{j})| \frac{|G|}{|H|} \frac{1}{|SCl_{G}(g_{j})|} \sum_{i=1}^{m(g_{j})} |SCl_{H}(x_{i,g_{j}})| \phi(x_{i,g_{j}}) \overline{\theta(x_{i,g_{j}})}$$

$$= \frac{1}{|H|} \sum_{j=1}^{k} \sum_{i=1}^{m(g_{j})} |SCl_{H}(x_{i,g_{j}})| \phi(x_{i,g_{j}}) \overline{\theta(x_{i,g_{j}})}.$$

Observe that if $j \neq l$, then for any i and i',

$$x_{i,g_j} \in SCl_H(g_j) \subseteq SCl_G(g_j), \ x_{i',g_l} \in SCl_H(g_l) \subseteq SCl_G(g_l),$$

and the intersection of $SCl_G(g_j)$ and $SCl_G(g_l)$ is empty. Thus, $x_{i,g_j} \neq x_{i',g_l}$ if $j \neq l$. From this, one can conclude that x_{i,g_j} 's are all distinct. On the other hand, each superclass K of H is contained in exactly one superclass of G, and so there are i and j such that $K = SCl_H(x_{i,g_j})$. Therefore, $\{x_{i,g_j}\}$ forms a set of (distinct) representatives for all superclasses in H. Therefore,

$$(\operatorname{SInd}_{H}^{G} \phi, \theta)_{G} = \frac{1}{|H|} \sum_{j=1}^{k} \sum_{i=1}^{m(g_{j})} |SCl_{H}(x_{i,g_{j}})| \phi(x_{i,g_{j}}) \overline{\theta(x_{i,g_{j}})}$$

$$= \frac{1}{|H|} \sum_{h \in H} \phi(h) \overline{\theta|_{H}(h)}$$

$$= (\phi, \theta|_{H})_{H},$$

where the second equality holds provided that $\theta(h) = \theta|_H(h)$ for any $h \in H$ and θ is

constant on each $SCl_H(x_{i,g_i})$.

We note that the above results concerning superinduction and super Frobenius reciprocity were also considered by Hendrickson [24], who equips H with the classical theory.

Now, we shall show that superinduction is *unique*. Suppose that there is another arbitrary map $\phi \mapsto \phi^{(G)}$ sending superclass functions of H to superclass functions of G and satisfying super Frobenius reciprocity, i.e., for any superclass function ϕ on H and any superclass function θ of G,

$$(\phi^{(G)}, \theta)_G = (\phi, \theta|_H)_H.$$

Applying the above theorem of super Frobenius reciprocity for SInd_H^G , for any superclass function ϕ on H and any superclass function θ of G, one has

$$(\phi^{(G)}, \theta)_G = (\operatorname{SInd}_H^G \phi, \theta)_G,$$

which implies that

$$\phi^{(G)} = \operatorname{SInd}_H^G \phi$$

for all superclass functions ϕ on H. In other words, there is a unique superinduction which satisfies super Frobenius reciprocity.

Chapter 3

Galois and Automorphic Representations

3.1 Galois Representations and L-Functions

3.1.1 Artin L-Functions and Artin's Conjecture

In this section, we will set up the machinery and motivation for defining Artin Lfunctions and list their basic but important properties.

An algebraic number field k (or simply a number field) is a finite extension of the field of rational numbers, \mathbb{Q} . The ring of integers of k, denoted by \mathcal{O}_k , consists of all elements $x \in k$ such that x is a root of a non-zero monic polynomial with integral coefficients. This ring \mathcal{O}_k is a Dedekind domain, i.e., an integral domain where every non-zero proper ideal can be factorised uniquely into a product of prime ideals (up to the order of the factors). The (absolute) norm of a non-zero ideal \mathfrak{a} in \mathcal{O}_k is defined by $N\mathfrak{a} = [\mathcal{O}_k : \mathfrak{a}] = |\mathcal{O}_k/\mathfrak{a}|$, i.e., the cardinality of the quotient ring $\mathcal{O}_k/\mathfrak{a}$. The Dedekind zeta function of k is defined by

$$\zeta_k(s) = \sum_{\mathfrak{a}} \frac{1}{N\mathfrak{a}^s},$$

where the sum runs over all non-zero integral ideals of \mathcal{O}_k , and this series converges for $\Re(s) > 1$. Since \mathcal{O}_k is a Dedekind domain and the norm is completely multiplicative, i.e., $N(\mathfrak{ab}) = N(\mathfrak{a})N(\mathfrak{b})$ for all non-zero integral ideals \mathfrak{a} and \mathfrak{b} in \mathcal{O}_k , one can deduce the *Euler product* for the Dedekind zeta function of k, namely,

$$\zeta_k(s) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}} (1 - N\mathfrak{p}^{-s})^{-1},$$

where the product runs over all prime ideals in \mathcal{O}_k . Note that, if $k = \mathbb{Q}$, the Dedekind zeta function $\zeta_{\mathbb{Q}}(s)$ is exactly the Riemann zeta function, denoted by $\zeta(s)$. Like the Riemann zeta function, every Dedekind zeta function extends to a meromorphic function on \mathbb{C} which has only a simple pole at s = 1. Moreover, every Dedekind zeta function is non-vanishing on $\Re(s) = 1$ and admits a functional equation relating values at s with values at s at s with values at s at s with every Dedekind zeta function is non-vanishing for s with s with s asserts that every Dedekind zeta function is non-vanishing for s with s at s with s and s and s and s at s with s at s with s at s and s and s and s and s at s and s and s and s at s at s at s and s at s and s at s at s at s and s at s at s and s at s and s at s

By considering quadratic fields of the form $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{d})$ for some square-free integer d, one can write the Dedekind zeta function $\zeta_{\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{d})}(s)$ as a product of the Riemann zeta function and a Dirichlet L-function

$$\zeta_{\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{d})}(s) = \zeta(s)L(s,\chi)$$

for some (non-trivial) Dirichlet character χ depending on d. (We recall that a *Dirichlet character* modulo m is a homomorphism

$$\chi: (\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$$

extended to \mathbb{Z} by putting $\chi(n) = 0$ if $(n, m) \neq 1$. The Dirichlet L-function attached to χ is defined as

$$L(s,\chi) = \prod_{p} (1 - \chi(p)p^{-s})^{-1},$$

where the product runs over all primes.) Since this Dirichlet L-function can be extended to an entire function, one can deduce that the quotient $\zeta_{\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{d})}(s)/\zeta(s)$ is entire. In general, replacing $\mathbb{Q}(\sqrt{d})/\mathbb{Q}$ by an arbitrary extension of number fields M/k, one may wonder whether the quotient $\zeta_M(s)/\zeta_k(s)$ of the Dedekind zeta functions is also entire. In fact, Dedekind conjectured that this quotient, $\zeta_M(s)/\zeta_k(s)$, should be entire, and proved in 1873 his conjecture for pure cubic extensions M/\mathbb{Q} , i.e., $M = \mathbb{Q}(\sqrt[3]{m})$ for some cube-free integer m. For the case of Galois extensions, Dedekind's conjecture was proved by Aramata and Brauer independently as the following.

Theorem 3.1 (Aramata-Brauer). Let M/k be a Galois extension of number fields. Then $\zeta_M(s)/\zeta_k(s)$ is entire.

In the direction of Dedekind's conjecture for *non-normal* extensions, Uchida and van der Waall (independently) proved the following theorem which partially generalises the above theorem of Aramata and Brauer.

Theorem 3.2 (Uchida-van der Waall). Let M/k be an extension of number fields, and \widetilde{M} a normal closure of M/k. If $\operatorname{Gal}(\widetilde{M}/k)$ is solvable, then $\zeta_M(s)/\zeta_k(s)$ is entire.

To study Dedekind's conjecture, one needs to know how to *factorise* the Dedekind zeta functions. We shall start by recalling the theory about how primes *split* in a given Galois extension of number fields.

Let K/k be a Galois extension of number fields with Galois group G. Since \mathcal{O}_K

is also a Dedekind domain, for any prime ideal \mathfrak{p} in \mathcal{O}_k , one has

$$\mathfrak{p}\mathcal{O}_K=\mathfrak{P}_1^{e_1}\cdots\mathfrak{P}_l^{e_l},$$

where \mathfrak{P}_j 's are distinct prime ideals in \mathcal{O}_K and e_j 's are positive integers. In this case, we say that the prime ideals \mathfrak{P}_j 's are above \mathfrak{p} and denote this as $\mathfrak{P}_j|\mathfrak{p}$. In addition, if $e_j = 1$ for every j, then \mathfrak{p} is called unramified. Otherwise, \mathfrak{p} is ramified. Moreover, using the maximality of (non-zero) prime ideals in a Dedekind domain, it can be shown that for any prime ideals \mathfrak{P} and \mathfrak{P}' above \mathfrak{p} , there is a $\sigma \in G$ such that $\sigma(\mathfrak{P}) = \mathfrak{P}'$. Therefore, one can conclude that G acts on $\{\mathfrak{P}_1, \dots, \mathfrak{P}_l\}$ transitively, i.e., there is exactly one G-orbit in $\{\mathfrak{P}_1, \dots, \mathfrak{P}_l\}$. Together with this transitivity, the unique factorisation implies that all e_j 's are the same. Thus, one has

$$\mathfrak{p}\mathcal{O}_K = (\mathfrak{P}_1 \cdots \mathfrak{P}_l)^e,$$

where $e = e_j$ for any j. This e is called the ramification index of \mathfrak{p} .

On the other hand, since the Galois group G acts on the prime factors of $\mathfrak{p}\mathcal{O}_K$, it is natural to consider the stabiliser subgroup of each prime factor \mathfrak{P} above \mathfrak{p} . Let $D_{\mathfrak{P}}$ denote the stabiliser subgroup of $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$, i.e.,

$$D_{\mathfrak{P}} = \{ \sigma \in G \mid \sigma(\mathfrak{P}) = \mathfrak{P} \},\$$

which is called the decomposition group at \mathfrak{P} . One also has the inertia group at \mathfrak{P}

$$I_{\mathfrak{P}} = \{ \sigma \in G \mid \sigma(x) \equiv x \pmod{\mathfrak{P}} \text{ for all } x \in \mathcal{O}_K \},$$

which is a normal subgroup of $D_{\mathfrak{P}}$. Since every (non-zero) prime ideal is maximal in a Dedekind domain, both $\mathcal{O}_K/\mathfrak{P}$ and $\mathcal{O}_k/\mathfrak{p}$ are fields; and, in fact, these fields are also *finite*. Moreover, it can be shown that the extension $(\mathcal{O}_K/\mathfrak{P})/(\mathcal{O}_k/\mathfrak{p})$ is *Galois* and $\operatorname{Gal}((\mathcal{O}_K/\mathfrak{P})/(\mathcal{O}_k/\mathfrak{p}))$ is a cyclic group with a generator $x \mapsto x^{N\mathfrak{p}}$. Indeed, there is a canonical isomorphism

$$D_{\mathfrak{P}}/I_{\mathfrak{P}} \simeq \operatorname{Gal}((\mathcal{O}_K/\mathfrak{P})/(\mathcal{O}_k/\mathfrak{p})).$$

Therefore, one can choose an element $\sigma_{\mathfrak{P}} \in D_{\mathfrak{P}}$ whose image in $Gal((\mathcal{O}_K/\mathfrak{P})/(\mathcal{O}_k/\mathfrak{p}))$ is the generator described above. Such an element $\sigma_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is called a *Frobenius automorphism* at \mathfrak{P} and it is only well-defined modulo $I_{\mathfrak{P}}$.

It can be shown that for any unramified \mathfrak{p} , $I_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is a trivial group for every $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$. In fact, combining the orbit-stabiliser theorem with the fact that there is exactly one G-orbit in $\{\mathfrak{P}_1, \dots, \mathfrak{P}_l\}$, and the canonical isomorphism stated above, one can show that the order of $I_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is equal to e, the ramification index of \mathfrak{p} , for any $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$. Thus, if \mathfrak{p} is unramified, then e = 1 and so $I_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is a trivial group. Besides, since there are only finitely many ramified prime ideals in \mathcal{O}_k , one can deduce that all but finitely many $I_{\mathfrak{P}}$ are trivial for $\mathfrak{P}|\mathfrak{p}$, where \mathfrak{p} is a prime ideal in \mathcal{O}_k . For \mathfrak{p} unramified, one can show that as \mathfrak{P} ranges over the prime ideals above \mathfrak{p} , the $\sigma_{\mathfrak{P}}$ form a conjugacy class. This class is called the $Artin\ symbol\$ at \mathfrak{p} , denoted $\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}}$.

Using the above theory and representations of finite groups, Artin introduced his L-functions that generalise Dirichlet L-functions as follows. Let ρ be a complex finitedimensional representation of G = Gal(K/k). The Artin L-function attached to ρ is defined by

$$L(s, \rho, K/k) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}} L_{\mathfrak{p}}(s, \rho, K/k),$$

where the local L-function at \mathfrak{p} is defined as

$$L_{\mathfrak{p}}(s, \rho, K/k) = \det(1 - \rho|^{V^{I_{\mathfrak{P}}}}(\sigma_{\mathfrak{P}})N\mathfrak{p}^{-s})^{-1}$$

for $\Re(s) > 1$. Here, the product runs over prime ideals in \mathcal{O}_k , \mathfrak{P} denotes a prime ideal above \mathfrak{p} , and $V^{I_{\mathfrak{P}}} = \{v \in V \mid \rho(g)v = v \text{ for all } g \in I_{\mathfrak{P}}\}$. Sometimes we write $L(s, \chi, K/k)$ for $L(s, \rho, K/k)$, where $\chi = \operatorname{tr} \rho$ denotes the character of ρ . One can easily show that

$$L(s, 1_G, K/k) = \zeta_k(s),$$

where 1_G denotes the trivial character of G, and that

$$L(s, \chi_1 + \chi_2, K/k) = L(s, \chi_1, K/k)L(s, \chi_2, K/k)$$

for any characters χ_1 and χ_2 of G. Also, for any tower of Galois extensions K/F/k, any character ψ of Gal(F/k) defines a character $Inf_{Gal(F/k)}^{Gal(K/k)}\psi$, called the *inflation* of ψ , of Gal(K/k) canonically through the quotient map $Gal(K/k) \to Gal(F/k)$, and

$$L(s, \operatorname{Inf}_{\operatorname{Gal}(F/k)}^{\operatorname{Gal}(K/k)} \psi, K/k) = L(s, \psi, F/k).$$

Moreover, for any character χ of $H \leq G$, one has

$$L(s, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \chi, K/k) = L(s, \chi, K/K^H),$$

where K^H is the fixed field of H. This property is called the *induction-invariance* property of Artin L-functions. Using these properties, one can deduce the following theorem of Artin and Takagi, generalising the decomposition of the Dedekind zeta functions of quadratic extensions of \mathbb{Q} that we described previously.

Proposition 3.3 (Artin-Takagi Decomposition).

$$\zeta_K(s) = \zeta_k(s) \prod_{\chi \neq 1_G} L(s, \chi, K/k)^{\chi(1)},$$

where the product runs over all non-trivial irreducible characters of G. In particular, one has

$$L(s, \operatorname{Reg}_G, K/k) = \zeta_K(s),$$

where Reg_G is the regular representation of G.

Artin conjectured that if ρ is irreducible and non-trivial, then $L(s, \rho, K/k)$ extends to an *entire* function and satisfies a functional equation. In fact, Artin showed that his conjecture is true if G is an M-group. In general, Artin's conjecture is still open and is viewed as a central problem in number theory.

It is worth noting that Artin seemed to be led to his L-functions and conjecture while trying to prove Dedekind's conjecture. Indeed, Dedekind's conjecture follows from Artin's conjecture. More precisely, for any intermediate field M of K/k, according to the fundamental theorem of Galois theory, there is a subgroup H of G such that M is the fixed field of H. Now, by Frobenius reciprocity, there are non-negative integers a_i 's such that

$$\operatorname{Ind}_H^G 1_H = 1_G + \sum_i a_i \chi_i,$$

where 1_H and 1_G denote the trivial characters of H and G, respectively, and χ_i 's are non-trivial irreducible characters of G. By the induction-invariance property of Artin L-functions and the above expression of $\operatorname{Ind}_H^G 1_H$, one can deduce that

$$L(s, 1_H, K/K^H) = L(s, 1_G, K/k) \prod_i L(s, \chi_i, K/k)^{a_i}.$$

Since $\zeta_M(s) = L(s, 1_H, K/K^H)$, $\zeta_k(s) = L(s, 1_G, K/k)$, and all a_i 's are non-negative integers, Dedekind's conjecture follows from Artin's conjecture.

Now let us put our attention to infinite places of number fields. Firstly, let k be a number field. We recall that a real embedding of k is an injective field homomorphism from k to \mathbb{R} and that a complex embedding of k is an injective field homomorphism from k to \mathbb{C} whose image is not contained in \mathbb{R} . Dirichlet's unit theorem tells us that the rank of the group of units in \mathcal{O}_k is $r = r_1 + r_2 - 1$, where

$$[k:\mathbb{Q}] = r_1 + 2r_2,$$

 r_1 is the number of real embeddings k and $2r_2$ is the number of complex embeddings of k. When $r_2 = 0$, k is said to be totally real. For a real embedding (resp., a complex embedding) v of k, v is often called a real infinite place (resp., a complex infinite place) of k. We further recall that the discriminant of k is the square of the determinant of the n by n matrix whose (i, j)-entry is $\sigma_i(b_j)$, where n is the degree of k, $\{b_1, \dots, b_n\}$ is an integral basis of \mathcal{O}_k , and $\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_n$ are embeddings of k.

To end this section, let us define the (global) Artin conductor (of χ with underlying space V). Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of k and \mathfrak{P} be a prime of K above \mathfrak{p} . We let G_i denote the subgroup consisting of all σ of G acting trivially on $\mathcal{O}_K/\mathfrak{P}^{i+1}$. The group G_i is

called the i-th ramification group. These higher ramification groups form a decreasing filtration

$$G \supseteq G_0 \supseteq G_1 \supseteq \cdots$$
.

Furthermore, it can be shown that there exists N such that G_i is *trivial* for every $i \geq N$. Thus, we can define

$$n(\chi, \mathfrak{p}) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{|G_i|}{|G_0|} \operatorname{codim} V^{G_i},$$

which is, in fact, a *finite* sum. Furthermore, Artin proved that $n(\chi, \mathfrak{p})$ is an *integer*. Moreover, for \mathfrak{p} unramified, $n(\chi, \mathfrak{p}) = 0$. Thus, the following product

$$\mathfrak{f}(\chi) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}} \mathfrak{p}^{n(\chi,\mathfrak{p})},$$

where the product is over all primes of k, is a (well-defined) ideal of \mathcal{O}_k , called the *Artin conductor* of χ . From this, it is not hard to see that for any characters χ_1 and χ_2 of G, one has

$$\mathfrak{f}(\chi_1 + \chi_2) = \mathfrak{f}(\chi_1)\mathfrak{f}(\chi_2).$$

3.1.2 The Chebotarev Density Theorem

Throughout this section, we make use of some standard notations. We write $f \ll g$ or, equivalently, f = O(g) if there is a constant M such that $|f(x)| \leq Mg(x)$ for all x sufficiently large. Also, we write $f \sim g$ if $f(x)/g(x) \to 1$ as $x \to \infty$. We remark that all implied constants of estimates presented in this section are absolute.

As before, K/k denotes a Galois extension of number fields with Galois group G. For every unramified prime ideal \mathfrak{p} in \mathcal{O}_k , $\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}}$ denotes the Artin symbol at \mathfrak{p} . The

Chebotarev density theorem essentially tells that the Artin symbols are equidistributed in the set of conjugacy classes of G. More precisely, the Chebotarev density theorem states the following.

Theorem 3.4 (Chebotarev Density Theorem). Let C be a subset of G stable under conjugation and denote $\pi_C(x) = \#\{\mathfrak{p} \mid \mathfrak{p} \text{ is unramified with } N\mathfrak{p} \leq x \text{ and } \sigma_{\mathfrak{p}} \subseteq C\}$. Then

$$\pi_C(x) \sim \frac{|C|}{|G|} \pi_k(x),$$

as $x \to \infty$, where $\pi_k(x) = \#\{\mathfrak{p} \mid \mathfrak{p} \text{ is unramified with } N\mathfrak{p} \le x\}$.

Practically, one needs to know an effective version of the Chebotarev density theorem with error terms for studying problems from number theory. There are three versions: an unconditional version, a version assuming GRH, the generalised Riemann hypothesis asserting that the Dedekind zeta function is non-zero for $\Re(s) \neq \frac{1}{2}$ and $0 < \Re(s) < 1$, and a version assuming GRH and Artin's conjecture where the first two are covered in the fundamental paper [40] of Lagarias and Odlyzko, and the last one is due to M. R. Murty, V. K. Murty, and Saradha [48].

In the following theorems and corollaries, $n_k = [k \colon \mathbb{Q}]$ is the degree of k over \mathbb{Q} and $n = [K \colon k]$ is the degree of K over k. Let d_k and d_K denote the absolute discriminants of k/\mathbb{Q} and K/\mathbb{Q} , respectively. Let P(K/k) denote the set of rational primes p for which there is \mathfrak{p} of k with $\mathfrak{p}|p$ and \mathfrak{p} is ramified in K. We then set

$$M(K/k) = nd_k^{\frac{1}{n_k}} \prod_{p \in P(K/k)} p.$$

Let $\mathfrak{f}(\chi)$ denote the Artin conductor of a character χ of $G = \operatorname{Gal}(K/k)$, and let $A_{\chi} = d_k^{\chi(1)} N \mathfrak{f}(\chi)$ denote the conductor of χ . The offset logarithmic integral function

is defined as

$$\operatorname{Li} x = \int_{2}^{x} \frac{dt}{\log t}$$

for real variables x > 2.

To obtain a sharp error term for the Chebotarev density theorem, M. R. Murty, V. K. Murty, and Saradha [48] first derived the two estimates stated below.

Proposition 3.5. For each unramified prime \mathfrak{p} of k, let $\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}}$ denote the Artin symbol at \mathfrak{p} . Let χ be a character of G and let $\pi(x,\chi) = \sum_{N\mathfrak{p} \leq x} \chi(\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}})$ where the sum is over unramified primes \mathfrak{p} of k. Let $\delta(\chi)$ denote the multiplicity of the trivial character in χ . Suppose that the Artin L-function $L(s,\chi)$ is holomorphic for all $s \neq 1$ and is non-zero for $\Re(s) \neq \frac{1}{2}$ and $0 < \Re(s) < 1$. Then

$$\pi(x,\chi) = \delta(\chi)\operatorname{Li} x + O\left(x^{\frac{1}{2}}(\log A_{\chi} + \chi(1)n_k \log x)\right) + O\left(\chi(1)n_k \log M(K/k)\right).$$

Lemma 3.6. Let χ be an irreducible character of G. Then

$$\log N\mathfrak{f}(\chi) \le 2\chi(1)n_k \left(\sum_{p \in P(K/k)} \log p + \log n\right).$$

From these estimates, M. R. Murty, V. K. Murty, and Saradha derived an effective version of the Chebotarev density theorem as follows.

Theorem 3.7. Suppose that all Artin L-functions attached to all irreducible characters of G = Gal(K/k) are holomorphic at $s \neq 1$, and that GRH holds for $\zeta_K(s)$.

Then

$$\sum_{C} \frac{1}{|C|} \left| \pi_C(x) - \frac{|C|}{|G|} \operatorname{Li} x \right|^2 \ll x n_k^2 \log^2 \left(M(K/k) x \right),$$

where the sum on the left runs over conjugacy classes C of G.

We note that as mentioned above, effective versions of the Chebotarev density theorem with explicit error terms were first established by Lagarias and Odlyzko in [40]. If the generalised Riemann hypothesis for the Dedekind zeta function $\zeta_K(s)$ is assumed, Serre [58] further showed that

$$\pi_C(x) = \frac{|C|}{|G|} \operatorname{Li} x + O\left(\frac{|C|}{|G|} x^{\frac{1}{2}} (\log d_K + n_K \log x)\right), \tag{3.1}$$

where the big-O symbol is absolute. We also remark that there are unconditional versions, and refer the reader to [40] and [58].

Now by Theorem 3.7, one has

$$\pi_C(x) = \frac{|C|}{|G|} \operatorname{Li} x + O(|C|^{\frac{1}{2}} x^{\frac{1}{2}} n_k \log M(K/k) x). \tag{3.2}$$

On the other hand, if one writes the error term in (3.1) as

$$O\left(|C|x^{\frac{1}{2}}n_k\left(\frac{\log d_K}{n_K} + \log x\right)\right),$$

one can see that (3.2) is a better estimate as the factor |C| in (3.1) is now replaced by $|C|^{\frac{1}{2}}$. These estimates are more versatile for many applications such as Artin's primitive root conjecture and the Lang-Trotter conjecture on Fourier coefficients of modular forms (cf. [48]).

3.1.3 Classical Heilbronn Characters

To study Artin's conjecture, Heilbronn introduced an innovative method. We now describe this.

As before, let K/k be a Galois extension of number fields with Galois group G, and fix $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}$. The *Heilbronn character* Θ_G (with respect to $s = s_0$) is defined by

$$\Theta_G = \sum_{\chi \in Irr(G)} n(G, \chi) \chi,$$

where $n(G, \chi) = \operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, \chi, K/k)$. One can see that the Heilbronn character might not be a character, and the Heilbronn character is a character or identically equal to zero if and only if Artin's conjecture is locally valid at $s = s_0$. By the works of Heilbronn-Stark (see Lemma 3.8 below), Foote-V. K. Murty [19], and M. R. Murty-Raghuram [49], one has the following collection of results connecting the zeros and poles of Artin L-functions and the Dedekind zeta functions.

Lemma 3.8 (Heilbronn-Stark Lemma). For any subgroup H of G,

$$\Theta_G|_H = \Theta_H$$
.

Theorem 3.9.

$$\sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)} n(G, \chi)^2 \le (\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} \zeta_K(s))^2.$$

In addition, if G is solvable and χ' is a character of G of degree one, then

$$\sum_{\chi \neq \chi'} n(G, \chi)^2 \le \left(\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} \frac{\zeta_K(s)}{L(s, \chi', K/k)} \right)^2.$$

In particular,

$$\sum_{\substack{\chi \neq 1_G \\ \zeta_k(s)}} n(G, \chi)^2 \le \left(\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} \frac{\zeta_K(s)}{\zeta_k(s)} \right)^2,$$

where 1_G is the trivial character of G.

Notice that these results imply that the zeros and poles (if any) of any Artin L-function are contained in the set of zeros of the Dedekind zeta function. In particular, applying the above theorem, one can easily see that all Artin L-functions are non-vanishing and holomorphic at $s = s_0$ if $\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} \zeta_K(s) = 0$. Moreover, in the case that the Dedekind zeta function has a simple zero at $s = s_0$, Stark [62] obtained the following holomorphy result.

Proposition 3.10. If $\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} \zeta_K(s) = 1$, then all Artin L-functions attached to irreducible characters of G are holomorphic at $s = s_0$.

3.1.4 Elliptic Curves and their L-Functions

Let k be a number field and E an elliptic curve defined over k. We recall that E is said to have *good reduction* at a finite place, i.e., a prime, v of k if $E \pmod{v}$ is still an elliptic curve. For every good reduction v of E, we let

$$Nv + 1 - a_v$$

represent the number of points of $E \pmod{v}$, where Nv stands for the absolute norm of v. The L-function L(s, E, k) of E/k is defined as an Euler product:

$$L(s, E, k) = \prod_{v} L_v(s, E, k),$$

where the product is over all finite places of k. Moreover, for good reduction v of E,

$$L_v(s, E, k) = (1 - a_v N v^{-s} + N v^{1-2s})^{-1}.$$

For every finite extension F/k, E can be seen as an elliptic curve defined over F. Let $E_{/F}[n]$ denote the set of n-torsion points of E/F. By the work of Serre and Tate (cf. [55, 56]), one can associate a compatible system of ℓ -adic representations to E over F, i.e., for each prime ℓ ,

$$\rho_F := \rho_{\ell,F} : \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/F) \to \operatorname{Aut}(T_{\ell}(E,F)),$$

where $T_{\ell}(E, F)$ denotes the (ℓ -adic) Tate module of E/F, i.e., the inverse limit

$$T_{\ell}(E,F) = \varprojlim E_{/F}[\ell^n].$$

Furthermore, the L-function L(s, E, F) of E/F is given by this family of ℓ -adic representations of E over F (see [55, 56] for details). Since $T_{\ell}(E, F) = T_{\ell}(E, k)$ as $Gal(\overline{k}/F)$ -modules, ρ_F is the restriction of ρ_k , which implies that

$$L(s, \rho_F) = L(s, \rho_k|_{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/F)}).$$

Now let us fix a Galois extension K/k and consider the m-th symmetric power of ρ_k . An analogous argument tells us that

$$(\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/F)} = \operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_F$$

for every intermediate field F of K/k. But

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/F)}^{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/K)}\left((\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/F)}\right) = \operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k \otimes \operatorname{Ind}_{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/F)}^{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/K)} 1.$$

Putting everything together, we finally obtain

$$L(s, \operatorname{Sym}^{m} \rho_{F}) = L(s, (\operatorname{Sym}^{m} \rho_{k})|_{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/F)})$$

$$= L(s, \operatorname{Sym}^{m} \rho_{k} \otimes \operatorname{Ind}_{H_{F}}^{G} 1),$$
(3.3)

where H_F is a subgroup of G such that $K^{H_F} = F$. We remark that if F = K, then H_F is the trivial group and the above formula, i.e., Equation (3.3), gives the Artin-Takagi decomposition for L-functions associated to elliptic curves.

3.1.5 Hecke L-Functions

Let k be a number field and \mathfrak{m} a non-zero integral ideal of k. One defines the subgroup $I_{\mathfrak{m}}$ (resp., $P_{\mathfrak{m}}$) of the group I of fractional ideals in k (resp., the group P of principal ideals in k) by

$$I_{\mathfrak{m}} = \{ \mathfrak{a} \in I \mid (\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{m}) = 1 \},$$

$$P_{\mathfrak{m}} = \{ \mathfrak{a} = (\alpha) \in P \cap I_{\mathfrak{m}} \mid \alpha \equiv 1 \pmod{\mathfrak{m}} \}.$$

One can show that $P_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is normal in $I_{\mathfrak{m}}$, and that the quotient group $H_{\mathfrak{m}} = I_{\mathfrak{m}}/P_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is a finite abelian group, called the ray-class group modulo \mathfrak{m} .

Let $\omega_{\infty}: \mathbb{Q}^{\times} \backslash k^{\times} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a (unitary) character such that $U_{\mathfrak{m}} \subseteq \operatorname{Ker} \omega_{\infty}$, where $U_{\mathfrak{m}}$ denotes the group of units in $P_{\mathfrak{m}}$. Then, ω_{∞} induces a homomorphism

$$\omega_{\infty}: P_{\mathfrak{m}} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}.$$

From this, one can define a *Hecke character* of weight ω_{∞} for **m** as a homomorphism

$$\chi: I_{\mathfrak{m}} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times},$$

which is (unitary) such that $\chi((\alpha)) = \omega_{\infty}(\alpha)$ if $\mathfrak{a} = (\alpha) \in P_{\mathfrak{m}}$, and is extended to I by setting $\chi(\mathfrak{a}) = 0$ if $(\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{m}) \neq 1$. We then come to the definition of Hecke L-functions as follows. The *Hecke L-function* of a Hecke character χ is defined as

$$L(s,\chi) = \sum_{\mathfrak{a}} \frac{\chi(\mathfrak{a})}{N\mathfrak{a}^s} = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}} (1 - \chi(\mathfrak{p})N\mathfrak{p}^{-s})^{-1},$$

where the sum is over all non-zero integral ideals and the product runs over all prime ideals.

As a simple example, for $k = \mathbb{Q}$, one can only have $\omega_{\infty} = 1$ and $\mathfrak{m} = (m)$ for some (unique) $m \geq 1$. Hence, the Hecke characters (resp., Hecke L-functions) modulo \mathfrak{m} are exactly Dirichlet characters (resp., Dirichlet L-functions) modulo m.

3.1.6 Artin-Hecke L-Functions and CM-Elliptic Curves

We now recall the concept of Artin-Hecke L-functions developed by Weil [70].

Definition 3.1. Let K/k be a Galois extension of number fields with Galois group G. Let ψ be a Hecke character of k and ρ be a complex representation of G with underlying vector space V. The Artin-Hecke L-function attached to ψ and ρ is defined by

$$L(s, \psi \otimes \rho, K/k) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}} \det(1 - \psi(\mathfrak{p})\rho \mid^{V^{I_{\mathfrak{P}}}} (\sigma_{\mathfrak{P}}) N\mathfrak{p}^{-s})^{-1},$$

where the product runs over prime ideals in \mathcal{O}_k , \mathfrak{P} denotes a prime ideal above \mathfrak{p} , $I_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is the inertia subgroup at \mathfrak{P} , and $V^{I_{\mathfrak{P}}} = \{v \in V \mid \rho(g)v = v \text{ for all } g \in I_{\mathfrak{P}}\}$. Usually we write $L(s, \psi \otimes \chi, K/k)$ for $L(s, \psi \otimes \rho, K/k)$ where $\chi = \operatorname{tr} \rho$.

We remark that for every 1-dimensional character χ of G, the Artin-Hecke Lfunction $L(s, \psi \otimes \chi, K/k)$ extends to a meromorphic function over \mathbb{C} with only a possible pole at s=1 since the corresponding L-function is a Hecke L-function. Moreover, Weil proved each of these L-functions $L(s, \psi \otimes \rho, K/k)$ extends to a *mero-morphic* function on \mathbb{C} by showing the following lemma and applying the Brauer induction theorem.

Lemma 3.11. For any characters χ_1 and χ_2 of G and every character ϕ of H, we have

- 1. $L(s, \psi \otimes (\chi_1 + \chi_2), K/k) = L(s, \psi \otimes \chi_1, K/k)L(s, \psi \otimes \chi_2, K/k)$, and
- **2.** $L(s, \psi \otimes \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi, K/k) = L(s, \psi \circ N_{K^H/k} \otimes \phi, K/K^H)$, where K^H is the subfield of K fixed by H and $N_{K^H/k}$ is the usual norm of K^H/k .

We also recall two important facts from the theory of elliptic curves.

Theorem 3.12. Let E be an elliptic curve defined over k. Suppose that E has CM by an order in an imaginary quadratic field F. If $F \subseteq k$, then the L-function L(s, E, k) of E is the product of two Hecke L-functions of k. If $F \nsubseteq k$, then L(s, E, k) is equal to a Hecke L-function of kF which is a quadratic extension of k.

This result is due to Deuring [15]. From this theorem, M. R. Murty and V. K. Murty [46, Lemma 2] showed the following result, which was proved earlier by Shimura for CM-elliptic curves over $\mathbb Q$ by using Weil's converse theorem.

Theorem 3.13. The generalised Taniyama-Shimura conjecture is valid for all CM-elliptic curves defined over k. In other words, every L-function of a CM-elliptic curve can be written in terms of Hecke L-functions.

3.2 Automorphic Representations and the Langlands Reciprocity Conjecture

Let k be a number field. Denote the completion of k at finite v by k_v . Also, if v is real (resp., complex), then we set $k_v = \mathbb{R}$ (resp., $k_v = \mathbb{C}$). The adèle ring \mathbb{A}_k of k is the restricted direct product $\prod'_v k_v$ over all places v of k with respect to $\{\mathcal{O}_{k_v}\}$, where \mathcal{O}_{k_v} stands for the ring of v-adic integers. For any algebraic group G over k, it can be shown that $G(\mathbb{A}_k)$ is the restricted direct product $\prod'_v G(k_v)$ with respect to $\{G(\mathcal{O}_{k_v})\}$.

We begin by discussing L-functions attached to automorphic representations of GL_n . Our discussion is bound to be incomplete, so we refer the serious reader to [9] for details. When $G = GL_n$, one can show that the L-group of G is ${}^LG = {}^LG^0 \times W_k$ where ${}^LG^0$ is the connected component of LG and equal to $GL_n(\mathbb{C})$, and W_k is the Weil group of k. We recall that all upper-triangular matrices of G form a subgroup, which is called the Borel subgroup and often denoted by G. Also, if G0, if G1, if G2, if G3, if G4, if G5, if G6, if G6, if G8, if G9, if G9,

Now let us fix a character ω of $k^{\times}\backslash GL_1(\mathbb{A}_k)$, which is often called a *Grossen-character*, and consider the Hilbert space $L^2(G(k)\backslash G(\mathbb{A}_k), \omega)$. For the right regular representation R of $G(\mathbb{A}_k)$ on $L^2(G(k)\backslash G(\mathbb{A}_k), \omega)$, one has

$$(R(g)f)(x) = f(xg)$$

for any $f \in L^2(G(k)\backslash G(\mathbb{A}_k),\omega)$ and $x,g \in G(\mathbb{A}_k)$. This is a unitary representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_k)$. From this, we define an automorphic representation to be an irreducible unitary subrepresentation of the right regular representation R of $G(\mathbb{A}_k)$ on $L^2(G(k)\backslash G(\mathbb{A}_k),\omega)$. Similarly, a cuspidal automorphic representation is an irreducible unitary subrepresentation of the right regular representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_k)$ on $L^2(G(k)\backslash G(\mathbb{A}_k),\omega)$, where $L^2(G(k)\backslash G(\mathbb{A}_k),\omega)$ stands for the subspace of cusp forms of $L^2(G(k)\backslash G(\mathbb{A}_k),\omega)$. Moreover, a representation of $G(\mathbb{A}_k)$ is said to be admissible if its restriction to the maximal compact subgroup, $K = \prod_v K_v$, contains each irreducible representation of K with only finite multiplicity.

For any automorphic representation π of $G(\mathbb{A}_k)$, it has been shown that π can be written as a restricted tensor product $\otimes'_v \pi_v$, where for each place v, π_v is an irreducible admissible representation of $GL_n(k_v)$ such that for all but finitely many v, π_v is unramified, namely, the restriction of π_v to K_v contains the trivial representation. A place v will be called unramified (for π) if π_v is; otherwise, v is said to be v is known that for v unramified, v is induced from the Borel subgroup v of some tensor product v is a generator for the maximal prime ideal of v (which is called the v uniformiser for v in this, we can further associate the semisimple conjugacy class v in v in v to any unramified v, where

$$A(\pi_v) = \operatorname{diag}(\mu_1(\overline{\omega}), \cdots, \mu_n(\overline{\omega})).$$

We note that the eigenvalues of $A(\pi_v)$ are called the *Satake parameters* of π_v .

Now we define the (incomplete) automorphic L-function attached to π by

$$L(s,\pi) = \prod_{v} L(s,\pi_v),$$

where the product runs over all finite places of k and for v unramified,

$$L(s, \pi_v) = \det(I - A(\pi_v)Nv^{-s})^{-1}.$$

We remark that it is possible to define the complete automorphic L-function attached π and write down the precise description of $L(s, \pi_v)$ for ramified v (cf. [21, 30]). Moreover, by the work of Godement and Jacquet, we know that for every automorphic representation π of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$, $L(s,\pi)$ converges on some right half-plane and can be extended to a meromorphic function over \mathbb{C} . Moreover, if π is non-trivial and cuspidal, then $L(s,\pi)$ is entire. On the other hand, for any automorphic representations π_1 and π_2 of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$ and $GL_m(\mathbb{A}_k)$, respectively, by the theory of Rankin-Selberg convolutions developed by many authors, one can define the Rankin-Selberg L-function as

$$L(s, \pi_1 \times \pi_2) = \prod_v L(s, \pi_{1,v} \times \pi_{2,v}),$$

where for v unramified, the local L-function is defined by

$$L(s, \pi_{1,v} \times \pi_{2,v}) = \det(I - A(\pi_{1,v}) \otimes A(\pi_{2,v}) N v^{-s})^{-1}.$$

Via Rankin-Selberg convolutions, Jacquet and Shalika [33] showed that the L-function $L(s, \pi_1 \times \pi_2)$ converges absolutely for $\Re(s) > 1$. Moreover, they proved the following.

Theorem 3.14. Let π_1 and π_2 be cuspidal. Then the Rankin-Selberg L-function

 $L(s, \pi_1 \times \pi_2)$ has a simple pole at s = 1 if and only $\pi_2 \simeq \check{\pi_1}$, where $\check{\pi_1}$ denotes the contragredient of π_1 .

Now we state the *Langlands reciprocity conjecture*, which sometimes is also called the *strong Artin conjecture*.

Conjecture 3.15. For every Galois representation $\rho : \operatorname{Gal}(K/k) \to GL_n(\mathbb{C})$, there exists an automorphic representation π of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$ such that

$$L_v(s, \rho, K/k) = L(s, \pi_v)$$

for all but finitely many finite places v of k.

We remark that as a consequence of the above theory, primarily, the result of Godement and Jacquet, Artin's conjecture follows from the Langlands reciprocity conjecture. Also, if Langlands reciprocity holds for characters χ_1 and χ_2 of G, then Artin's conjecture is valid for the Artin L-function $L(s, \chi_1 \otimes \chi_2, K/k)$. Furthermore, a result of Jacquet and Shalika (cf. [33, Theorem 4.7]) asserts that if $\chi \in Irr(G)$ is associated to an automorphic representation π of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$, then π must be cuspidal.

3.3 Automorphy and Functoriality Results

3.3.1 Some Known Cases of Langlands Reciprocity

We first remark that by the works of Artin, Hecke, Iwasawa, and Tate, the Langlands conjecture for GL(1) is precisely Artin reciprocity. The next big step was taken by

Langlands [37] and Tunnell [66] who proved the Langlands reciprocity conjecture for all irreducible 2-dimensional Galois representations with finite solvable image. Thus, by extracting the works of Artin and Langlands-Tunnell, one has

Theorem 3.16. If a character χ of a solvable group G is of degree at most 2, then χ is of automorphic type.

More recently, Khare and Wintenberger [34] proved Serre's modularity conjecture and then deduced Langlands reciprocity for any odd irreducible 2-dimensional representation over \mathbb{Q} with non-solvable image.

We recall that a \mathbb{C} -representation (ρ, V) of a group G is said to be of GO(n)-type if $\dim V = n$ and it factors as

$$\rho: G \to GO_n(\mathbb{C}) \subset GL(V).$$

In his paper [54], Ramakrishnan derived the automorphy of solvable Artin representations of GO(4)-type as follows.

Theorem 3.17. Let K/k be a Galois extension of number fields and ρ be a 4-dimensional representation of G whose image is solvable and lies in $GO_4(\mathbb{C})$. Then ρ is automorphic.

One also has the following results concerning *symplectic* Galois representations and *hypertetrahedral* Galois representations due to Martin [41, 42].

Theorem 3.18. Let K/k be a Galois extension of number fields and ρ be an irreducible 4-dimensional representation of $G = \operatorname{Gal}(K/k)$ into $GSp_4(\mathbb{C})$. If the projective image \overline{G} of ρ (in $PGL_4(\mathbb{C})$) is isomorphic to $E_{2^4} \rtimes C_5$, then ρ is automorphic.

Theorem 3.19. Let K/k be a Galois extension of number fields and ρ be an irreducible 4-dimensional representation of G = Gal(K/k). Suppose \overline{G} is an extension of A_4 by V_4 . Then ρ is automorphic.

As remarked by Martin, the case where $\overline{G} = V_4 \rtimes A_4$ yields examples of irreducible monomial 4-dimensional representations of GO(4)-type, which can also be shown to be automorphic by Theorem 3.17.

3.3.2 Base Change and Automorphic Induction

A key ingredient in the proof of the Langlands theorem on the automorphy of certain 2-dimensional Galois representations is the (normal) cyclic base change for GL_2 , which has been generalised to GL_n by Arthur and Clozel [2] (à la Langlands) as follows.

Theorem 3.20. Let K/k be a Galois extension of prime degree. Then for every (isobaric) representation π of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$, there exists a unique (isobaric) automorphic representation $\pi|_K$ of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_K)$, called the base change of π to K, such that

- 1. a cuspidal representation Π of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_K)$ is the base change π_K of π if and only if Π is Galois invariant (in particular, if Π is associated to $\rho|_K$ for some Galois representation ρ over k);
- **2.** for any (isobaric) π' over k, $\pi'_K = \pi_K$ if and only if $\pi' = \pi \otimes \chi$ for some idèle class character χ of k;
- **4.** if χ is an idèle class character of k, then $(\pi \otimes \chi)|_K = \pi|_K \otimes \chi|_K$.

Moreover, Arthur and Clozel [2] derived the adjoint map to base change, called *automorphic induction*, which corresponds to induction for Galois representations as stated in the following theorem.

Theorem 3.21. Let K/k be a Galois extension of number fields of prime degree p, and Π denote an automorphic representation induced from cuspidal of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_K)$ (or, in particular, a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_K)$). Then there is an automorphic representation $I(\Pi)$ of $GL_{np}(\mathbb{A}_k)$, called the automorphic induction of Π , such that $L(s,\Pi) = L(s,I(\Pi))$; and $I(\Pi)$ is also induced from cuspidal. Moreover, if ρ is a Galois representation corresponding to Π , then $\operatorname{Ind}_{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/K)}^{\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/K)} \rho \iff I(\Pi)$.

Furthermore, one has a result of Jacquet [31].

Lemma 3.22. Let K/k be a Galois extension of number fields of prime degree. Let π and σ be two cuspidal unitary automorphic representations of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$ and $GL_m(\mathbb{A}_K)$, respectively. Then the Rankin-Selberg L-functions satisfy the following formal identity:

$$L(s, B(\pi) \otimes \sigma) = L(s, \pi \otimes I(\sigma)).$$

For *non-normal* extensions, one has a theorem due to Jacquet, Piatetski-Shapiro, and Shalika [32] below.

Theorem 3.23. Let K/k be a non-normal cubic extension of number fields. Let χ be an idèle class character of K and π an automorphic representation of $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_k)$. Then the automorphic induction $I(\chi)$ of χ and the base change $\pi|_K$ exist as automorphic representations of $GL_3(\mathbb{A}_k)$ and $GL_2(\mathbb{A}_K)$, respectively.

Thus, by Theorems 3.21 and 3.23, all monomial characters of degree 3 are of automorphic type.

3.3.3 Tensor Products and Symmetric and Exterior Powers

In light of the Langlands reciprocity conjecture and the fact that the tensor product of any two Galois representations is still a Galois representation, the *principle* of functoriality asserts that the Rankin-Selberg convolutions $\pi_1 \times \pi_2$ of any cuspidal representations π_1 and π_2 of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$ and $GL_m(\mathbb{A}_k)$, respectively, is in fact an automorphic representation of $GL_{nm}(\mathbb{A}_k)$, denoted by $\pi_1 \otimes \pi_2$. In particular, if each Galois representation ρ_i is associated to π_i , then $\rho_1 \otimes \rho_2 \longleftrightarrow \pi_1 \otimes \pi_2$. When m = 1, this is known since for π_1 automorphic, any "twist" $\pi_1 \otimes \chi$ is also automorphic for any (unitary) character χ of $k^{\times} \backslash \mathbb{A}_k^{\times}$; and the functoriality was recently established for $GL(2) \times GL(2)$ by Ramakrishnan [53] and $GL(2) \times GL(3)$ by Kim-Shahidi [36].

In a slightly different vein, consider a representation $\rho : \operatorname{Gal}(K/k) \to GL_n(\mathbb{C})$ and a symmetric or exterior power lifting $r : GL_n(\mathbb{C}) \to GL_m(\mathbb{C})$. For v unramified, the local L-function attached to $r(\rho)$ is defined as

$$L_v(s, r(\rho)) = \det(I - r(\rho(\sigma_v))Nv^{-s})^{-1}.$$

Similarly, for every automorphic representation π of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$, one can define the local automorphic L-function at (finite) unramified v as

$$L_v(s, \pi, r) = \det(I - r(A(\pi_v))Nv^{-s})^{-1}.$$

Again, inspired by the properties of Galois representations, the principle of functoriality conjectures that there should exist an automorphic representation $r(\pi)$ of $GL_m(\mathbb{A}_k)$ such that $L(s, r(\pi)_v) = L_v(s, \pi, r)$ for all unramified v. In particular, if ρ is a Galois representation corresponding to π , then $r(\rho) \iff r(\pi)$. For n = 2, Sym², Sym³, and Sym⁴ have been shown to be functorial by Gelbart-Jacquet, Kim-Shahidi, and Kim, respectively. Also, Kim showed that $\wedge^2: GL_4 \to GL_6$ is functorial. (In fact, Kim proved that $\wedge^2(\pi)$ equals an automorphic representation of $GL_6(\mathbb{A}_k)$ at all places, except possibly those above 2 and 3, and Henniart indicated how one can derive equality at the remaining places in a letter to Kim and Shahidi.)

3.3.4 Applications to the Langlands Reciprocity Conjecture

Applying the *functoriality* mentioned above and the works of Artin, Langlands, and many others, one knows that the Langlands reciprocity conjecture holds in the following cases.

- 1. the direct sum of (Galois) representations of automorphic type;
- 2. the induction of a representation of automorphic type from a subnormal subgroup of a solvable group;
- **3.** the induction of a 1-dimensional representation from a subgroup of index 3;
- **4.** Sym^m ρ for 2-dimensional automorphic ρ , where $m \leq 4$;
- **5.** $\wedge^2 \rho$ for 4-dimensional automorphic ρ ;
- **6.** the tensor product of two representations of automorphic type whose dimensions are 2 and 2, or 2 and 3;
- 7. any abelian twist of a representation of automorphic type;
- 8. representations of dimension at most 2 with (finite) solvable image;
- **9.** the Asai lift of any 2-dimensional representation of automorphic type;

- 10. representations of GO(4)-type with solvable image;
- 11. 4-dimensional representations with projective image isomorphic to $E_{2^4} \rtimes C_5$ or an extension of A_4 by V_4 ;
- 12. representations with (finite) nilpotent images; and
- 13. odd 2-dimensional icosahedral representations over \mathbb{Q} .

We note that the first seven cases are straightforward applications of the functoriality results discussed in the preceding sections. On the other hand, although the second instance is well-known by experts, we still give a proof below as it will play a crucial role in helping us to study conjectures of Artin and Langlands later.

Proof of Case 2. We now consider a character χ of $G = \operatorname{Gal}(K/k)$ which is induced from an irreducible character ψ of a subnormal subgroup H of G. Assume, further, that G is solvable and that ψ is automorphic over the fixed field K^H , i.e., there is a cuspidal automorphic representation Π of $GL_{\psi(1)}(\mathbb{A}_{K^H})$ such that

$$L(s,\psi,K/K^H) = L(s,\Pi).$$

Since H is a subnormal subgroup of G, there is an invariant series

$$H = H_0 \triangleleft H_1 \triangleleft \cdots \triangleleft H_{m-1} \triangleleft H_m = G$$

where for each i, H_i is a normal subgroup of H_{i+1} . As G is finite, we may require each H_{i+1}/H_i is a finite simple group. Since G is solvable, each quotient group must be cyclic. Thus, each H_{i+1}/H_i is a cyclic group of prime order, and one has a tower

of Galois extensions of prime degree

$$K\supset K^{H_1}\supset\cdots\supset K^{H_{m-1}}\supset k.$$

Now applying the Arthur-Clozel theorem of automorphic induction successively, one can derive that $\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \psi$ corresponds to an automorphic representation over k. In other words, Langlands reciprocity holds for χ . Moreover, if χ is irreducible, the earliermentioned result of Jacquet and Shalika asserts that π is necessarily cuspidal.

The eighth case is the celebrated Artin reciprocity and the Langlands-Tunnell theorem (we will often refer to these celebrated results as the Artin-Langlands-Tunnell theorem), and the eleventh case is due to Martin. We remark that the proofs of the results of Langlands-Tunnell and Martin profoundly rely on the functoriality of base change and symmetric/exterior powers. The ninth and tenth cases are due to Ramakrishnan. The twelfth case is a theorem of Arthur-Clozel who utilised Artin reciprocity, their theory of automorphic induction, and the fact that all subgroups of a nilpotent group are subnormal. The last case follows from Khare-Wintenberger's proof of Serre's modularity conjecture.

3.3.5 Potential Automorphy

In his paper [65], Taylor proved the *potential automorphy* for certain symmetric power L-functions of non-CM elliptic curves and then deduced the *Sato-Tate conjecture* (over totally real fields). As remarked in [65], Taylor was building on his earlier work [13] and [22] with Clozel, Harris, and Shepherd-Barron (we note that [22] was cited as "Thara's lemma and potential automorphy" in [65]). More recently, Barnet-Lamb,

Geraghty, Harris, and Taylor [4] proved the potential automorphy for symmetric power L-functions in a more general setting.

We recall that the main theorem of Taylor et al. is: let k be a totally real field and E/k a non-CM elliptic curve. Then for any finite set S of natural numbers, there is a (finite) totally real Galois extension L/k such that for every $m \in S$, $\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k$ is automorphic over L, i.e., $(\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_L$ is automorphic.

From now on, we fix a finite set S of natural numbers and let L be a totally real Galois extension L/k such that for every $m \in S$, $\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k$ is automorphic over L. We now recall two key steps of the proof of the Sato-Tate conjecture.

Theorem 3.24. For any intermediate field F of L/k with L/F solvable,

$$(\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_F$$

is automorphic.

This is proved in [22] by Harris, Shepherd-Barron, and Taylor. The proof essentially applies the Arthur-Clozel theorem of base change and the fact that $(\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_L$ is Galois-invariant. Moreover, from Theorem 3.24, Artin reciprocity, and the Brauer induction theorem, Taylor et al. showed the following.

Theorem 3.25. $L(s, \operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)$ extends to a meromorphic function over \mathbb{C} .

Chapter 4

Applications of Supercharacter Theory

4.1 Super Heilbronn Characters

Via the theory of supercharacters and superinduction discussed in Section 2.3, one can generalise the classical Heilbronn character as follows.

Definition 4.1 (Super Heilbronn Characters). Let K/k be a Galois extension of number fields with Galois group G. Let H be a subgroup of G. Let G and G be compatible, Sup(G) be the set of all supercharacters of G, and Sup(H) be the set of all supercharacters of G. Assume that the restriction $\sigma|_{H}$ of any supercharacter G of G to G is an integral combination of supercharacters of G. Then the super Heilbronn character G (with respect to G) is defined by

$$\Theta_H = \sum_{\tau \in \text{Sup}(H)} n(H, \tau) \frac{\tau}{\tau(1)},$$

where $n(H,\tau) = \frac{1}{m} \operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, m \operatorname{SInd}_H^G \tau, K/k)$, and $m = \operatorname{lcm}(\sigma(1) \colon \sigma \in \operatorname{Sup}(G))$.

One might ask why there are extra m and $\frac{1}{m}$ for each $n(H,\tau)$, and why one needs to normalise supercharacters appearing in Θ_H . First of all, since the superinduction

 $\operatorname{SInd}_H^G \tau$ of a supercharacter τ of H might be a rational combination of supercharacters of G, $\operatorname{SInd}_H^G \tau$ might be a rational combination of irreducible characters of G. But it is more natural to consider Artin L-functions attached to characters. Thus, we use $m\operatorname{SInd}_H^G \tau$, which is actually a character, instead of $\operatorname{SInd}_H^G \tau$. However, if one considers the improper subgroup H of G, i.e., H = G, equipped with the same supercharacter theory, then the superinduction from H to G is the identity map, i.e, for any supercharacter σ of H = G, $\operatorname{SInd}_H^G \sigma = \sigma$. So

$$n(G,\sigma) = \frac{1}{m} \operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, m\sigma, K/k) = \operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, \sigma, K/k),$$

which coincides with the classical definition.

Secondly, when one regards the classical theory as a supercharacter theory, one is, in fact, considering $\operatorname{Sup}(G) = \{\sigma = \chi(1)\chi \mid \chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)\}$ instead of $\operatorname{Irr}(G)$. Therefore, from the definition of super Heilbronn characters, one has

$$\Theta_{G} = \sum_{\sigma \in \text{Sup}(G)} n(G, \sigma) \frac{\sigma}{\sigma(1)}$$

$$= \sum_{\sigma \in \text{Sup}(G)} \text{ord}_{s=s_{0}} L(s, \sigma, K/k) \frac{\sigma}{\sigma(1)}$$

$$= \sum_{\chi \in \text{Irr}(G)} \text{ord}_{s=s_{0}} L(s, \chi(1)\chi, K/k) \frac{\chi(1)\chi}{\chi^{2}(1)}$$

$$= \sum_{\chi \in \text{Irr}(G)} n(G, \chi)\chi,$$

which gives the classical Heilbronn character.

To demonstrate that Artin L-functions attached to supercharacters enjoy similar properties of Artin L-functions attached to irreducible characters, we present the following result that generalises the previous works of Heilbronn and others in the context of supercharacters.

Proposition 4.1. Let K/k be a Galois extension of number fields with Galois group G. One has

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \text{Sup}(G)} \frac{n(G, \sigma)^2}{\sigma(1)} \le \left(\text{ord}_{s=s_0} \zeta_K(s) \right)^2,$$

where $\zeta_K(s)$ is the Dedekind zeta function of K. In addition, if G is solvable and χ is a supercharacter of G of degree one, then

$$\sum_{\sigma \neq \chi} \frac{n(G, \sigma)^2}{\sigma(1)} \le \left(\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} \frac{\zeta_K(s)}{L(s, \chi, K/k)} \right)^2.$$

In particular,

$$\sum_{\sigma \neq 1_G} \frac{n(G, \sigma)^2}{\sigma(1)} \le \left(\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} \frac{\zeta_K(s)}{\zeta_k(s)} \right)^2,$$

where 1_G denotes the trivial character of G.

Proof. For every $\sigma \in \text{Sup}(G)$, one can write σ as

$$\sigma = \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G, \sigma)} \chi(1)\chi,$$

where $Irr(G, \sigma)$ is the set of irreducible characters of G appearing in σ . Then

$$\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, \sigma, K/k) = \operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L\left(s, \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G, \sigma)} \chi(1)\chi, K/k\right)$$
$$= \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G, \sigma)} \chi(1)\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, \chi, K/k),$$

which together with the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality implies that

$$n(G,\sigma)^{2} = (\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_{0}} L(s,\sigma,K/k))^{2} = \left(\sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G,\sigma)} \chi(1) \operatorname{ord}_{s=s_{0}} L(s,\chi,K/k)\right)^{2}$$

$$\leq \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G,\sigma)} \chi^{2}(1) \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G,\sigma)} (\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_{0}} L(s,\chi,K/k))^{2}$$

$$= \sigma(1) \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G,\sigma)} (\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_{0}} L(s,\chi,K/k))^{2}.$$

Since $Irr(G) = \coprod_{\sigma \in Sup(G)} Irr(G, \sigma)$ is a disjoint union of all $Irr(G, \sigma)$'s,

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Sup}(G)} \frac{n(G, \sigma)^2}{\sigma(1)} \leq \sum_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Sup}(G)} \frac{\sigma(1) \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G, \sigma)} (\operatorname{ord}_{s = s_0} L(s, \chi, K/k))^2}{\sigma(1)}$$

$$= \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)} (\operatorname{ord}_{s = s_0} L(s, \chi, K/k))^2$$

$$\leq (\operatorname{ord}_{s = s_0} \zeta_K(s))^2,$$

where the last inequality holds thanks to Theorem 3.9. Since any supercharacter χ' of G of degree one is exactly a 1-dimensional irreducible character of G, by an analogous argument, one has

$$\sum_{\sigma \neq \chi'} \frac{n(G, \sigma)^2}{\sigma(1)} \leq \sum_{\sigma \neq \chi'} \frac{\sigma(1) \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G, \sigma)} (\operatorname{ord}_{s = s_0} L(s, \chi, K/k))^2}{\sigma(1)}$$

$$= \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G) \setminus \{\chi'\}} (\operatorname{ord}_{s = s_0} L(s, \chi, K/k))^2$$

$$\leq \left(\operatorname{ord}_{s = s_0} \frac{\zeta_K(s)}{L(s, \chi', K/k)}\right)^2,$$

where the last inequality is due to Theorem 3.9. The final part of the theorem can be obtained by taking $\chi' = 1_G$, the trivial character of G.

We also have the following Heilbronn-Stark lemma for super Heilbronn characters.

Lemma 4.2. Under the same assumption as before, one has $\Theta_G|_H = \Theta_H$ for any subgroup H of G.

Proof. By super Frobenius reciprocity, one has

$$\Theta_{G}|_{H} = \sum_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Sup}(G)} \frac{n(G, \sigma)}{\sigma(1)} \sigma|_{H}$$

$$= \sum_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Sup}(G)} \frac{m}{m} \frac{n(G, \sigma)}{\sigma(1)} \sigma|_{H}$$

$$= \frac{1}{m} \sum_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Sup}(G)} m \frac{n(G, \sigma)}{\sigma(1)} \sum_{\tau \in \operatorname{Sup}(H)} (\tau, \sigma|_{H})_{H} \frac{\tau}{(\tau, \tau)_{H}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{m} \sum_{\tau \in \operatorname{Sup}(H)} \left(\sum_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Sup}(G)} \frac{mn(G, \sigma)}{\sigma(1)} (\operatorname{SInd}_{H}^{G} \tau, \sigma)_{G} \right) \frac{\tau}{\tau(1)},$$

where $m = lcm\{\sigma(1) : \sigma \in \operatorname{Sup}(G)\}$. Since the restriction $\sigma|_H$ of any supercharacter σ of G to H is an integral combination of supercharacters of H, $(\operatorname{SInd}_H^G \tau, \sigma)$ is an integer for any supercharacter τ of H and any supercharacter σ of G. Now, we have

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Sup}(G)} \frac{mn(G, \sigma)}{\sigma(1)} (\operatorname{SInd}_{H}^{G} \tau, \sigma)_{G} = \operatorname{ord}_{s=s_{0}} L \left(s, \sum_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Sup}(G)} \frac{m(\operatorname{SInd}_{H}^{G} \tau, \sigma)_{G}}{\sigma(1)} \sigma, K/k \right)$$

$$= \operatorname{ord}_{s=s_{0}} L \left(s, \sum_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Sup}(G)} \frac{m(\operatorname{SInd}_{H}^{G} \tau, \sigma)_{G}}{(\sigma, \sigma)} \sigma, K/k \right)$$

$$= \operatorname{ord}_{s=s_{0}} L(s, m \operatorname{SInd}_{H}^{G} \tau, K/k)_{G}$$

$$= mn(H, \tau).$$

Thus,

$$\Theta_{G}|_{H} = \frac{1}{m} \sum_{\tau \in \text{Sup}(H)} \left(\sum_{\sigma \in \text{Sup}(G)} \frac{mn(G, \sigma)}{\sigma(1)} (\text{SInd}_{H}^{G} \tau, \sigma)_{G} \right) \frac{\tau}{\tau(1)}$$

$$= \frac{1}{m} \sum_{\tau \in \text{Sup}(H)} mn(H, \tau) \frac{\tau}{\tau(1)}$$

$$= \sum_{\tau \in \text{Sup}(H)} n(H, \tau) \frac{\tau}{\tau(1)}$$

$$= \Theta_{H}.$$

Similar to the role played by the classical Heilbronn-Stark lemma in studying the relation between orders of the Dedekind zeta functions and Artin L-functions, one can obtain the following results by applying Lemma 4.2.

Proposition 4.3.

$$\frac{|H|}{|G|} \sum_{\tau \in \text{Sup}(H)} \frac{n(H,\tau)^2}{\tau(1)} \le \left(\text{ord}_{s=s_0} \zeta_K(s) \right)^2.$$

Proof. By the orthogonality property of supercharacters and Proposition 4.1,

$$(\Theta_G, \Theta_G)_G = \left(\sum_{\sigma \in \text{Sup}(G)} n(G, \sigma) \frac{\sigma}{\sigma(1)}, \sum_{\sigma \in \text{Sup}(G)} n(G, \sigma) \frac{\sigma}{\sigma(1)}\right)_G$$

$$= \sum_{\sigma \in \text{Sup}(G)} \frac{n(G, \sigma)^2}{\sigma(1)}$$

$$\leq \left(\text{ord}_{s=s_0} \zeta_K(s)\right)^2.$$

On the other hand, Lemma 4.2 gives

$$(\Theta_{G}, \Theta_{G})_{G} = \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} \Theta_{G}(g) \overline{\Theta_{G}(g)}$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in H} \Theta_{G}(g) \overline{\Theta_{G}(g)}$$

$$= \frac{1}{|G|} \frac{|H|}{|H|} \sum_{g \in H} \Theta_{H}(g) \overline{\Theta_{H}(g)}$$

$$= \frac{|H|}{|G|} (\Theta_{H}, \Theta_{H})_{H}$$

$$= \frac{|H|}{|G|} \sum_{\tau \in \text{Sup}(H)} \frac{n(H, \tau)^{2}}{\tau(1)},$$

and thus the corollary follows.

Corollary 4.4. If $\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} \zeta_K(s) = 0$, then Artin L-functions $L(s, m \operatorname{SInd}_H^G \tau, K/k)$ attached to supercharacters τ of H are holomorphic and non-vanishing at $s = s_0$.

Since the first orthogonality property states that the set of all supercharacters of G forms an orthogonal basis of the inner product space of superclass functions of G, one might expect that there should be a second orthogonality property. In fact, the expected second orthogonality property can be derived easily by using the first orthogonality property and linear algebra. However, for the sake of completeness and clarity, we shall state and prove the following lemma.

Lemma 4.5. Let $Sup(G) = \{\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_n\}$ and $\{C_1, \dots, C_n\}$ be the sets of supercharacters and superclasses of G, respectively. Then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\sigma_k(C_i)\overline{\sigma_k(C_j)}}{\sigma_k(1)} = \begin{cases} \frac{|G|}{|C_i|} & \text{if } i = j, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

In particular, for any superclass C,

$$\delta_C = \frac{|C|}{|G|} \sum_{\sigma \in \text{Sup}(G)} \frac{\overline{\sigma(g_C)}\sigma}{\sigma(1)},$$

where δ_C denotes the characteristic function of C and g_C is an element of C.

Proof. For each k, let e_k be a representative of C_k . Then, for any i and j,

$$\delta_{ij} \sqrt{\sigma_i(1)\sigma_j(1)} = (\sigma_i, \sigma_j)$$

$$= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} \overline{\sigma_i(g)} \sigma_j(g)$$

$$= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{k=1}^n |C_k| \overline{\sigma_i(e_k)} \sigma_j(e_k),$$

where δ_{ij} is the Kronecker delta. Setting $a_{ij} = \frac{\sigma_j(e_i)}{\sqrt{\sigma_j(1)}}$, one has

$$\delta_{ij} = (\sigma_i, \sigma_j)_G$$

$$= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{k=1}^n \overline{a_{ki} \sqrt{|C_k|}} a_{kj} \sqrt{|C_k|}.$$

Considering a matrix $B = (b_{kj})$ where $b_{kj} = a_{kj} \frac{\sqrt{|C_k|}}{\sqrt{|G|}}$, the above equation implies that $B^*B = I = BB^*$. Hence,

$$\begin{split} \delta_{ij} &= \sum_{k=1}^{n} b_{ik} \overline{b_{jk}} \\ &= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{ik} \sqrt{|C_i|} \overline{a_{jk} \sqrt{|C_j|}} \\ &= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\sigma_k(e_i)}{\sqrt{\sigma_k(1)}} \sqrt{|C_i|} \overline{\frac{\sigma_k(e_j)}{\sqrt{\sigma_k(1)}} \sqrt{|C_j|}}, \end{split}$$

as desired. \Box

4.2 Supercharacters and Artin's Conjecture

We remind the reader that our purpose of this chapter is applying supercharacter theory to study Artin L-functions. Thus, it is certainly desired to find a supercharacter theory of G satisfying the Artin conjecture, i.e., for any Galois extension K/k of number fields with Galois group G, the Artin conjecture holds for all Artin L-functions attached to supercharacters of such a supercharacter theory. To obtain such a theory, we shall invoke the Aramata-Brauer theorem.

First of all, for any Galois extension K/k with Galois group G, the Aramata-Brauer theorem asserts that the quotient $\zeta_K(s)/\zeta_k(s)$ is entire. In other words, Artin's conjecture holds for the Artin L-functions attached to supercharacters $\text{Reg}_G - 1_G$ and 1_G . (We note that $\{\text{Reg}_G - 1_G, 1_G\}$ gives the maximal theory of G.)

In [24], Hendrickson introduced the *-product of supercharacter theories, which produces a supercharacter theory of G from its normal subgroup N and the quotient group H = G/N as follows.

Let G be a finite group and N be a normal subgroup of G. We equip N and G/N with supercharacter theories $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{K})$ and $(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{J})$ respectively. Following [24], $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{K})$ is said to be G-invariant if for each $g \in G$ and $n \in N$, both n and $g^{-1}ng$ belong to the same superclass. Assuming that $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{K})$ is G-invariant, define

$$\mathcal{Z} = \{ \operatorname{Ind}_{N}^{G}(\sigma_{X}) \mid X \in \mathcal{X} \setminus \{1_{N}\} \} \cup \{ \operatorname{Inf}_{G/N}^{G} \sigma_{Y} \mid Y \in \mathcal{Y} \},$$
$$\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{K} \cup \{ NJ \mid J \in \mathcal{J} \setminus \{e_{H}\} \}.$$

Hendrickson then proved the following (cf. [24, Theorem 4.3]):

Proposition 4.6. The pair $(\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{M})$ defines a supercharacter theory of G.

This supercharacter theory is referred as the *-product of $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{K})$ and $(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{J})$, and denoted by

$$(\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{M}) = (\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{K}) * (\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{J}).$$

Now we furthermore assume that N is equipped with the maximal theory and that H = G/N is equipped with the classical theory. It is clear that the maximal theory of N is G-invariant. By the Aramata-Brauer theorem, the maximal theory of N satisfies the Artin conjecture. Thus, if Artin's conjecture is true for the classical theory of H, which is the case for H nearly supersolvable (see Section 6.1), then the *-product $(\mathcal{Z}, \mathcal{M})$, constructed as above, is a supercharacter theory of G, which satisfies Artin's conjecture as desired. We shall call it the max-min theory.

4.3 An Effective Chebotarev Density Theorem

In this section, we will make use of notations introduced in Section 3.1.2.

We now plan to extend the result of M. R. Murty, V. K. Murty, and Saradha, Theorem 3.7, to Artin L-functions attached to *supercharacters*. First of all, following the strategy developed in [48], one would need the following lemma which will play the main role in "counting primes".

Lemma 4.7. Let π be a complex-valued linear function defined on the vector space of superclass functions of G. Then

$$\sum_{C} \frac{1}{|C|} \left| \pi(\delta_C) - \frac{|C|}{|G|} \pi(1_G) \right|^2 = \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{\sigma \neq 1_G} \frac{|\pi(\sigma)|^2}{\sigma(1)},$$

where the sum on the left runs over superclasses C of G, and the sum on the right runs over the non-trivial supercharacters.

Proof. Since π is linear, by Lemma 4.5, one can write

$$\pi(\delta_C) - \frac{|C|}{|G|}\pi(1_G) = \frac{|C|}{|G|} \sum_{\sigma \neq 1_G} \frac{\overline{\sigma(g_C)}\pi(\sigma)}{\sigma(1)},$$

where g_C is a representative of C. Therefore,

$$\left| \pi(\delta_C) - \frac{|C|}{|G|} \pi(1_G) \right|^2 = \frac{|C|}{|G|} \sum_{\sigma \neq 1_G} \frac{\overline{\sigma(g_C)} \pi(\sigma)}{\sigma(1)} \frac{\overline{|C|}}{|G|} \sum_{\tau \neq 1_G} \frac{\overline{\tau(g_C)} \pi(\tau)}{\tau(1)}$$
$$= \frac{|C|^2}{|G|^2} \sum_{\sigma,\tau \neq 1_G} \pi(\sigma) \overline{\pi(\tau)} \frac{\overline{\sigma(g_C)} \tau(g_C)}{\sigma(1)\tau(1)}.$$

Dividing both sides by |C| and then taking summations running over all superclasses of G on both sides, one has

$$\sum_{C} \frac{1}{|C|} \left| \pi(\delta_{C}) - \frac{|C|}{|G|} \pi(1_{G}) \right|^{2} = \sum_{C} \frac{|C|}{|G|^{2}} \sum_{\sigma, \tau \neq 1_{G}} \pi(\sigma) \overline{\pi(\tau)} \frac{\overline{\sigma(g_{C})} \tau(g_{C})}{\overline{\sigma(1)} \tau(1)}$$

$$= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{\sigma, \tau \neq 1_{G}} \pi(\sigma) \overline{\pi(\tau)} \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{C} |C| \frac{\overline{\sigma(g_{C})} \tau(g_{C})}{\overline{\sigma(1)} \tau(1)}$$

$$= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{\sigma, \tau \neq 1_{G}} \pi(\sigma) \overline{\pi(\tau)} \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} \frac{\overline{\sigma(g)} \tau(g)}{\overline{\sigma(1)} \tau(1)}$$

$$= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{\sigma \neq 1_{G}} \pi(\sigma) \overline{\pi(\sigma)} \frac{(\sigma, \sigma)}{\overline{\sigma(1)} \sigma(1)}$$

$$= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{\sigma \neq 1_{G}} \frac{|\pi(\sigma)|^{2}}{\sigma(1)},$$

where the second last equality is due to the orthogonality property of Sup(G). \square

For the purpose of counting primes, we also need to rewrite estimates described in Proposition 3.5 and Lemma 3.6 in the context of supercharacters as follows. As before, for each unramified prime \mathfrak{p} of k, let $\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}}$ denote the Artin symbol at \mathfrak{p} . Let χ be a character of G and let $\pi(x,\chi) = \sum_{N\mathfrak{p} \leq x} \chi(\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}})$ where the sum is over unramified primes \mathfrak{p} of k. Together with the definition of supercharacters, Proposition 3.5 gives:

Proposition 4.8. Assuming GRH for the Dedekind zeta function of k, one has

$$\pi(x, 1_G) = \operatorname{Li} x + O\left(x^{\frac{1}{2}}(\log d_k + n_k \log x)\right) + O(n_k \log M(K/k)),$$

where as before, M(K/k) is defined as

$$M(K/k) = nd_k^{\frac{1}{n_k}} \prod_{p \in P(K/k)} p.$$

For any non-trivial supercharacter $\sigma \in \operatorname{Sup}(G)$, if the Artin L-function $L(s, \sigma, K/k)$ is entire and is non-zero for $\Re(s) \neq \frac{1}{2}$ and $0 < \Re(s) < 1$, then

$$\pi(x,\sigma) = O\left(x^{\frac{1}{2}}(\log A_{\sigma} + \sigma(1)n_k \log x)\right) + O(\sigma(1)n_k \log M(K/k)),$$

where $A_{\sigma} = d_k^{\sigma(1)} N \mathfrak{f}(\sigma)$ denotes the conductor of σ .

By the properties of Artin conductors, we also have below a generalisation of Lemma 3.6.

Lemma 4.9. Let σ be a supercharacter of G. Then

$$\log N\mathfrak{f}(\sigma) \le 2\sigma(1)n_k \left(\sum_{p \in P(K/k)} \log p + \log n\right).$$

Proof. For any supercharacter σ , one can write σ as

$$\sigma = \sum_{\chi \in Irr(G,\sigma)} \chi(1)\chi,$$

where $Irr(G, \sigma)$ is the subset of Irr(G) consisting of all irreducible characters appearing in σ . Since, for any characters χ_1 and χ_2 , $\mathfrak{f}(\chi_1 + \chi_2) = \mathfrak{f}(\chi_1)\mathfrak{f}(\chi_2)$, and the (absolute) norm N is completely multiplicative, one has

$$\log N\mathfrak{f}(\sigma) = \log N\mathfrak{f}\left(\sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G,\sigma)} \chi(1)\chi\right)$$
$$= \log N\left(\prod_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G,\sigma)} \mathfrak{f}(\chi)^{\chi(1)}\right)$$
$$= \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G,\sigma)} \chi(1) \log N\mathfrak{f}(\chi).$$

Therefore, Lemma 3.6 implies that

$$\log N\mathfrak{f}(\sigma) = \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G,\sigma)} \chi(1) \log N\mathfrak{f}(\chi)$$

$$\leq \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G,\sigma)} \chi(1) \left(2\chi(1)n_k \left(\sum_{p \in P(K/k)} \log p + \log n \right) \right)$$

$$= 2\sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G,\sigma)} \chi^2(1) \left(n_k \sum_{p \in P(K/k)} \log p + \log n \right)$$

$$= 2\sigma(1)n_k \left(\sum_{p \in P(K/k)} \log p + \log n \right).$$

Using the previous results, one can establish an *effective* version of the Chebotarev density theorem for *any* supercharacter theory as follows.

Theorem 4.10. Suppose that all Artin L-functions attached to supercharacters of G = Gal(K, k) are holomorphic at $s \neq 1$, and that GRH holds for $\zeta_K(s)$. Then

$$\sum_{C} \frac{1}{|C|} \left| \pi(x, \delta_C) - \frac{|C|}{|G|} \operatorname{Li} x \right|^2 \ll x n_k^2 \log^2 (M(K/k)x),$$

where the sum on the left runs over superclasses C of G.

Proof. First, observe that

$$\sum_{C} \frac{1}{|C|} \left| \frac{|C|}{|G|} \pi(x, 1_G) - \frac{|C|}{|G|} \operatorname{Li} x \right|^2 = \frac{1}{|G|^2} \sum_{C} |C| (\pi(x, 1_G) - \operatorname{Li} x)^2$$
$$= \frac{1}{|G|} (\pi(x, 1_G) - \operatorname{Li} x)^2.$$

Applying Lemma 4.7, one has

$$\sum_{C} \frac{1}{|C|} \left| \pi(x, \delta_C) - \frac{|C|}{|G|} \pi(x, 1_G) \right|^2 = \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{\sigma \neq 1_G} \frac{|\pi(x, \sigma)|^2}{\sigma(1)}.$$

On the other hand, for all non-trivial supercharacters σ of G, Proposition 4.8 gives

$$\pi(x,\sigma) = O\left(x^{\frac{1}{2}}(\log A_{\sigma} + \sigma(1)n_k \log x)\right) + O\left(\sigma(1)n_k \log M(K/k)\right),\,$$

and according to Lemma 4.9, this becomes

$$\pi(x,\sigma) \ll x^{\frac{1}{2}}\sigma(1)n_k \log \left(M(K/k)x\right).$$

Putting everything together and using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, one has

$$\sum_{C} \frac{1}{|C|} \left| \pi(x, \delta_{C}) - \frac{|C|}{|G|} \operatorname{Li} x \right|^{2}$$

$$= \sum_{C} \frac{1}{|C|} \left| \pi(x, \delta_{C}) - \frac{|C|}{|G|} \pi(x, 1_{G}) + \frac{|C|}{|G|} \pi(x, 1_{G}) - \frac{|C|}{|G|} \operatorname{Li} x \right|^{2}$$

$$\leq \sum_{C} \frac{2}{|C|} \left| \pi(x, \delta_{C}) - \frac{|C|}{|G|} \pi(x, 1_{G}) \right|^{2} + \sum_{C} \frac{2}{|C|} \left| \frac{|C|}{|G|} \pi(x, 1_{G}) - \frac{|C|}{|G|} \operatorname{Li} x \right|^{2}$$

$$= \frac{2}{|G|} \sum_{\sigma \neq 1_{G}} \frac{|\pi(x, \sigma)|^{2}}{\sigma(1)} + \frac{2}{|G|} (\pi(x, 1_{G}) - \operatorname{Li} x)^{2}$$

$$\ll \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Sup}(G)} x \sigma(1) n_{k}^{2} \log^{2} (M(K/k)x)$$

$$= x n_{k}^{2} \log^{2} (M(K/k)x),$$

where the last equality holds since $|G| = \sum_{\chi \in Irr(G)} \chi^2(1) = \sum_{\sigma \in Sup(G)} \sigma(1)$.

Corollary 4.11. Under the same assumptions as the previous theorem,

$$\pi(x, \delta_D) = \frac{|D|}{|G|} \operatorname{Li} x + O(|D|^{\frac{1}{2}} x^{\frac{1}{2}} n_k \log (M(K/k)x)),$$

where D is an arbitrary union of superclasses in G.

Proof. By the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality,

$$\left| \pi(x, \delta_D) - \frac{|D|}{|G|} \operatorname{Li} x \right| = \left| \sum_{C \subseteq D} \left(\pi(x, \delta_C) - \frac{|C|}{|G|} \operatorname{Li} x \right) \frac{|C|^{\frac{1}{2}}}{|C|^{\frac{1}{2}}} \right|$$

$$\leq \left(\sum_{C \subseteq D} \frac{1}{|C|} \left| \pi(x, \delta_C) - \frac{|C|}{|G|} \operatorname{Li} x \right|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{C \subseteq D} |C| \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\ll \left(x n_k^2 \log^2 \left(M(K/k) x \right) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} |D|^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

where the sums run over superclasses $C \subseteq D$.

Remark 4.12. As discussed in Section 4.2, the assumption of the Artin conjecture in our effective Chebotarev density theorem is automatically satisfied if one chooses the maximal theory or the max-min theory. We remark that these choices are sufficient for some arithmetic applications. For instance, to study the cyclicity problem of elliptic curves (modulo p), a key ingredient is the explicit formulae for

$$\pi_1(x, \mathbb{Q}(E[m])/\mathbb{Q}) = \#\{p \leq x \mid p \text{ splits completely in } \mathbb{Q}(E[m])/\mathbb{Q}\},\$$

where $\mathbb{Q}(E[m])$ is the m-division field of an elliptic curve E/\mathbb{Q} (cf. [57] and [12]). Since $\pi_1(x, \mathbb{Q}(E[m])/\mathbb{Q}) = \pi(x, \delta_{\{1\}})$, the number of primes $p \leq x$ with $\sigma_p = \{e\}$, and $\{e\}$ is a superclass, we can choose the maximal theory to get a desired estimate.

Chapter 5

A Variant of Heilbronn Characters

5.1 Weak Arithmetic Heilbronn Characters

In this section, we will introduce weak arithmetic Heilbronn characters that generalise the classical Heilbronn characters, and we will discuss their properties.

From now on, G always denotes a finite group. For any subgroup H of G, we denote the trivial character and the regular representation of H by 1_H and Reg_H , respectively. In addition, $\langle h \rangle$ denotes the cyclic subgroup of H generated by an element $h \in H$, and e_H is the identity element of H.

Definition 5.1. Let I(G) be a set defined as

 $I(G) = \{(H, \phi) \mid H \leq G \text{ is proper and cyclic or } H = G, \text{ and } \phi \text{ is a character of } H\},$

and $n: I(G) \to \mathbb{Z}$ be a function satisfying the following three properties:

WAHC1. $n(H, \phi_1 + \phi_2) = n(H, \phi_1) + n(H, \phi_2)$ for any characters ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 of H, where H is a cyclic subgroup or an improper subgroup of G;

WAHC2. $n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi) = n(H, \phi)$ for every cyclic subgroup H and every character

 ϕ of H; and

WAHC3. $n(H, \phi) \geq 0$ for all cyclic subgroups H of G and all characters ϕ of H.

Then the weak arithmetic Heilbronn character of a proper cyclic or improper subgroup H of G associated with such $n(H, \phi)$'s is defined by

$$\Theta_H = \sum_{\phi \in Irr(H)} n(H, \phi)\phi,$$

which by condition WAHC2, is equal to $\sum_{\phi \in Irr(H)} n(G, Ind_H^G \phi) \phi$.

Such a formalism technique was used by Foote in [18] as well as by M. R. Murty and V. K. Murty in [46] to study certain L-functions. However, we will see such "abstract" Heilbronn characters are of interest in their own right. In fact, weak Heilbronn arithmetic characters and arithmetic Heilbronn characters, which will be discussed in the next section, inherit many properties of the classical Heilbronn characters. For instance, these Heilbronn characters also admit an Artin-Takaqi decomposition.

Proposition 5.1 (Artin-Takagi Decomposition).

$$n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) = \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)} \chi(1) n(G, \chi).$$

Proof. Since $\operatorname{Reg}_G = \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)} \chi(1)\chi$, the decomposition follows simply from condition WAHC1.

By conditions WAHC2 and WAHC3, one can see $n(G,\chi) \geq 0$ for any character χ of G induced from a character of a cyclic subgroup of G. Also, condition WAHC2 implies a stronger condition: $n(\widetilde{H},\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{\widetilde{H}}\phi) = n(H,\phi)$ for any cyclic subgroup \widetilde{H} of G

containing H, since

$$n(\widetilde{H}, \operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{\widetilde{H}} \phi) = n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_{\widetilde{H}}^{G} \operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{\widetilde{H}} \phi) = n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} \phi) = n(H, \phi).$$

Now we shall state and prove several properties of weak arithmetic Heilbronn characters. Our methods are based on earlier works of Heilbronn, Stark, Foote, and V. K. Murty.

Lemma 5.2 (Heilbronn-Stark Lemma). Assume Θ_G is a weak arithmetic Heilbronn character. Then, for every cyclic subgroup H of G, one has

$$\Theta_G|_H = \Theta_H.$$

Proof. By the definition, the first orthogonality property of irreducible characters, and Frobenius reciprocity, we have

$$\Theta_{G}|_{H} = \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)} n(G, \chi) \chi|_{H}$$

$$= \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)} n(G, \chi) \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(H)} (\chi|_{H}, \phi) \phi$$

$$= \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)} n(G, \chi) \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(H)} (\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} \phi) \phi$$

$$= \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(H)} \left(\sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)} (\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} \phi) n(G, \chi) \right) \phi.$$

Now we use conditions WAHC1 and WAHC2, and the first orthogonality property of

irreducible characters again to get

$$\Theta_G|_H = \sum_{\phi \in Irr(H)} n \left(G, \sum_{\chi \in Irr(G)} (\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi) \chi \right) \phi$$

$$= \sum_{\phi \in Irr(H)} n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi) \phi$$

$$= \Theta_H.$$

Like the classical Heilbronn-Stark lemma, the above lemma enables us to bound the coefficients of our Heilbronn characters.

Theorem 5.3.

$$\sum_{\chi \in Irr(G)} n(G, \chi)^2 \le n(G, Reg_G)^2.$$

Proof. We will give a proof based on the method developed in [19] and [46]. By the first orthogonality property and the definition of the (usual) inner product of class functions of G, one has

$$\sum_{\chi \in Irr(G)} n(G, \chi)^2 = (\Theta_G, \Theta_G)$$
$$= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} |\Theta_G(g)|^2.$$

Applying the Heilbronn-Stark lemma, for any $g \in G$, one has

$$\Theta_G(g) = \Theta_{\langle g \rangle}(g)$$

$$= \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)} n(\langle g \rangle, \phi) \phi(g).$$

Since $\langle g \rangle$ is cyclic, the triangle inequality and conditions WAHC2 and WAHC3 yield

$$\begin{aligned} |\Theta_{G}(g)| &= |\Theta_{\langle g \rangle}(g)| \\ &\leq \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)} n(\langle g \rangle, \phi) \\ &= n \left(\langle g \rangle, \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)} \phi \right) \\ &= n(\langle g \rangle, \operatorname{Reg}_{\langle g \rangle}) \\ &= n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_{G}). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, the theorem follows.

Using this theorem and the fact that $n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) = n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle e_G \rangle}^G 1_{\langle e_G \rangle}) \geq 0$, one can immediately obtain the following analogues of famous theorems of Aramata-Brauer and Stark as mentioned earlier.

Corollary 5.4. $n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) \pm n(G, 1_G) \geq 0$.

Corollary 5.5. If $n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) \leq 1$, then $n(G, \chi) \geq 0$ for all irreducible characters χ of G.

Proof. If $n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) = 0$, then the corollary follows from the above theorem immediately. Otherwise, for $n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) = 1$, by the Artin-Takagi decomposition, Proposition 5.1, one has

$$\sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)} \chi(1) n(G, \chi) = n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) = 1.$$

In addition, Theorem 5.3 forces that all integers $n(G,\chi)$ are bounded by 1. Thus, we can conclude that there is exactly one character χ_0 of G such that $\chi_0(1) = 1$ and $n(G,\chi_0) = 1$. In other words, $n(G,\chi) = 0$ for any irreducible character $\chi \neq \chi_0$. \square

In [46], M. R. Murty and V. K. Murty showed the following "twisting" result by using a formalism technique. We shall give a proof below by just checking that such twisting indeed defines a set of integers satisfying conditions WAHC1 to WAHC3.

Proposition 5.6. Let $n(H, \phi)$'s be integers defining a weak Heilbronn character, i.e., these integers satisfy conditions WAHC1 to WAHC3. Let ρ be an arbitrary character of G. Suppose that for every cyclic subgroup H of G and irreducible character ϕ of H, we have $n(H, \rho|_H \otimes \phi) \geq 0$, then

$$\sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)} n(G, \rho \otimes \chi)^2 \le n(G, \rho \otimes \operatorname{Reg}_G)^2.$$

Proof. For every cyclic subgroup H of G (or H = G) and every character ϕ of H, let $n'(H, \phi) = n(H, \rho|_{H} \otimes \phi)$. By the linearity of tensor product and the hypothesis of this theorem, it is easy to see that $n'(H, \phi)$'s satisfy conditions WAHC1 and WAHC3. On the other hand, since tensoring "commutes" with induction, we have

$$n'(H, \phi) = n(H, \rho|_H \otimes \phi)$$

$$= n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G(\rho|_H \otimes \phi))$$

$$= n(G, \rho \otimes \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi)$$

$$= n'(G, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi).$$

Therefore, this proposition follows from Theorem 5.3 immediately.

5.2 Arithmetic Heilbronn Characters

In this section, we will put more conditions on $n(H, \phi)$'s, which make weak arithmetic Heilbronn characters capture almost all properties that we know for the classical Heilbronn characters.

Definition 5.2. Let I(G) be a set defined as

$$I(G) = \{(H, \phi) \mid H \text{ is a subgroup of } G, \text{ and } \phi \text{ is a character of } H\},$$

and $n: I(G) \to \mathbb{Z}$ be a function satisfying the following three properties:

AHC1. $n(H, \phi_1 + \phi_2) = n(H, \phi_1) + n(H, \phi_2)$ for any subgroup H of G and any characters ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 of H;

AHC2. $n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi) = n(H, \phi)$ for every character ϕ of every subgroup H; and

AHC3. $n(H, \phi) \geq 0$ for all 1-dimensional characters ϕ of subgroups H of G.

Then the arithmetic Heilbronn character of a subgroup H of G associated with such $n(H, \phi)$'s is defined as

$$\Theta_H = \sum_{\phi \in Irr(H)} n(H, \phi)\phi,$$

which by condition AHC2, is equal to $\sum_{\phi \in Irr(H)} n(G, Ind_H^G \phi) \phi$.

It is clear that all arithmetic Heilbronn characters have properties discussed in the previous section. Moreover, since $n(H, \phi)$'s are now defined for all subgroups Hof G, we have the following full-powered Heilbronn-Stark Lemma.

Lemma 5.7 (Heilbronn-Stark Lemma). For every subgroup H of G, one has

$$\Theta_G|_H = \Theta_H.$$

Remark 5.8. As pointed out by Professor Mike Roth (private communication), conditions AHC1-2 are equivalent to:

AHC'. Choose an integer q_i for each irreducible character χ_i of G.

Proof (due to M. Roth). Let χ_i 's be the irreducible characters of G. Given a function $n: I(G) \to \mathbb{Z}$ satisfying conditions AHC1-2, we set $q_i = n(G, \chi_i)$ for each i. Then for any character ϕ of G, as $\phi = \sum_i m_i \chi_i$ for some $m_i \geq 0$, condition AHC1 then gives that $n(G, \phi) = \sum_i m_i q_i$. Moreover, condition AHC2 says that $n(H, \phi) = n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi)$, which is already determined by the q_i 's.

Thus, conditions AHC1-2 give q_i 's, and conversely, from the above discussion, it is clear that any choice of q_i 's gives a function $n: I(G) \to \mathbb{Z}$ satisfying conditions AHC1-2.

As one can see now, conditions AHC1-2 are not really axioms, but rather a choice, the choice of a virtual character $\Theta_G = \sum_i q_i \chi_i$ with $q_i \in \mathbb{Z}$. Also, by the above discussion, one may replace conditions AHC1-2 by the formula

$$n(H,\phi) = (\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} \phi, \Theta_{G}). \tag{5.1}$$

Therefore, one may form the function $n: I(G) \to \mathbb{Z}$ by the choice of a virtual character of G together with the formula (5.1). Furthermore, with the same consideration, one may also define

$$\Theta_H = \Theta_G|_H$$
.

We further remark that this argument is also valid for weak arithmetic Heilbronn characters. The subtle difference between the two cases, which is really an axiom, is the condition WAHC3 or AHC3, requiring non-negativity on characters induced from 1-dimensional characters. Furthermore, considering the following two conditions:

WAHC. $(\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi, \cdot) \geq 0$ for all cyclic subgroups $H \leq G$ and all 1-dimensional characters ϕ of H; and

AHC. $(\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi, \cdot) \geq 0$ for all subgroups $H \leq G$ and all 1-dimensional characters ϕ of H,

each defines a cone in $\mathbf{C}(G)$, the space of class functions of G. Moreover, axioms WAHC3 and AHC3 respectively are requiring Θ_G to be in this cone. It might be interesting to understand these cones in a few cases.

Finally, as suggested by M. Roth, it is possible to simplify or shorten most of the proofs via " Θ_G -perspective". For instance, formulas of type $\sum n(G,\chi)^2$ can be replaced by (Θ_G,Θ_G) , the "Artin-Takagi decomposition" is the linearity of the function (\cdot,Θ_G) , etc.

From now on, Θ_G always denotes an arithmetic Heilbronn character of G. Furthermore, we assume G is *solvable*. The following powerful lemma is essentially due to the work of Uchida and van der Waall, which is used by M. R. Murty and V. K. Murty [46] implicitly and is stated precisely in [49, Lemma 2.4].

Lemma 5.9. Let G be a finite solvable group, and let H be a subgroup of G. Then

$$\operatorname{Ind}_H^G 1_H = 1_G + \sum_i \operatorname{Ind}_{H_i}^G \phi_i,$$

where ϕ_i 's are non-trivial 1-dimensional characters of some subgroups H_i 's of G.

Following [49], we let $G^0 = G$, and define G^i to be $[G^{i-1}, G^{i-1}]$ for all $i \geq 1$. The series $\{G^i\}$ is called the *derived series* of G. Since G is solvable, such a series is eventually *trivial*. Using this series, one may define the *level* of an irreducible character χ of G, denoted $l(\chi)$, as the least non-negative integer n such that χ is trivial on G^n . For instance, the level one characters are exactly the non-trivial 1-dimensional characters of G. In addition, M. R. Murty and Raghuram showed a stronger version of Lemma 5.9 (cf. [49, Lemma 2.5]).

Lemma 5.10. Let G be a finite solvable group having more than one element, and let H be a subgroup of G. Let $\{G^i\}$ denote the derived series of G, and let m be the least non-negative integer such that $G^{m+1} = \langle e_G \rangle$. Then for all $i \geq 1$,

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} 1_{H} = \operatorname{Ind}_{HG^{i}}^{G} 1_{HG^{i}} + \sum_{j} \operatorname{Ind}_{H_{j}}^{G} \phi_{j},$$

where ϕ_j 's are non-trivial 1-dimensional characters of some subgroups H_j 's of G, and the sum might be empty.

Using these lemmas and the method developed in [49], we can prove the following sequence of properties for arithmetic Heilbronn characters.

Proposition 5.11. Let H be a subgroup of G. Let χ and ϕ be 1-dimensional characters of G and H respectively. Then

$$n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi) - (\chi|_H, \phi)n(G, \chi) \ge 0.$$

Proof. Note that if $(\chi|_H, \phi) = 0$, the theorem is clearly true by conditions AHC2 and AHC3. Suppose that $(\chi|_H, \phi) > 0$. Since both χ and ϕ are 1-dimensional, we obtain $\chi|_H = \phi$ and $(\chi|_H, \phi) = 1$. Following the proof of [49, Theorem 4.1], by Lemma 5.9, we first write

$$\operatorname{Ind}_H^G 1_H = 1_G + \sum \operatorname{Ind}_{H_i}^G \phi_i,$$

where ϕ_i 's are non-trivial 1-dimensional characters of some subgroups H_i 's of G. Since tensoring and induction "commute", by tensoring χ on the both sides of the above equation, we then get

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} \chi|_{H} = \chi + \sum \operatorname{Ind}_{H_{i}}^{G} (\chi|_{H_{i}} \phi_{i}).$$

As $\chi|_{H_i}\phi_i$'s are still 1-dimensional, by condition AHC3, $n(H,\chi|_{H_i}\phi_i) \geq 0$ for all i. Hence, the theorem follows from condition AHC2 and the fact that $(\chi|_H,\phi)=1$ and $\chi|_H=\phi$.

For any subgroup H of G, by taking $\chi = 1_G$ and $\phi = 1_H$, one can deduce an analogue of the Uchida-van der Waall theorem as below.

Corollary 5.12. Let G be a solvable group, and H a subgroup. One has

$$n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G 1_H) - n(G, 1_G) \ge 0.$$

Moreover, by applying Lemma 5.10 and Proposition 5.11, it is possible to derive several analogues of M. R. Murty and Raghuram's results for arithmetic Heilbronn characters.

Theorem 5.13. Let χ_0 be a 1-dimensional character of G. Then

$$\sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G) \setminus \{\chi_0\}} n(G, \chi)^2 \le (n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) - n(G, \chi_0))^2.$$

Proof. In light of the proof of [49, Theorem 4.4], we define a "truncated" (arithmetic)

Heilbronn character with respect to χ_0 as

$$\Theta_G^{\chi_0} = \sum_{\chi \in Irr(G) \setminus \{\chi_0\}} n(G, \chi) \chi.$$

Taking norms on both sides of the above equation, one has

$$|\Theta_G^{\chi_0}|^2 = \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} |\Theta_G^{\chi_0}(g)|^2$$
$$= \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G) \setminus \{\chi_0\}} n(G, \chi)^2.$$

On the other hand, by the Heilbronn-Stark lemma, Lemma 5.7, we have

$$\Theta_G^{\chi_0}(g) = \Theta_G(g) - n(G, \chi_0) \chi_0(g)
= \Theta_{\langle g \rangle}(g) - n(G, \chi_0) \chi_0(g)
= \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)} n(\langle g \rangle, \phi) \phi(g) - n(G, \chi_0) \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)} (\chi_0|_{\langle g \rangle}, \phi) \phi(g)
= \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)} (n(\langle g \rangle, \phi) - n(G, \chi_0) (\chi_0|_{\langle g \rangle}, \phi)) \phi(g).$$

Applying Proposition 5.11 with $H = \langle g \rangle$ and $\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)$, we get

$$n(\langle g \rangle, \phi) - n(G, \chi_0)(\chi_0|_{\langle g \rangle}, \phi) \ge 0,$$

which combining with the triangle inequality gives

$$|\Theta_{G}^{\chi_{0}}(g)| \leq \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)} (n(\langle g \rangle, \phi) - n(G, \chi_{0})(\chi_{0}|_{\langle g \rangle}, \phi))$$

$$= n \left(\langle g \rangle, \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)} \phi \right) - n \left(G, \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)} (\chi_{0}|_{\langle g \rangle}, \phi)\chi_{0}\right)$$

$$= n(\langle g \rangle, \operatorname{Reg}_{\langle g \rangle}) - n(G, (\chi_{0}|_{\langle g \rangle}, \operatorname{Reg}_{\langle g \rangle})\chi_{0})$$

$$= n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_{G}) - n(G, \chi_{0}),$$

where the last equality holds provided that $(\chi_0|_{\langle g \rangle}, \operatorname{Reg}_{\langle g \rangle}) = \chi_0|_{\langle g \rangle}(1) = 1.$

Proposition 5.14. Let H be a subgroup of G, and let ϕ be any 1-dimensional character of H. Let S_{ϕ} denote the set of all 1-dimensional characters of G whose restrictions on H are ϕ . Then

$$n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi) - \sum_{\chi \in S_{\phi}} n(G, \chi) \ge 0.$$

Proof. Note that if S_{ϕ} is empty, then the theorem is obviously true by conditions AHC2 and AHC3. Now we may assume S_{ϕ} is non-empty, and take $\chi_0 \in S_{\phi}$. Applying Lemma 5.10 with i = 1, we have

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} 1_{H} = \operatorname{Ind}_{HG^{1}}^{G} 1_{HG^{1}} + \sum \operatorname{Ind}_{H_{i}}^{G} \phi_{j},$$

where for each j, ϕ_j is a non-trivial 1-dimensional character of a subgroup H_j of G, and the sum might be empty. Again, twisting the above equation by χ_0 , we have

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} \phi = \operatorname{Ind}_{HG^{1}}^{G} \chi_{0}|_{HG^{1}} + \sum \operatorname{Ind}_{H_{i}}^{G} (\chi_{0}|_{H_{i}} \phi_{i}).$$

Since $\chi_0|_{H_i}\phi_i$'s are still 1-dimensional and $\operatorname{Ind}_{HG^1}^G\chi_0|_{HG^1}$ is exactly $\sum_{\chi\in S_\phi}\chi$, the proposition follows.

Theorem 5.15. Let S be the set of all 1-dimensional characters of G. Then

$$\sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G) \setminus S} n(G, \chi)^2 \le (n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) - n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_{G^1}^G 1_{G^1}))^2.$$

Proof. Following the proof of [49, Theorem 5.3], we define a truncated arithmetic Heilbronn character with respect to S as

$$\Theta_G^S = \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G) \setminus S} n(G, \chi) \chi.$$

Taking norms on both sides of the above equation gives

$$\frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} |\Theta_G^S(g)|^2 = \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G) \backslash S} n(G, \chi)^2.$$

Thanks to the Heilbronn-Stark lemma, Lemma 5.7, we have

$$\begin{split} \Theta_G^S(g) &= \Theta_G(g) - \sum_{\chi \in S} n(G, \chi) \chi(g) \\ &= \Theta_{\langle g \rangle}(g) - \sum_{\chi \in S} n(G, \chi) \chi(g) \\ &= \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)} \left(n(\langle g \rangle, \phi) - \sum_{\chi \in S} n(G, \chi) (\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle g \rangle}^G \phi) \right) \phi(g). \end{split}$$

Using Proposition 5.14 with $H = \langle g \rangle$ and $\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)$, we then obtain

$$n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle g \rangle}^G \phi) - \sum_{\chi \in S_{\phi}} n(G, \chi) \ge 0.$$

Observe that for every $\chi \in S$, $(\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle g \rangle}^G \phi)$ is either 0 or 1, and that $(\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle g \rangle}^G \phi) = 1$ if and only if $\chi \in S_{\phi}$. Thus, by condition AHC2, we may rewrite the above inequality as

$$n(\langle g \rangle, \phi) - \sum_{\chi \in S} n(G, \chi)(\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle g \rangle}^G \phi) \ge 0.$$

Finally, by the triangle inequality and the fact that for $\chi \in S$, $(\chi|_{\langle g \rangle}, \operatorname{Reg}_{\langle g \rangle}) = 1$, and $\operatorname{Ind}_{G^1}^G 1_{G^1} = \sum_{\chi \in S} \chi$, one can deduce

$$\begin{aligned} |\Theta_G^S(g)| &\leq \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)} \left(n(\langle g \rangle, \phi) - \sum_{\chi \in S} n(G, \chi)(\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle g \rangle}^G \phi) \right) \\ &= n(\langle g \rangle, \operatorname{Reg}_{\langle g \rangle}) - \sum_{\chi \in S} n(G, \chi)(\chi|_{\langle g \rangle}, \operatorname{Reg}_{\langle g \rangle}) \\ &= n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) - n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_{G^1}^G 1_{G^1}), \end{aligned}$$

which completes the proof.

Corollary 5.16. Let G be a solvable group. Then $n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) - n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_{G^1}^G 1_{G^1})$ cannot be 1.

Proof. Observe that $\operatorname{Reg}_G = \operatorname{Ind}_{G^1}^G 1_{G^1} + \sum_{\chi \notin S} \chi(1) \chi$ where S denotes the set of all 1-dimensional characters of G. If $n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) - n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_{G^1}^G 1_{G^1})$ was equal to 1, then conditions AHC1 and AHC2 tell us that $\sum_{\chi \notin S} \chi(1) n(G, \chi) = 1$. However, Theorem 5.15 forces that there is at most one character $\chi' \notin S$ of G such that $n(G, \chi')$ is non-zero. In addition, the Artin-Takagi decomposition, Proposition 5.1, asserts that there should be a character $\chi' \notin S$ such that $n(G, \chi')$ is non-zero. But $\chi'(1) \geq 2$, which contradicts to the fact that $\chi'(1)n(G, \chi') = \sum_{\chi \notin S} \chi(1)n(G, \chi) = 1$.

In [39, Lemma 3.2], Lansky and Wilson generalised results of M. R. Murty and Raghuram (cf. Lemma 5.10) by proving the following.

Lemma 5.17. Let G be a finite solvable group, and let H be a subgroup of G. Let ϕ be a 1-dimensional character of H such that $\phi|_{H\cap G^i}$ is trivial, and let ϕ' be the unique extension of ϕ to a character of HG^i that is trivial on G^i . Then for any irreducible character χ of G, one has

$$(\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_{HG^i}^G \phi') = \begin{cases} (\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi), & \text{if } l(\chi) \leq i, \\ 0, & \text{if } l(\chi) > i. \end{cases}$$

Adapting the method developed by Lansky and Wilson, it is possible now to obtain a generalisation of M. R. Murty and Raghuram's work in the setting of arithmetic Heilbronn characters as follows.

Proposition 5.18. Let d be the greatest common divisor of the degrees of the characters in $Irr(G)\backslash S^i$, where S^i denotes the set of irreducible characters of G of level less than or equal to i. Then $n(G, Reg_G) - n(G, Ind_{G^i}^G 1_{G^i}) = kd$ for some non-negative integer k.

Proof. By conditions AHC1 and AHC2, and Lemma 5.17 with $H = \langle e_G \rangle$, we have

$$n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) - n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_{G^i}^G 1_{G^i}) = n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) - \sum_{\chi \in S^i} \chi(1) n(G, \chi)$$
$$= \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G) \setminus S^i} \chi(1) n(G, \chi),$$

which is a multiple of the greatest common divisor of the degrees of the characters χ of G with $l(\chi) > i$. Since the Aramata-Brauer theorem asserts that

$$n(G^i, \operatorname{Reg}_{G^i}) - n(G^i, 1_{G^i}) \ge 0,$$

by condition AHC2, we obtain $n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) - n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_{G^i}^G 1_{G^i}) \geq 0$, which completes the proof.

Proposition 5.19. Let ϕ be a 1-dimensional character of a subgroup H of G. Then

$$n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi) - \sum_{\chi \in S^i} (\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi) n(G, \chi) \ge 0,$$

where S^i denotes the set of irreducible characters of G of level less than or equal to i.

Proof. The proof is exactly the same as the proof in [39], but for the sake of completeness and clarity, we shall reproduce a proof in our setting. Firstly, we assume ϕ is trivial on $H \cap G^i$, then ϕ extends uniquely to a character ϕ' of $H \cdot G^i$. Now Lemma 5.17 implies that

$$\sum_{\chi \in S^i} (\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi) n(G, \chi) = \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)} (\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_{HG^i}^G \phi') n(G, \chi)$$
$$= n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_{HG^i}^G \phi').$$

By Lemma 5.9, we have

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{HG^{i}} 1_{H} = 1_{H \cdot G^{i}} + \sum_{j} \operatorname{Ind}_{H_{j}}^{HG^{i}} \phi_{j},$$

where ϕ_j 's are non-trivial 1-dimensional characters of some subgroups H_j 's of $H \cdot G^i$, and the sum might be empty. By twisting the above equation by ϕ' , using the fact that tensoring and induction commute, and inducing everything to G, one has

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} \phi = \operatorname{Ind}_{HG^{i}}^{G} \phi' + \sum_{j} \operatorname{Ind}_{H_{j}}^{G} \phi'|_{H_{j}} \phi_{j}.$$

Thus, the theorem follows in this case that ϕ is trivial on $H \cap G^i$.

We remark that none of $\phi'|_{H_j}\phi_j$'s is trivial. If $\phi \neq 1_H$, then $(1_G, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi) = 0$, and thus 1_G does not occur. On the other hand, if $\phi = 1_H$, then Lemma 5.17 and Frobenius reciprocity imply that $(1_G, \operatorname{Ind}_{HG^i}^G \phi') = (1_G, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi) = 1$, and thus 1_G cannot occur in the summation in the above equation.

For the case that ϕ is non-trivial on $H \cap G^i$, Mackey's theorem (see, for example, [5, Sections 5.3 and 5.12]) and Frobenius reciprocity tell us that

$$((\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} \phi)|_{G^{i}}, 1_{G^{i}}) = \sum_{G^{i} \backslash G/H} (\operatorname{Ind}_{xHx^{-1} \cap G^{i}}^{G^{i}} \phi^{x}, 1_{G^{i}})$$

$$= \sum_{G^{i} \backslash G/H} (\phi^{x}, 1_{xHx^{-1} \cap G^{i}})$$

$$= \sum_{G^{i} \backslash G/H} (\phi, 1_{H \cap G^{i}})$$

$$= 0,$$

where for every $x \in G$, ϕ^x denotes the character of $xHx^{-1} \cap G^i$ given by $g \mapsto \phi(x^{-1}gx)$. Thus, $\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi$ contains no characters of level less than or equal to i, which means that $n(G,\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi) - \sum_{\chi \in S^i} (\chi,\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi) n(G,\chi) = n(G,\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi)$ in this case. Now the proposition follows from conditions AHC2 and AHC3.

Corollary 5.20. Let ϕ_0 be a 1-dimensional character of a subgroup H of G, and $S^i_{\phi_0}$ the set of irreducible characters of level i occurring in $\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi_0$. Then

$$\sum_{\chi \in S_{\phi_0}^i} (\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi_0) n(G, \chi) \ge 0.$$

Proof. If ϕ_0 is non-trivial on $H \cap G^i$, the last paragraph of the proof of Proposition

5.19 gives $(\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi_0) = 0$ for all $\chi \in S_{\phi_0}^i$, and the corollary follows immediately. Otherwise, ϕ_0 extends uniquely to a character ϕ of HG^i which is trivial on G^i . Then Proposition 5.19 (by replacing H and i by $H \cdot G^i$ and i-1, respectively) implies that

$$n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_{HG^i}^G \phi) - \sum_{\chi \in S^{i-1}} (\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_{HG^i}^G \phi) n(G, \chi) \ge 0.$$

By Lemma 5.17, the above difference is equal to

$$\sum_{\chi \in S^i} (\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi_0) n(G, \chi) - \sum_{\chi \in S^{i-1}} (\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi_0) n(G, \chi) = \sum_{\chi \in S^i_{\phi_0}} (\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi_0) n(G, \chi),$$

where S^j denotes the set of irreducible characters of G of level less than or equal to j. Hence, the corollary follows.

Although we are not able to prove an analogue of Theorem 4.2 in [39], we can instead prove the following weaker result conjectured by M. R. Murty and Raghuram in [49].

Theorem 5.21. For each $i \geq 1$,

$$\sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G) \setminus S^i} n(G, \chi)^2 \le (n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) - n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_{G^i}^G 1_{G^i}))^2,$$

where S^i denotes the set of irreducible characters of G of level less than or equal to i.

Proof. Again, we consider a truncated Heilbronn character with respect to S^i

$$\Theta_G^{S^i} = \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G) \backslash S^i} n(G, \chi) \chi.$$

Taking norms on both sides of the above equation, we get

$$\frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} |\Theta_G^{S^i}(g)|^2 = \sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G) \backslash S^i} n(G,\chi)^2.$$

Using the Heilbronn-Stark lemma, Lemma 5.7, one has

$$\begin{split} \Theta_G^{S^i}(g) &= \Theta_G(g) - \sum_{\chi \in S^i} n(G, \chi) \chi(g) \\ &= \Theta_{\langle g \rangle}(g) - \sum_{\chi \in S^i} n(G, \chi) \chi(g) \\ &= \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)} \left(n(\langle g \rangle, \phi) - \sum_{\chi \in S^i} n(G, \chi) (\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle g \rangle}^G \phi) \right) \phi(g). \end{split}$$

Applying Proposition 5.19 with $H = \langle g \rangle$, we then obtain

$$n(\langle g \rangle, \phi) - \sum_{\chi \in S^i} n(G, \chi)(\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle g \rangle}^G \phi) \ge 0.$$

Therefore, the triangle inequality and Frobenius reciprocity yield

$$\begin{aligned} |\Theta_G^{S^i}(g)| &\leq \sum_{\phi \in \operatorname{Irr}(\langle g \rangle)} \left(n(\langle g \rangle, \phi) - \sum_{\chi \in S^i} n(G, \chi)(\chi, \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle g \rangle}^G \phi) \right) \\ &= n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) - \sum_{\chi \in S^i} n(G, \chi)(\chi|_{\langle g \rangle}, \operatorname{Reg}_{\langle g \rangle}) \\ &= n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) - n \left(G, \sum_{\chi \in S^i} \chi(1)\chi \right). \end{aligned}$$

Using Lemma 5.10 with $H = \langle e_G \rangle$, we have

$$\operatorname{Reg}_G = \operatorname{Ind}_{G^i}^G 1_{G^i} + (*),$$

where (*) is a sum of monomial characters. Now $\operatorname{Ind}_{G^i}^G 1_{G^i}$ is exactly the sum of characters of G occurring in Reg_G which are trivial on G^i (or, equivalently, which have level less than or equal to i). This means that $\operatorname{Ind}_{G^i}^G 1_{G^i} = \sum_{\chi \in S^i} \chi(1)\chi$. Therefore, by conditions AHC1 to AHC3, we complete the proof.

By an analogous argument of the proof of Corollary 5.16, one can deduce the following corollary.

Corollary 5.22. Let G be a solvable group. Then $n(G, \operatorname{Reg}_G) - n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_{G^i}^G 1_{G^i})$ cannot be 1.

At the end of this section, we give an application of our arithmetic Heilbronn characters to Artin L-functions.

Proposition 5.23. Let Θ_G be an arithmetic Heilbronn character of a group G associated with integers $n(H, \phi)$. Let ρ be a character of G. Suppose that for every subgroup H of G, and 1-dimensional character ϕ of H, we have $n(H, \rho|_H \otimes \phi) \geq 0$. Then for any subgroup H of G, we have an arithmetic Heilbronn character defined by

$$\Theta'_H = \sum_{\phi \in Irr(H)} n'(H, \phi)\phi,$$

where $n'(H, \phi) = n(H, \rho|_H \otimes \phi)$. In particular, all properties we have shown for arithmetic Heilbronn characters also hold for Θ'_H .

Proof. The proof is similar to the proof of Proposition 5.6. By linearity of tensor product and the assumption of this theorem, it is easy to see that $n'(H, \phi)$'s satisfy conditions AHC1 and AHC3. Now since tensoring commutes with induction, by condition AHC2, we have

$$n'(H, \phi) = n(H, \rho|_H \otimes \phi)$$

$$= n(G, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G(\rho|_H \otimes \phi))$$

$$= n(G, \rho \otimes \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi)$$

$$= n'(G, \operatorname{Ind}_H^G \phi).$$

Therefore, the proposition follows.

Let K/k be a solvable Galois extension of number fields with Galois group G. A deep theorem of Langlands-Tunnell asserts that all two dimensional representations of subgroups of G are automorphic. As a consequence, for any two dimensional representation ρ of G and any abelian character ϕ of a subgroup H of G, the Artin L-function $L(s, \rho|_H \otimes \phi, K/K^H)$ is holomorphic at $s \neq 1$. Fix $s_0 \neq 1$ and set

$$n'(H, \phi) = \operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, \rho|_H \otimes \phi, K/K^H).$$

We recall that $n(H, \phi) = \operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, \phi, K/K^H)$ defines the classical Heilbronn character. Hence, the above theorem assures that these $n'(H, \phi)$'s give a new arithmetic Heilbronn character. In particular, we have the following variant of the Uchida-van der Waall theorem (cf. Theorem 3.2) and M. R. Murty-Raghuram's inequality [49].

Theorem 5.24. Let K/k be a solvable Galois extension of number fields with Galois group G, and let ρ be a two dimensional representation of G. Then for any subgroup

H of G, the quotient

$$\frac{L(s,\operatorname{Ind}_H^G\rho|_H,K/k)}{L(s,\rho,K/k)}$$

is holomorphic at $s \neq 1$. Moreover, for every 1-dimensional character χ_0 of G, one has

$$\sum_{\chi \in Irr(G) \setminus \{\chi_0\}} (\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, \rho \otimes \chi))^2 \le \left(\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} \left(\frac{\zeta_K^2(s)}{L(s, \rho \otimes \chi_0, K/k)}\right)\right)^2.$$

Proof. By Proposition 5.23, this theorem follows immediately from Corollary 5.12 and Theorem 5.13 and the identity

$$\rho \otimes \operatorname{Reg}_G = \rho \otimes \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle e_G \rangle}^G \mathbf{1}_{\langle e_G \rangle} = \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle e_G \rangle}^G \rho|_{\langle e_G \rangle} = 2 \operatorname{Ind}_{\langle e_G \rangle}^G \mathbf{1}_{\langle e_G \rangle} = 2 \operatorname{Reg}_G.$$

5.3 Applications to Artin-Hecke L-Functions and CM-Elliptic Curves

To avoid the situation that this chapter becomes a loyal servant of Nicolas Bourbaki, we shall apply our theory of arithmetic Heilbronn characters to study Artin-Hecke L-functions and L-functions of CM-elliptic curves. The central idea is due to M. R. Murty and V. K. Murty in [46] by setting $n(G,\chi)$ being equal to the orders of certain Artin-Hecke L-functions to establish an elliptic analogue of the Uchida-van der Waall theorem. As we will see, this brilliant idea will allow us to obtain several analytic properties of Artin-Hecke L-functions and L-functions of CM-elliptic curves. In particular, we derive the non-existence of simple zeros for the quotients of suitable L-functions of CM-elliptic curves.

First of all, we consider a (non-trivial) Hecke character ψ of infinite type of k, and fix a point $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}$. We may set $n^{\psi}(H,\phi) = \operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s,\psi \circ N_{K^H/k} \otimes \phi, K/K^H)$ for every character ϕ of any subgroup H of G. Using Lemma 3.11, it is easy to see that such $n^{\psi}(H,\phi)$'s define an arithmetic Heilbronn character. Moreover, by "linearity" of tensor product, for any Hecke characters ψ_1 and ψ_2 of infinite type of k, the integers $n^{\psi_1,\psi_2}(H,\phi) = n^{\psi_1}(H,\phi) + n^{\psi_2}(H,\phi)$ also give an arithmetic Heilbronn character.

We recall that, as discussed in Section 3.1.6, every L-function of a CM-elliptic curve can be written in terms of Hecke L-functions. Now fix $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}$ and suppose that K/k is a Galois extension of number fields with Galois group G. Let $L(s, E, K^H)$ be the L-function of E/K^H , which is either a single Hecke L-function or a product of two Hecke L-functions of K^H . Following the proof of Theorem 1 in [46], for each subgroup H of G and complex character ϕ of H, let $n(H,\phi)$ be the order of the L-function $L(s,\phi,E,K^H)$ at $s=s_0$, where $L(s,\phi,E,K^H)$ is the twist of $L(s,E,K^H)$ by ϕ (in particular, it is either a single Artin-Hecke L-function or a product of two Artin-Hecke L-functions). According to the conclusion of our previous discussion of Artin-Hecke L-functions, such integers $n(H,\phi)$ define an arithmetic Heilbronn character, and we hence can use the theory developed in the previous sections to these integers.

We do not intend to state all theorems and corollaries we can get but just mention two results. First of all, we have the following theorem that generalises M. R. Murty and V. K. Murty's elliptic analogue of the Uchida-van der Waall theorem (cf. [46]). Also, this theorem gives an elliptic analogue of M. R. Murty-Raghuram's inequality.

Theorem 5.25. Suppose K/k is a solvable Galois extension with Galois group G, and let H be a subgroup of G. Let E be an elliptic curve over k and let χ and ϕ be

1-dimensional characters of G and H, respectively. Then

$$\frac{L(s, \operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} \phi, E, k)}{L(s, \chi, E, k)^{(\chi|_{H}, \phi)}}$$

is entire. In addition, for every 1-dimensional character χ_0 of G, one has

$$\sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G) \setminus \{\chi_0\}} (\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, \chi, E, k))^2 \le \left(\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} \left(\frac{L(s, E, K)}{L(s, \chi_0, E, k)} \right) \right)^2.$$

Moreover, we have an interesting result for L-functions of CM-elliptic curves below by applying Corollary 5.22.

Proposition 5.26. Suppose K/k is a solvable Galois extension with Galois group G. Then for all $i \geq 1$,

$$\frac{L(s, E, K)}{L(s, E, K^{G^i})}$$

cannot have any simple zero, where $G^0 = G$, $G^i = [G^{i-1}, G^{i-1}]$ for $i \ge 1$, K^{G^i} is the fixed field of G^i , and $L(s, E, K^{G^i})$ is the L-function of E/K^{G^i} .

Remark 5.27. Note that as K^{G^i} is a subfield of K, it is clear that the group $E(K^{G^i})$ of K^{G^i} -rational points of E is a subgroup of E(K). In other words, the algebraic rank of E/K^{G^i} is smaller than the algebraic rank of E/K. The above result then tells us that under the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer conjecture, the difference between the algebraic ranks of E/K and E/K^{G^i} cannot be one, which is not obvious by only considering K^{G^i} as a subfield of K. It might be interesting to find a heuristic reason (or even a theoretic proof) to explain this phenomenon.

5.4 Applications to Automorphic L-Functions and Elliptic Curves without CM

In this section, we will follow the path enlightened by [46] to demonstrate how arithmetic Heilbronn characters play a role in studying automorphic L-functions. First of all, in light of [46, Proof of Theorem 2], we prove the following lemma that allows us to construct arithmetic Heilbronn characters later.

Lemma 5.28. Let K/k be a Galois extension of number fields with Galois group G, ρ a representation of G, and $n \geq 2$. Suppose that π is a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_n(\mathbb{A}_k)$ such that for every intermediate field M of K/k with K/M solvable, $\pi|_M$ is automorphic (over M). Then the Rankin-Selberg L-function $L(s, \pi \otimes \rho)$ extends to a meromorphic function of s.

Proof. By the Brauer induction theorem, one can write

$$\operatorname{tr} \rho = \sum_{i} m_{i} \operatorname{Ind}_{H_{i}}^{G} \chi_{i},$$

where $m_i \in \mathbb{Z}$, χ_i is an abelian character of an elementary subgroup H_i of G, which is nilpotent. By Artin reciprocity, for each i, χ_i corresponds to a cuspidal automorphic representation of $GL_1(\mathbb{A}_{K^{H_i}})$. Since each H_i is nilpotent, H_i is solvable, and so $\pi|_{K^{H_i}}$ is automorphic. Now the Rankin-Selberg theory ensures that every $L(s, \pi|_{K^{H_i}} \otimes \chi_i)$ extends to an entire function. Thus, $L(s, \pi \otimes \rho)$ extends to a meromorphic function over \mathbb{C} .

We first note that if the Langlands reciprocity conjecture holds for K/k, then the automorphy assumption on $\pi|_M$ can be easily removed by just applying the theory of

Rankin-Selberg L-functions. On the other hand, if one knows how to associate Galois representations to π and its "descents", then one can apply Arthur-Clozel's theory of base change to derive the desired automorphy result. In particular, if K/k is a totally real solvable extension and π is a "RAESDC" (regular algebraic essentially self-dual cuspidal) automorphic representation, then by the work of Taylor and his school, the extra automorphy assumption in the above lemma can be dropped (for more details and references, see Section 3.3.5).

Under the above assumption and notation, we now further assume that K/k is totally real and solvable. We let H be a subgroup of G and ϕ a character of H, and fix $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}$. We define $n(H,\phi)$ to be the order of the Rankin-Selberg L-function $L(s,\pi|_{K^H}\otimes\phi)$ at $s=s_0$. Since K/K^H is still a solvable Galois extension, by Lemmata 3.22 and 5.28, we know that $n(H,\phi)$'s define an arithmetic Heilbronn character. Again, we do not intend to restate all results established in the previous section but just mention two of them.

First of all, applying Proposition 5.11, we obtain the following theorem that can be seen as an analogue of M. R. Murty and Raghuram's variant of the Uchida-van der Waall theorem.

Theorem 5.29. Under the assumption and notation as above. Let χ and ϕ be 1-dimensional characters of G and H respectively. Then the quotient

$$\frac{L(s,\pi|_H\otimes\phi)}{L(s,\pi\otimes\chi)^{(\chi|_H,\phi)}}$$

is entire. Moreover, for every 1-dimensional character χ_0 of G, one has

$$\sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G) \setminus \{\chi_0\}} (\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, \pi \otimes \chi))^2 \le \left(\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} \left(\frac{L(s, B(\pi))}{L(s, \pi \otimes \chi_0)}\right)\right)^2,$$

where $B(\pi)$ is the base change of π to K.

In fact, this also generalises [46, Theorem 4] that asserts that $L(s, \pi|_H)/L(s, \pi)$ is entire. On the other hand, one can use Corollary 5.22 to get the following.

Proposition 5.30. Under the assumption and notation as above. Then for all $i \geq 1$,

$$\frac{L(s,B(\pi))}{L(s,B^i(\pi))}$$

cannot have any simple zero where $G^0 = G$, G^i denotes $[G^{i-1}, G^{i-1}]$ for all $i \geq 1$, K^{G^i} is the fixed field of G^i , $B(\pi)$ is the base change of π to K, and $B^i(\pi)$ is the base change of π to K^{G^i} , the fixed field of G^i .

We note that the existence of $B^i(\pi)$ in the above theorem is due to the Arthur-Clozel theorem and the fact that each G^i is normal in G. We remark that our results also have other arithmetic applications. For instance, as mentioned in [46], the zeta function of any CM abelian variety over an arbitrary number field is given in terms of Hecke L-functions, and the Jacobian of a modular curve has the zeta function that is equal to a product of L-functions attached to modular forms by a theorem of Shimura. In both instances, one may obtain appropriate generalisation by setting integers equal to the orders of suitable L-functions (at $s = s_0 \in \mathbb{C}$) to define an arithmetic Heilbronn character.

At the end of this section, we shall apply the previous results to symmetric power

L-functions. Suppose that M/k is an extension of number fields contained in a totally real solvable Galois extension K/k with $G = \operatorname{Gal}(K/k)$. We denote H_M to be the subgroup of G such that $K^{H_M} = M$. Let E be a non-CM elliptic curve defined over k. As discussed in Section 3.1.4, for every intermediate field F of K/k, let $\rho_F = \rho_{E,F}$ denote a compatible system of ℓ -adic representations attached to E over F, i.e., for each prime ℓ ,

$$\rho_F := \rho_{\ell,F} : \operatorname{Gal}(\overline{k}/F) \to \operatorname{Aut}(T_{\ell}(E,F)),$$

where $T_{\ell}(E,F)$ denotes (ℓ -adic) Tate module of E/F. Moreover, we have

$$L(s, \operatorname{Sym}^{m} \rho_{F}) = L(s, \operatorname{Sym}^{m} \rho_{k} \otimes \operatorname{Ind}_{H_{F}}^{G} 1), \tag{5.2}$$

where H_F is a subgroup of G such that $K^{H_F} = F$. Assuming the m-th symmetric power of ρ_k is automorphic, Lemma 5.28 implies that for every character χ of G, the Rankin-Selberg L-function

$$L(s, \operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k \otimes \chi)$$

extends to a meromorphic function over \mathbb{C} .

Now fix $s = s_0 \in \mathbb{C}$, and for every character ϕ , define $n(H, \phi)$ to be the order of the L-function

$$L(s, (\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_{K^H} \otimes \phi)$$

at $s = s_0$, where $(\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_{K^H}$ is obtained in the same manner as in the proof of Theorem 3.24 (we note that Arthur-Clozel's theory of base change asserts that $(\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_{K}$ is automorphic). Therefore, $n(H, \phi)$'s define an arithmetic Heilbronn character. As a consequence, we have the following elliptic analogue of the Uchidavan der Waall theorem that generalises [46, Theorem 2].

Proposition 5.31. Under the assumption and notation as above. Let χ and ϕ be 1-dimensional representations of G and H, respectively. Then

$$\frac{L(s, \operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_{K^H} \otimes \phi)}{L(s, \operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k \otimes \chi)^{(\chi|_H, \phi)}}$$

is entire. Moreover, by equation (3.3), for every intermediate field F of K/k,

$$\frac{L(s, \operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_F)}{L(s, \operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)}$$

is entire.

On the other hand, Proposition 5.30 and equation (3.3) give below an interesting result.

Proposition 5.32. Under the assumption and notation as above. Then for all $i \geq 1$,

$$\frac{L(s,\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_K)}{L(s,\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_{K^{G^i}})}$$

cannot admit any simple zero. In particular,

$$\frac{L(s, E, K)}{L(s, E, K^{G^i})}$$

has no simple zeros, where for any intermediate field F of K/k, L(s, E, F) denotes the L-function of E/F.

Also, we have an elliptic analogue of M. R. Murty-Raghuram's inequality.

Theorem 5.33. Under the assumption and notation as above. Suppose K/k is a totally real solvable Galois extension with Galois group G. Then for every 1-dimensional character χ_0 of G, one has

$$\sum_{\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G) \setminus \{\chi_0\}} (\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, \operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k \otimes \chi))^2 \leq \left(\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} \left(\frac{L(s, \operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_K)}{L(s, \operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k \otimes \chi_0)} \right) \right)^2.$$

5.5 An Application of Weak Heilbronn Characters

As one can see, arithmetic Heilbronn characters indeed play a role which helps us to obtain analytic properties of L-functions. Meanwhile, one may wonder if we really need the notion of weak arithmetic Heilbronn characters, which seems impractical and unnecessary. Thanks to the recent groundbreaking work of Taylor and his school (cf. Section 3.3.5), this wonder may not be an issue. As we will demonstrate, it is possible to utilise all the results of *potential automorphy* and our weak arithmetic Heilbronn characters to study L-functions. However, for the sake of conceptual clarity, we shall only use Taylor's potential automorphy result here.

We again recall that Taylor's main theorem is: let k be a totally real field and E/k a non-CM elliptic curve. Then for any finite set S of natural numbers, there is a (finite) totally real Galois extension L/k such that for every $m \in S$, $\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k$ is automorphic over L, i.e., $(\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_L$ is automorphic.

As before, we fix a finite set S of natural numbers and let L be a (finite) totally real Galois extension L/k such that for every $m \in S$, $\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k$ is automorphic over L, which is given by Taylor's theorem. We recall another key aspect in the proof of the Sato-Tate conjecture (cf. Theorem 3.24):

For any intermediate field F of L/k with L/F solvable, $(\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_F$ is automorphic.

5.5. AN APPLICATION OF WEAK HEILBRONN CHARACTERS 101

We first note that since every irreducible character ϕ of a cyclic subgroup H of $G = \operatorname{Gal}(L/k)$ can be identified as an automorphic representation of $GL_1(\mathbb{A}_{L^H})$ via Artin reciprocity, the above theorem and the Rankin-Selberg theory yield

$$L(s, (\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_{L^H} \otimes \phi)$$

is entire.

In light of the method developed by Taylor et al., one can show the following.

Proposition 5.34. For every character χ of $G = \operatorname{Gal}(L/k)$, $L(s, (\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k) \otimes \chi)$ extends to a meromorphic function over \mathbb{C} .

Proof. As usual, the Brauer induction theorem asserts

$$\chi = \sum_{i} n_i \operatorname{Ind}_{H_i}^G \phi_i,$$

where for each i, n_i is an integer, and ϕ_i is a 1-dimensional character of a nilpotent subgroup H_i of G. According to Artin reciprocity, ϕ_i can be seen as a Hecke character over L^{H_i} . Putting everything together, one has

$$L(s, (\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k) \otimes \chi) = \prod_i L(s, (\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_{L^{H_i}} \otimes \phi_i)^{n_i},$$

where $\phi_i \in \mathfrak{A}(GL_1(\mathbb{A}_{L^{H_i}}))$. By Theorem 3.24, $(\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_{L^{H_i}}$ is automorphic over L^{H_i} . Now the Rankin-Selberg theory tells us that each $L(s, (\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_{L^{H_i}} \otimes \phi_i)$ is entire, which completes the proof.

5.5. AN APPLICATION OF WEAK HEILBRONN CHARACTERS 102

Therefore, for H cyclic or H = G, fixing $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}$ and setting

$$n(H, \phi) = \operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, (\operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_k)|_{L^H} \otimes \phi),$$

the above discussion yields that $n(H, \phi)$'s define a weak arithmetic Heilbronn character. In particular, by Theorem 5.3, we then deduce:

Theorem 5.35.

$$\sum_{\chi \in Irr(G)} n(G, \chi)^2 \le (\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, \operatorname{Sym}^m \rho_L))^2.$$

In particular, (if we choose S containing 1 in the very beginning)

$$|\operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, \rho_k)| \le \operatorname{ord}_{s=s_0} L(s, \rho_L).$$

We remark that the last inequality of analytic ranks is as predicted by the *Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer conjecture* for $s_0 = 1$ (cf. Remark 5.27).

Chapter 6

Conjectures of Artin and Langlands

6.1 Nearly Supersolvable Groups and Nearly Monomial Groups

As a consequence of $Artin\ reciprocity$, Artin's conjecture is true for any Galois extension of number fields whose Galois group is a $nilpotent\ group$, a $supersolvable\ group$, or an M-group. These classes of groups became an area of interest in their own right. For instance, Taketa's theorem [63] asserts that (finite) M-groups are necessarily $solvable\ (cf.\ [5, Section\ 5.10])$. Besides, it is also possible to generalise Taketa's theorem (see, for example, [5, Theorem 14.58]) to groups all of whose irreducible characters are induced from n-dimensional characters with $n \leq 2$. We will call these groups $nearly\ monomial\ groups\ (or\ NM$ -groups for short).

Thanks to the works of Artin, Langlands, and Tunnell as well as the generalisation of Taketa's theorem as mentioned earlier, Artin's conjecture holds for every Galois extension of number fields whose Galois group is an NM-group. Undoubtedly, it is desired to classify the class of NM-groups not only for the purely group-theoretic interest but also for the purpose of studying L-functions.

By a result of Huppert (Proposition 2.4), if a group G admits an abelian normal

subgroup N such that G/N is supersolvable, then G is an M-group. In light of this, we will introduce the notion of nearly supersolvable groups and discuss some properties of these groups. In fact, one goal of this section is showing that nearly supersolvable groups belong to the class of NM-groups. Now we shall start by defining nearly supersolvable groups.

Definition 6.1. A finite group G is said to be nearly supersolvable (or NSS for short) if it has an invariant series of subgroups

$$1 = N_0 \leq N_1 \leq \cdots \leq N_{k-1} \leq N_k = G$$

where each subgroup is normal in G, the quotient N_{i+1}/N_i is cyclic for every $i \geq 1$, and N_1 belongs to the class C consisting of groups whose irreducible representations are of dimension less than or equal to 2.

We note that the class \mathcal{C} was classified by Amitsur (cf. [1, Theorem 3]).

Proposition 6.1. Let G be a finite group. Then all irreducible characters of G are of degree 1 or 2 if and only if either

- 1. G is abelian,
- **2.** G has an abelian subgroup of index 2, or
- **3.** $G/\mathbf{Z}(G)$ is an abelian 2-group of order 8.

This result has been generalised by Isaacs that if G is a group with $|\operatorname{cd}(G)| \leq 3$, where $\operatorname{cd}(G) = \{\chi(1) \mid \chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)\}$, then G must be solvable (cf. Theorem 2.11). Thus, by the results of Amitsur and Isaacs, all groups belonging to \mathcal{C} are necessarily

solvable. Therefore, nearly supersolvable groups are indeed *solvable*. On the other hand, it is clear that all supersolvable groups are nearly supersolvable. In fact, we will see that nearly supersolvable groups behave exactly like supersolvable groups. To state and prove this formally, we first recall below a lemma that assures that the class \mathcal{C} is "closed" (cf. [51, Chapter 6, Lemma 1.3]).

Lemma 6.2. Let G be a finite group. Suppose that all irreducible representations of G are of dimension 1 or 2. Assume that H is either a subgroup or a homomorphic image of G. Then every irreducible representation of H is of dimension 1 or 2.

From this lemma, we can show that the class of NSS-groups is also "closed" as the following.

Proposition 6.3.

- 1. Every subgroup of an NSS-group is NSS.
- 2. Every homomorphic image of an NSS-group is NSS. In particular, every quotient group of an NSS-group is NSS.

Proof. Let G be a nearly supersolvable group with an invariant series of subgroups

$$1 = N_0 \triangleleft N_1 \triangleleft \cdots \triangleleft N_{k-1} \triangleleft N_k = G$$

where each subgroup is normal in G, the quotient N_{i+1}/N_i is cyclic for every $i \geq 1$, and N_1 belongs to the class C. Then for any subgroup H of G,

$$1 = H \cap N_0 \leq H \cap N_1 \leq \cdots \leq H \cap N_{k-1} \leq H \cap N_k = H$$

is an invariant series of H in which each quotient $(H \cap N_i)/(H \cap N_{i-1})$ is isomorphic to the subgroup $(H \cap N_i)N_{i-1}/N_{i-1}$ of N_i/N_{i-1} .

On the other hand, let $\phi: G \to H$ be a surjective homomorphism, then

$$1 = \phi(N_0) \le \phi(N_1) \le \dots \le \phi(N_{k-1}) \le \phi(N_k) = H$$

is an invariant series of H. Moreover, for each i, $\phi(N_i)/\phi(N_{i-1})$ is a homomorphic image of the quotient group N_i/N_{i-1} . Now Lemma 6.2 implies that H is NSS whenever H is a subgroup or a homomorphic image of G.

Like supersolvable groups, it is false in general that if both N and G/N are nearly supersolvable, then G is a nearly supersolvable group. However, we have the following weak substitute.

Lemma 6.4. Let G be a group and N its normal subgroup. If N belongs to the class C, and G/N is supersolvable, then G is nearly supersolvable.

Proof. By lifting an invariant series of G/N to G, we have

$$N = N_0 \leq N_1 \leq \cdots \leq N_{k-1} \leq N_k = G$$

where each subgroup is normal in G and every quotient N_{i+1}/N_i is cyclic. Since $N \in \mathcal{C}$, extending the above invariant series to the trivial subgroup completes the proof.

Now we can state and prove our main theorem for this section.

Theorem 6.5. All nearly supersolvable groups are NM-groups.

Proof. According to the definition, for any nearly supersolvable group G, there is an invariant series of subgroups

where each subgroup is normal in G, the quotient N_{i+1}/N_i is cyclic for every $i \geq 1$, and N_1 belongs to the class C consisting of groups whose irreducible representations are of dimension less than or equal to 2. Quotienting the above invariant series by N_1 then gives

$$\langle \overline{e} \rangle = \overline{N_1} \trianglelefteq \overline{N_2} \trianglelefteq \cdots \trianglelefteq \overline{N_k} = G/N_1,$$

where for each $i \geq 1$, $\overline{N_i} = N_i/N_1$. According to the third isomorphism theorem, each $\overline{N_{i+1}}/\overline{N_i}$ is isomorphic to N_{i+1}/N_i , which is cyclic. In other words, G/N_1 is supersolvable. Now by applying Theorem 2.3, G is a relative M-group with respect to N_1 . As all irreducible characters of N_1 are of degree ≤ 2 , we conclude that G is an NM-group.

We recall below a result (cf. [71, pp. 6]) that gives sufficient conditions for groups being supersolvable, which will enable one to obtain some examples of NSS-groups.

Lemma 6.6.

- **1.** If $|G| = qp^n$ and q|(p-1), then G is supersolvable. In particular, if $|G| = 2p^n$, then G is supersolvable.
- **2.** Suppose that $q^2|(p-1)$ and $|G|=q^2p^n$. Then G is supersolvable. In particular, if $|G|=4p^n$ with 4|(p-1), then G is supersolvable.

By Proposition 6.1, a moment's reflection shows that all irreducible characters of any group of order 2p or $2p^2$ are of degree ≤ 2 . Thus, one has

Corollary 6.7. Let p be a prime. If $|G| = 4p^n$, and G admits a normal subgroup of order 2, 4, 2p, or $2p^2$. Then G is NSS. If $|G| = 8p^n$, and G has a normal subgroup of order 4 or 8, then G is NSS. Moreover, if $|G| = 8p^n$ with 4|(p-1), and G admits a normal subgroup of order 2, 2p, or $2p^2$, then G is NSS.

To end this section, we give below a sufficient condition for groups of derived length ≤ 3 being NSS-groups.

Proposition 6.8. Suppose that G has derived length ≤ 3 . If G'/G'' is cyclic, then G is an NSS-group.

Proof. Quotienting the derived series of G by G'' gives

$$1 \leq G'/G'' \leq G/G''$$
.

Since G/G' is abelian, the third isomorphism theorem yields that the quotient

is also abelian. As G'/G'' is cyclic, one can conclude that G/G'' is supersolvable. Moreover, since G'' is abelian, Lemma 6.4 asserts that G is NSS.

6.2 Nearly Nilpotent Groups

As discussed in Section 3.3, Arthur and Clozel showed that all Galois representations with *nilpotent* image are automorphic via Artin reciprocity, their theory of automorphic induction, and the fact that all subgroups of a nilpotent group are subnormal. From this, one may ask for a classification of *subnormally monomial groups*, the groups all of whose irreducible characters are induced from 1-dimensional characters of subnormal subgroups.

We, however, note that due to the Langlands-Tunnell theorem, the theory of Arthur and Clozel indeed implies that all Artin L-functions attached to characters induced from 2-dimensional characters of subnormal groups are automorphic under a certain solvability condition. In light of this, we are interested in the classification of subnormally NM-groups, which leads us to consider nearly nilpotent groups as follows.

Definition 6.2. A finite group G is called nearly nilpotent if it has a normal subgroup $N \in \mathcal{C}$ such that G/N is nilpotent, where \mathcal{C} denotes the class consisting of groups whose irreducible representations are of dimension less than or equal to 2.

Since all subgroups and homomorphic images of a nilpotent group are nilpotent, a moment's thought shows that all subgroups and homomorphic images of any nearly nilpotent group are nearly nilpotent. Also, as all nilpotent groups are supersolvable, all NN-groups form a "closed" subclass of the class of NSS-groups. In particular, all NN-groups are *solvable*.

Now let us consider a direct product $G = G_1 \times G_2$, where G_1 and G_2 are NM-groups. Note that for every irreducible character χ of G, there exist irreducible characters χ_1 and χ_2 of G_1 and G_2 , respectively, such that $\chi = \chi_1 \times \chi_2$. Since both

 G_1 and G_2 are NM-groups, for each i, there exists a subgroup H_i of G_i with an irreducible character $\psi_i \in \operatorname{Irr}(H_i)$ of degree ≤ 2 such that $\chi_i = \operatorname{Ind}_{H_i}^{G_i} \psi_i$. Thus,

$$\chi = \operatorname{Ind}_{H_1 \times H_2}^{G_1 \times G_2} (\psi_1 \times \psi_2).$$

However, now one can see that χ might not be induced from an irreducible character of degree ≤ 2 . As a consequence, we cannot apply the Langlands-Tunnell theorem to deduce Artin's conjecture directly. But as each ψ_i is still of automorphic type (thanks to Artin reciprocity and the Langlands-Tunnell theorem), if we invoke the functoriality of $GL(n) \times GL(1)$ and $GL(2) \times GL(2)$ (cf. Section 3.3.3), then we are able to derive the automorphy of $\psi_1 \times \psi_2$. Thus, we have the following.

Proposition 6.9. If K/k is a Galois extension of number fields whose Galois group is a direct product of two NM-groups, then Artin's conjecture is true for K/k.

Moreover, by applying the Rankin-Selberg theory developed by Jacquet-Piatetski-Shapiro-Shalika, the above discussion then further yields:

Proposition 6.10. If K/k is a Galois extension whose Galois group is a direct product of three (or four) NM-groups, then Artin's conjecture is true for K/k.

In a slightly different vein, since any finite direct product of nilpotent groups is nilpotent, the Arthur-Clozel theory implies that the principle of functoriality is valid in this case. Naturally, one may want to find some "non-nilpotent" examples. Unfortunately, unlike nilpotent groups, the direct product of two nearly nilpotent groups might not be nearly nilpotent. In fact, by the previous discussion, one even cannot expect this would be an NM-group. Nevertheless, we have the following result.

Proposition 6.11. If G_1 is a nearly nilpotent group and G_2 is an abelian-by-nilpotent group, i.e., G_2 admits an abelian normal subgroup N_2 with G_2/N_2 nilpotent, then $G_1 \times G_2$ is a nearly nilpotent group and so is of automorphic type.

Proof. Since G_1 is a nearly nilpotent group, there is a normal subgroup N_1 of G_1 belonging to \mathcal{C} such that G_1/N_1 is nilpotent. On the other hand, G_2 has an abelian normal subgroup N_2 such that G_2/N_2 is nilpotent. Thus, we have an invariant series

$$1 \leq N_1 \times N_2 \leq G_1 \times G_2.$$

Since $(G_1 \times G_2)/(N_1 \times N_2) \simeq (G_1/N_1) \times (G_2/N_2)$, which is a direct product of nilpotent groups, $(G_1 \times G_2)/(N_1 \times N_2)$ is nilpotent. Moreover, as all irreducible characters of $N_1 \times N_2$ are clearly of degree ≤ 2 , $N_1 \times N_2 \in \mathcal{C}$. Thus, $G_1 \times G_2$ is nearly nilpotent. \square

In addition, by invoking Ramakrishnan's functoriality of $GL(2) \times GL(2)$, one can show the direct product of two nearly nilpotent groups is still of automorphic type.

Theorem 6.12. If G_1 and G_2 are nearly nilpotent, then $G_1 \times G_2$ is of automorphic type.

Proof. Assume that K/k is a Galois extension of number fields with Galois group $G_1 \times G_2$. Since both G_1 and G_2 are nearly nilpotent, for each i, there exists $N_i \in \mathcal{C}$ such that G_i/N_i is nilpotent. Now Theorem 2.5 asserts that G_i is a relative SM-group with respect to N_i . As discussed above, for each irreducible character χ of $G_1 \times G_2$, there are irreducible characters χ_1 and χ_2 of G_1 and G_2 , respectively, such that

$$\chi = \chi_1 \times \chi_2$$
.

Also, for each i, there exist a subnormal subgroup H_i (containing N_i) of G_i and an irreducible character $\psi_i \in \operatorname{Irr}(H_i)$ such that $\chi_i = \operatorname{Ind}_{H_i}^{G_i} \psi_i$ and $\psi_i|_{N_i} \in \operatorname{Irr}(N_i)$. Thus,

$$\chi = \operatorname{Ind}_{H_1 \times H_2}^{G_1 \times G_2} (\psi_1 \times \psi_2).$$

On the one hand, as ψ_1 and ψ_2 are of degree ≤ 2 , Artin reciprocity and Langlands-Tunnell's theorem assert that for each i, (by regrading ψ_i as an irreducible character of $H_1 \times H_2$) ψ_i corresponds to a cuspidal automorphic representation of dimension $\psi_i(1)$ over $K^{H_1 \times H_2}$. Thus, the functoriality of $GL(n) \times GL(1)$ and $GL(2) \times GL(2)$ implies that $\psi_1 \times \psi_2$ corresponds to a cuspidal automorphic representation (of dimension $\psi_1(1)\psi_2(1)$) over $K^{H_1 \times H_2}$. Note that as $H_1 \times H_2$ is subnormal in $G_1 \times H_2$, and $G_1 \times H_2$ is subnormal in $G_1 \times G_2$, we can conclude that $H_1 \times H_2$ is subnormal in $G_1 \times G_2$. Putting everything together, the above-mentioned theorems of Arthur-Clozel and Jacquet-Shalika yield that χ is cuspidal.

We now give some sufficient conditions for solvable groups to be of automorphic type. First of all, as any nilpotent group is isomorphic to a direct product of its Sylow subgroups and the derived subgroup of any supersolvable group is nilpotent, we have the following corollary.

Corollary 6.13. If G is a supersolvable group of order $2^n p_1^{n_1} \cdots p_k^{n_k}$ with $n_i \leq 2$ and $n \leq 4$, then G is of automorphic type.

Also, since all *Z-groups*, the groups whose all Sylow subgroups are cyclic, are supersolvable, a moment's reflection shows:

Corollary 6.14. All Z-groups are of automorphic type. In particular, all groups of square-free order are of automorphic type.

This section will close with below a semi-numerical result, which in particular, presents a simple proof for Cho and Kim's automorphy results of A_4 , S_4 , and $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_3)$.

Corollary 6.15. Let p and q be distinct primes. If G is of order pq, p^2q , or p^2q^2 , then G is of automorphic type.

Proof. By the Sylow theorems, G must have a normal Sylow subgroup N (see, for example, [27, Theorems 1.30 and 1.31] and [61, 6.5.2]). Note that N is abelian, and that G/N is either a p-group or a q-group. Now the claim follows from Theorem 6.12 immediately.

6.3 S-Accessible Characters

In light of the work of Arthur-Clozel on accessible characters, we prove the following.

Proposition 6.16 (à la Arthur et Clozel). Assume G is solvable and χ is irreducible. If χ is an integral sum of characters induced from irreducible characters, which are of automorphic type, of subnormal subgroups of G, then Langlands reciprocity holds for χ .

Proof. As discussed in Section 3.3.4, all characters induced from irreducible characters, which are of automorphic type, of subnormal subgroups of G must be of automorphic type. Hence, χ corresponds to a (formal) integral sum of cuspidal automorphic representations. Thus, we can write

$$L(s, \chi, K/k) = \prod_{i} L(s, \pi_i)^{n_i},$$

where for each i, n_i is an integer, and $\{\pi_i\}_i$ is a finite set of distinct cuspidal automorphic representations (over k) such that $\pi_i \simeq \pi_j$ only if i = j.

As in [2], one can utilise Jacquet-Shalika's result, [33, Theorem 4.7], to complete the proof. However, for the sake of completeness, we sketch their argument as follows. By applying the theory of Rankin-Selberg convolutions and looking at the order of pole at s = 1 of $L(s, \chi \otimes \overline{\chi}, K/k)$, one has

$$1 = \sum_{i} n_i^2.$$

Since n_i 's are integers, one can easily deduce that $|n_1| = 1$ (say) and $n_i = 0$ for any $i \neq 1$. Finally, if $n_1 = -1$, the Artin L-function would have "trivial poles" at some negative integers, which is impossible.

Let S be a finite set of natural numbers. An irreducible character χ of G is called S-accessible if χ is an integral combination of characters induced from irreducible characters ψ_i of subnormal subgroups of G, where each $\psi_i(1)$ belongs to S. Moreover, a group is called S-accessible if all its irreducible characters are. For example, $\{1\}$ -accessible characters (resp., groups) are exactly accessible characters (resp., groups) introduced by Arthur and Clozel, and nilpotent groups are $\{1\}$ -accessible. Indeed, the author learned the above argument from Arthur and Clozel who showed all solvable accessible groups are of automorphic type and derived Langlands reciprocity for all nilpotent extensions. We now present below a generalisation of Arthur-Clozel's result.

Corollary 6.17. Suppose G is solvable. If χ is a $\{1,2\}$ -accessible character of G, then Langlands reciprocity holds for χ . Also, if |G| is not divisible by 36 and χ is a $\{1,2,3\}$ -accessible character of G, then Langlands reciprocity holds for χ .

Proof. It suffices to show that any irreducible character ψ , with $\psi(1) \leq 3$, of any subgroup of G is of automorphic type. As all subgroups of G are solvable, if $\psi(1) \leq 2$,

the assertion follows from the Artin-Langlands-Tunnell theorem. So we may assume $\psi(1) = 3$. Since 36 does not divide the order of any subgroup of G, Lemma 2.12 tells us that ψ must be monomial and hence of automorphic type.

We note that all nearly nilpotent groups are solvable and $\{1,2\}$ -accessible. Thus, Langlands reciprocity holds for all nearly nilpotent extensions. However, all irreducible characters of a nearly nilpotent group are in fact induced from irreducible characters of degree at most 2 (cf. Theorem 2.3). As remarked in [2], Dade [14] has shown that if G is solvable, then $\{1\}$ -accessible characters are monomial. It would be interesting to investigate whether a similar result holds or not. For example, are $\{1,2\}$ -accessible characters of a solvable group G all induced from irreducible characters of degree at most 2? We have no clue about this question; and instead of trying to answer this question, we will give a family of $\{1,2,3\}$ -accessible groups in the next section.

6.4 Variants of Nearly Nilpotent and Nearly Supersolvable Groups

As before, K/k denotes a Galois extension of number fields with Galois group G. We first give below a result which presents a partial generalisation of the above-mentioned automorphy result of nearly nilpotent groups.

Theorem 6.18. Suppose that $36 \nmid |G|$, and that G admits a normal subgroup N with G/N supersolvable and $cd(N) \subseteq \{1,2,3\}$. Then the Artin conjecture is true for K/k. Moreover, if G/N is nilpotent, then G is of automorphic type.

Proof. We first note that Theorem 2.11 asserts that N is solvable, and so is G. According to Theorem 2.3, every irreducible character χ of G is induced from an

irreducible character ψ of degree at most 3 of a subgroup H of G. If $\psi(1) \leq 2$, ψ is automorphic by the Artin-Langlands-Tunnell theorem. On the other hand, for $\psi(1) = 3$, Lemma 2.12 tells us that ψ must be monomial as |H| is not divisible by 36. Thus, ψ is automorphic (over K^H). From this and the induction invariance property of Artin L-functions, Artin's conjecture follows.

Assume, further, that G/N is nilpotent. Then Theorem 2.5 enables us to choose H being subnormal in G. As now χ is $\{1,2,3\}$ -accessible, Corollary 6.17 yields that χ is of automorphic type.

We give below a simple application of this theorem.

Corollary 6.19. Let p be an odd prime. If |G| is 8p, then G is of automorphic type.

Proof. Again the Sylow theorems asserts that G admits a normal Sylow subgroup N unless $G \simeq S_4$ (cf. [27, Theorems 1.32 and 1.33]). Assuming that G is not isomorphic to S_4 , since all irreducible characters of N are of degree ≤ 2 , and G/N is clearly nilpotent, Theorem 6.12 yields that G is of automorphic type.

Now suppose G is isomorphic to S_4 . Then $cd(G) = \{1, 2, 3\}$. Since $36 \nmid |S_4|$, Theorem 6.18 asserts that G is of automorphic type.

Also, we have the following variant that generalises NSS-groups.

Proposition 6.20. Suppose that $G = G_1 \times G_2$. For each i, assume that $160 \nmid |G_i|$, and that G_i admits a normal subgroup N_i with G_i/N_i supersolvable and $\operatorname{cd}(N_i) \subseteq \{1, 2, 4\}$. Then the Artin conjecture is true for K/k.

Proof. Again, G is solvable as Theorem 2.11 ensures that each N_i is solvable. We

observe that every irreducible character χ of G can be written as

$$\chi = \chi_1 \times \chi_2$$

for some $\chi_i \in Irr(G_i)$. Moreover, Theorem 2.3 implies that each χ_i is induced from an irreducible character ψ_i of degree 1, 2, or 4 of a subgroup H_i of G_i . Also, the Artin-Langlands-Tunnell theorem yields ψ_i is automorphic if $\psi_i(1) \leq 2$.

For $\psi_i(1) = 4$, if ψ_i is imprimitive, then it must be induced from a character of degree at most 2, which can also be treated by the works of Artin and Langlands-Tunnell. So we may assume ψ_i is 4-dimensional and primitive. As $160 \nmid |G_i|$, Theorems 3.17 and 3.18 together with Lemma 2.13 assert that ψ_i is automorphic immediately.

Thus, one can conclude that χ is induced from a product of two irreducible characters of automorphic type. Now applying the theory of Rankin-Selberg L-functions, Artin's conjecture is valid for the Artin L-function attached to χ .

By a similar argument, one can easily obtain a variant of Theorem 6.12.

Proposition 6.21. Suppose that $G = G_1 \times G_2$ with $36 \nmid |G_i|$, and that each G_i admits a normal subgroup N_i with G_i/N_i supersolvable and $\operatorname{cd}(N_i) \subseteq \{1, 2, 3\}$. Then the Artin conjecture is true for K/k.

We remark that one can, in fact, improve the above results via the classification of finite subgroups of linear groups. For instance, Lemma 2.13 tells us that the condition on indivisibility of $|G_i|$ by 160 can be weakened by only requiring that any subgroup of G_i has no quotient group isomorphic to $E_{2^4} \times D_{10}$ or $E_{2^4} \times F_{20}$. Similarly, the indivisibility of |G| by 36 can be replaced by the condition that none of the subgroups of G has a quotient group isomorphic to the groups of order 36, 72, or

216 appearing in Lemma 2.12 whose precise description can be found, for example, in [43, Chapter 8].

We also have a variant of Theorem 6.18.

Proposition 6.22. Suppose G is NSS. If G has a normal subgroup N with G/N nilpotent and $cd(N) \subseteq \{1, 2, 3\}$, then G is of automorphic type.

Proof. We induct on the order of |G|. By Theorem 2.5, G is a relative SM-group with respect to N. Thus, for every irreducible character χ of G, there exists a subnormal subgroup H with $N \leq H \leq G$ and an irreducible character $\psi \in \operatorname{Irr}(H)$ such that $\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \psi = \chi$ and $\psi|_N \in \operatorname{Irr}(N)$. If $H \neq G$, then the induction hypothesis assures that H is of automorphic type, and so applying Arthur-Clozel's theory completes the proof in this case.

Now assume that H=G. Since G is NSS, G is an NM-group, and χ must be induced from a character of degree 1 or 2. On the other hand, as $\chi|_N=\psi|_N$ is an irreducible character of N, χ is of degree ≤ 3 . If $\chi(1) \leq 2$, then Artin reciprocity and the Langlands-Tunnell theorem assert that χ is of automorphic type. Otherwise, for χ of degree 3, χ must be a monomial character. Now applying Arthur-Clozel's theory and Theorem 3.23 completes the proof.

Corollary 6.23. If G is a group of order 54 or 162, then G is of automorphic type.

Proof. By [61, 7.2.15], G is a supersolvable group. Since any Sylow 3-subgroup P of G has index 2, P is a normal subgroup. As all non-trivial p-groups have non-trivial centre, $[P: \mathbf{Z}(P)] \leq 27$. Thus, Lemma 2.9 yields that $\mathrm{cd}(P) \subseteq \{1,3\}$. Since G/P is cyclic, the corollary follows from Proposition 6.22 immediately.

Now let us put our attention on groups of cube-free order. Firstly, we note that

any Sylow subgroup of a group of cube-free order is abelian. Thus, by applying Proposition 2.4 with N=G, all solvable groups of cube-free order are M-groups. Thanks to the work of Qiao and Li, Proposition 2.1, we have the following refinement.

Theorem 6.24. Assume G = Gal(K/k) is of cube-free order. If either |G| is odd or G is a solvable group with a non-abelian Hall $\{2,3\}$ -subgroup $G_{\{2,3\}} = G_{\{2\}} \rtimes G_{\{3\}}$, then Langlands reciprocity holds for K/k.

Proof. By the celebrated Feit-Thompson theorem, if |G| is odd, then G is solvable. Thus, by Proposition 2.1, if |G| is odd or G is solvable with a non-abelian Hall $\{2,3\}$ -subgroup $G_{\{2,3\}} = G_{\{2\}} \times G_{\{3\}}$, then G is metabelian, which is $\{1\}$ -accessible. Thus, the Langlands reciprocity conjecture follows.

We recall that for a prime p with $3 \mid p+1$, Qiao and Li in [52] gave the following examples of groups which are not metabelian.

- 1. $C_p^2 \rtimes S_3$.
- **2.** $C_p^2 \rtimes C_3 \rtimes C_4$.

Observe that these groups contain normal subgroups isomorphic to $C_p^2 \rtimes C_3$, and that $\operatorname{cd}(C_p^2 \rtimes C_3) \subseteq \{1,3\}$. Applying Theorem 6.18, we know that these groups are of automorphic type. Finally, we present the following result that gives another (non-nilpotent) example of the functoriality of the tensor product.

Proposition 6.25. Assume that G_1 is a nearly nilpotent group and that G_2 is of order which is not divisible by 36. If G_2 has a normal subgroup N_2 , whose irreducible characters are of dimension at most 3, such that G_2/N_2 is nilpotent, then $G_1 \times G_2$ is of automorphic type.

Proof. Since G_1 is nearly nilpotent, there exists N_1 , with $\operatorname{cd}(N_1) \subseteq \{1, 2\}$, such that G_1/N_1 is nilpotent. Also, for each irreducible character χ of $G_1 \times G_2$, there are irreducible characters χ_1 and χ_2 of G_1 and G_2 , respectively, such that $\chi = \chi_1 \times \chi_2$. Now Horváth's theorem tells us that for each i, there exist a subnormal subgroup H_i (containing N_i) of G_i and $\psi_i \in \operatorname{Irr}(H_i)$ such that $\chi_i = \operatorname{Ind}_{H_i}^{G_i} \psi_i$ and $\psi_i|_{N_i} \in \operatorname{Irr}(N_i)$. Thus, $\chi = \operatorname{Ind}_{H_1 \times H_2}^{G_1 \times G_2}(\psi_1 \times \psi_2)$, where $\psi_1(1) \leq 2$ and $\psi_2(1) \leq 3$. Thus, $\psi_1 \times 1$ and $1 \times \psi_2$ are of degree less than or equal to 2 and 3, respectively.

By the assumption on the order of G_2 , if $\psi_2(1) = 3$, then ψ_2 is a monomial character. Thus, Theorems 3.21 and 3.23 yield that $1 \times \psi_2$ is of automorphic type in this case. From the above discussion and the Artin-Langlands-Tunnell theorem, both $\psi_1 \times 1$ and $1 \times \psi_2$ must be of automorphic type. Observing that

$$\psi_1 \times \psi_2 = (\psi_1 \times 1) \otimes (1 \times \psi_2),$$

the functoriality of $GL(n) \times GL(1)$, $GL(2) \times GL(2)$, and $GL(2) \times GL(3)$ asserts that $\psi_1 \times \psi_2$ is also of automorphic type. Finally, as $H_1 \times H_2$ is subnormal in $G_1 \times G_2$, applying Arthur-Clozel's theorem completes the proof.

6.5 Applications to Frobenius Groups

We recall that G is said to be Frobenius if there is a non-trivial proper subgroup H of G such that $g^{-1}Hg \cap H = 1$ whenever $g \in G \backslash H$. From the theory of Frobenius groups (cf. Chapter 2), we have the following lemma.

Lemma 6.26. Suppose $G = N \rtimes H$ is a Frobenius group with Frobenius kernel N and solvable Frobenius complement H. If H is of automorphic type, then so is G.

Proof. Let χ be an irreducible character of $G = \operatorname{Gal}(K/k)$. If $\operatorname{Ker} \chi$ contains N, then χ can be seen as an irreducible character of H. As H is of automorphic type, χ is automorphic over k. Otherwise, if $N \nsubseteq \operatorname{Ker} \chi$, then by Proposition 2.7, there is a $\psi \in \operatorname{Irr}(N)$ such that $\chi = \operatorname{Ind}_N^G \psi$. Since N is nilpotent, N is of automorphic type. In addition, K^N/k is a solvable Galois extension, Arthur-Clozel's theory yields that χ is automorphic over k.

Now suppose that G is a Frobenius group, and H is a Frobenius complement of G. Assume, further, that the Fitting subgroup $\mathbf{F}(H)$ of H satisfies that $H/\mathbf{F}(H)$ is nilpotent. As every Sylow subgroup of H is either cyclic or a generalised quaternion group, all irreducible characters of $\mathbf{F}(H)$ are of degree ≤ 2 . Thus, Theorem 6.12 and Lemma 6.26 assert that G is of automorphic type, which gives Zhang's result [75].

By a similar argument, one has a criterion below.

Lemma 6.27. Let G = Gal(K/k) be a Frobenius group with Frobenius kernel N. If Artin's conjecture is true for K^N/k , then Artin's conjecture holds for K/k.

Let us further borrow below a structure theorem of Frobenius complements (see, for example, [50, Lemmata 18.3 and 18.4] or [28, Theorems 6.14 and 6.15]). (We note that Frobenius complements are called Frobenius subgroups in [28].)

Proposition 6.28. If H is a solvable Frobenius complement, then either:

Type 1. H = SQ, where S is a normal cyclic subgroup of H and Q is cyclic.

Type 2. H = SQ, where $S \subseteq H$ is cyclic and Q is a generalised quaternion group.

Type 3. H is isomorphic to $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_3)$.

Type 4. $H/\mathbf{F}(H) \simeq S_3$, where $\mathbf{F}(H)$ is the Fitting subgroup of H.

Now, by the results discussed previously, and the fact that every Sylow subgroup of a Frobenius complement is either cyclic or a generalised quaternion group, we have below a theorem.

Theorem 6.29. Suppose that K/k is a solvable Frobenius Galois extension with Galois group G. Then the Artin conjecture holds for K/k. Moreover, if a Frobenius complement of G is of Type 1, 2, or 3, then Langlands reciprocity holds for K/k.

Moreover, applying our method of low-dimensional groups, we still can say a little more for Frobenius complements of Type 4.

Proposition 6.30. If G is a solvable Frobenius group G with Frobenius kernel N and Frobenius complement H, then any irreducible character χ of G is of automorphic type unless $N \subseteq \text{Ker } \chi$, χ is of degree 6 and induced from a non-monomial character of degree 2, and H is of Type 4.

Proof. As we have shown before, if $N \nsubseteq \operatorname{Ker} \chi$, χ is of automorphic type. Also Theorem 6.29 asserts that if H is not of Type 4, G is of automorphic type. Thus, we may assume $H/\mathbf{F}(H) \simeq S_3$ and $N \subseteq \operatorname{Ker} \chi$. In this case, χ can be seen as a character of H. Since $H/\mathbf{F}(H)$ is isomorphic to S_3 , Theorem 2.3 implies that χ must be induced from an irreducible character ψ of degree ≤ 2 of a subgroup $\widetilde{H} \leq H$ of index 1, 2, 3, 6. Now by the Arthur-Clozel theory, Theorem 3.23, and the fact that the only non-subnormal subgroup of S_3 has index 3, the assertion follows.

Corollary 6.31. Assume that G is a solvable Frobenius group G with Frobenius complement H. If any Sylow 2-subgroup of the Fitting subgroup $\mathbf{F}(H)$ of H is abelian, then G is of automorphic type. In particular, if 16 does not divide |G|, then G is of automorphic type.

Proof. By Theorem 6.29, we may assume $H/\mathbf{F}(H)$ is isomorphic to S_3 . Observe that if 16 does not divide |G|, then 8 cannot divide $\mathbf{F}(H)$. In this case, any Sylow 2-subgroup of $\mathbf{F}(H)$ is abelian. Since for every p > 2, all Sylow p-subgroups of H are cyclic and $\mathbf{F}(H)$ is nilpotent, $\mathbf{F}(H)$ is abelian if any Sylow 2-subgroup of $\mathbf{F}(H)$ is.

Now assuming $\mathbf{F}(H)$ is abelian, the theory of relative M-groups tells us that all irreducible characters of H are monomial. Thus, Proposition 6.30 (together with its proof) implies H is of automorphic type.

As shown in the proof of Proposition 6.30, we cannot derive the automorphy for irreducible characters of degree 6, induced from a character of degree 2. Nevertheless, if the existence of automorphic induction is assumed, one will have the following.

Theorem 6.32 (Conditional). If the non-normal cubic automorphic induction exists for all 2-dimensional cuspidal automorphic representations, then all solvable Frobenius groups are of automorphic type.

6.6 Groups of Order at most 100

In [68], van der Waall applied group-theoretic methods together with a generalisation of Proposition 2.4 to show that all groups of order ≤ 100 , twenty-four groups excepted, are monomial. Moreover, van der Waall described the 24 exceptional groups that are non-monomial. In light of the work of van der Waall, we will show that all groups, except A_5 , of order at most 100, are of automorphic type.

Clearly, the trivial group is always of automorphic type. On the other hand, by the theorem of Arthur and Clozel, we know that all p-groups are of automorphic type. Hence, if |G| belongs to

$$\{1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 13, 17, 19, 23, 29, 31, 37, 41, 43, 47, 53, 59, 61, 67, 71, 73, 79, 83, 89, 97\}$$

or

$${4,8,16,32,64,9,27,81,25,49},$$

then G is of automorphic type. There are 36 classes of groups.

According to Corollaries 6.15 and 6.19, any group of order pq, pq^2 , p^2q^2 , or 8p for some primes p and q is of automorphic type (thanks to Artin reciprocity, the Langlands-Tunnell theorem, and Arthur-Clozel's theory). Thus, if G has order 6, 10, 12, 14, 15, 18, 20, 21, 22, 24, 26, 28, 33, 34, 35, 36, 38, 39, 40, 44, 45, 46, 50, 51, 52, 55, 56, 57, 58, 62, 63, 65, 68, 69, 74, 75, 76, 77, 82, 85, 86, 87, 88, 91, 92, 93, 94, 95, 98, 99, or 100, then G is of automorphic type. Here we have 51 classes of groups.

Now, there are only 13 remaining cases, namely, the groups of order 30, 42, 48, 54, 60, 66, 70, 72, 78, 80, 84, 90, or 96. If G is of order 30, 42, 54, 66, 70, or 78, G is of automorphic type by Corollaries 6.14 and 6.23. On the other hand, any group of order 90 has a normal subgroup of order 45, which is abelian. As a result, all groups of order 90 are metabelian and thus of automorphic type.

6.6.1 The Case |G| = 48

For G of order 48, G has a normal subgroup N of order 8 or 16. According to Lemma 2.9, all irreducible characters of N are of degree ≤ 2 . Since G/N is either of order 3 or 6, G/N must be supersolvable. Thus, G is clearly NSS and NM. In addition, if |G/N| = 3, Theorem 6.12 asserts that G is of automorphic type.

Now assume |N|=8. As G is an NM-group, Artin reciprocity, the Langlands-Tunnell theorem, and Theorem 3.23 ensure that every irreducible character of G of degree ≤ 3 is of automorphic type. On the other hand, we note that all irreducible representations of G are of dimension ≤ 4 , which can easily be checked via GAP [20] for instance. By the fact that G is nearly supersolvable, and [G:N]=6, we conclude that if χ is an irreducible character of degree 4, it must be induced from a 2-dimensional character of a subgroup H of G containing N. As [G:H]=2, H is a normal subgroup, and thus χ is of automorphic type.

6.6.2 The Case |G| = 60

If G is of order 60, as a consequence of the Sylow theorems, G is either isomorphic to A_5 , $A_4 \times C_5$, or $C_{15} \rtimes T$ where $T = C_4$ or $T = C_2^2$.

Since A_4 is of automorphic type, and C_5 is abelian, Artin reciprocity and the functoriality of $GL(n) \times GL(1)$ assert that $A_4 \times C_5$ is of automorphic type. On the other hand, for the third case, G is clearly of automorphic type thanks to Theorem 6.12. Therefore, we have the following.

Corollary 6.33. Every non-simple group of order 60 is of automorphic type.

6.6.3 The Case |G| = 72

Consider a group G of order 72. According to [68, Theorem II. 5.1], G is not monomial if and only if G' is the quaternion group of order 8. Moreover, a group G of order 72 with |G'| = 24 does not exist. Hence, any non-monomial group of order 72 must be nearly nilpotent and of automorphic type. For G monomial, G' must have order 1, 2, 4, 3, 6, 12, 9, 18, or 36. If G' is of order 1, 2, 4, 3, 6, 9, or 18, we know that

 $cd(G') \subseteq \{1, 2\}$, and so G is nearly nilpotent.

Now we assume G' is of order 12 or 36. By Lemma 2.10, $\operatorname{cd}(G') \subseteq \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$. On the other hand, Horváth's theorem tells us that for every $\chi \in \operatorname{Irr}(G)$, there exists a subnormal subgroup H with $G' \leq H \leq G$ and an irreducible character $\psi \in \operatorname{Irr}(H)$ such that $\operatorname{Ind}_H^G \psi = \chi$ and $\psi|_{G'} \in \operatorname{Irr}(G')$. Since every proper subgroup of a group of order 72 has been shown to be of automorphic type, if $H \neq G$, then Arthur-Clozel's theory of automorphic induction yields χ is of automorphic type. Thus, we may assume H = G. As G is monomial and solvable, if $\chi(1) \leq 3$, then χ is of automorphic type. Furthermore, if $4 \in \operatorname{cd}(G')$, Lemma 2.10 tells us that G' must be of order 36 and G'' is of order 9. Thus, G/G'' is a 2-group and G is nearly nilpotent.

6.6.4 The Case |G| = 80

Also a straightforward application of Sylow's theory yields that every group of order 16p has a normal Sylow subgroup unless p = 3. As a consequence, Lemma 2.9 and Theorem 6.12 assert every group of order 16p is of automorphic type unless p = 3. As shown above, for G of order 48, G is of automorphic type, and we hence have:

Corollary 6.34. If G is of order 16p, then G is of automorphic type. In particular, if |G| = 80, then G is of automorphic type.

6.6.5 The Case |G| = 84

For G of order 84, by Proposition 2.1, G is either of the form $G = C_7 \rtimes C_3 \rtimes G_{\{2\}}$ or metabelian. By Theorem 2.3, it is easy to see that $\operatorname{cd}(C_7 \rtimes C_3) \subseteq \{1,3\}$. As $36 \nmid |G|$, Theorem 6.18 asserts that G is of automorphic type. Thus, it remains to consider groups of order 96.

6.6.6 The Case |G| = 96

For the last case, |G| = 96, if |G'| is 1, 2, 4, 8, 16, 3, 6, 12, or 24, then as above, we have $cd(G') \subseteq \{1, 2, 3\}$. Hence, by Theorem 6.18, G is of automorphic type.

Let |G'| be 48. Then [68, Theorem II. 6.2] tells us that G'' is of order 16 and abelian. Since G/G'' is supersolvable, Theorem 2.3 asserts that for any $\chi \in Irr(G)$, there exists a subgroup H with $G'' \leq H \leq G$ and an irreducible character $\psi \in Irr(H)$ such that $Ind_H^G \psi = \chi$ and $\psi|_{G''} \in Irr(G'')$, and hence $cd(G) \subseteq \{1, 2, 3, 6\}$. We note that if $\chi(1) = 6$, then it must be induced from a linear character of G'', which is normal in G. Thus, Arthur-Clozel's theory implies that χ is of automorphic type. Again, as G is monomial and solvable, if $\chi(1) \leq 3$, then χ is of automorphic type.

Now it remains to consider the case |G'| = 32. Let $\Phi(G')$ stand for the Frattini subgroup of G', i.e., the intersection of all maximal subgroups of G'. We recall that a p-group is termed extra-special if its centre, derived subgroup and Frattini subgroup all coincide. By the classification, [68, Theorem II. 6.5], we have either:

- 1. G is not monomial if and only if $\mathbf{Z}(G')$ is of order 8 and $\Phi(G')$ is of order 8 or 2 ([68, Cases (4-a) and (4-b)]); or
- **2.** G is monomial if and only if G' = Q * Q, the extra-special group of order 32 of (+)-type ([68, Case (4-d-2)]).

For the first case, we note that if $|\mathbf{Z}(G')| = |\Phi(G')| = 8$, then van der Waall showed that |G''| = 2, which implies that $G' \in \Gamma_2$. (Here, Γ_2 is the Hall-Senior family of groups with the derived subgroups isomorphic to C_2 and the inner automorphism groups isomorphic to V_4 .) It can be checked, by using the computer algebra package [20] (or even rather easily, but more tediously, by hand), that $\mathrm{cd}(G') = \{1, 2\}$ in this

case. On the other hand, if $|\mathbf{Z}(G')| = 8$ and $|\Phi(G')| = 2$, then van der Waall proved that $G' \simeq C_2^2 \times Q$, which gives $\mathrm{cd}(G') = \{1, 2\}$. Thus, G is nearly nilpotent.

For the second case, van der Waall (see [68, pp. 125-126]) showed that for every irreducible representation ρ of G, either ρ can be regarded as a representation of $G/\mathbf{Z}(G')$, or ρ is faithful, monomial, and of dimension 4.

As remarked by van der Waall, $G/\mathbf{Z}(G')$ has the abelian derived subgroup and hence is monomial. We further note that this comment, in fact, tells us that $G/\mathbf{Z}(G')$ is metabelian and hence of automorphic type.

Finally, we assume ρ is faithful. Thus, $\rho(G)$ is a solvable subgroup of order 96 of $GL_4(\mathbb{C})$. As noted in [43, Chapter 4], since any scalar matrix in $\rho(G)$ lies in its centre $\mathbf{Z}(\rho(G))$ and Schur's lemma implies that $\mathbf{Z}(\rho(G))$ is contained inside the set of scalar matrices, the projective image of ρ in $PGL_4(\mathbb{C})$ is isomorphic to $\rho(G)/\mathbf{Z}(\rho(G)) \simeq G/\mathbf{Z}(G)$. Since $G \simeq (Q * Q) \rtimes C_3$, as may be checked in GAP [20] for example, one can deduce that $G/\mathbf{Z}(G)$ is isomorphic to $V_4 \rtimes A_4$. By a result of Martin, Theorem 3.19, ρ is of automorphic type which completes the proof.

Chapter 7

Concluding Remarks and Future Directions

Problems in arithmetic or, more generally, in mathematics enlighten the path for us to discover and understand new concepts. As discussed earlier, for any extension K/k of number fields, Dedekind conjectured that the quotient $\zeta_K(s)/\zeta_k(s)$ of the Dedekind zeta functions is entire. This indeed led Artin to his L-functions and holomorphy conjecture. It may be that we shall not see the complete resolution of either Dedekind's conjecture or Artin's conjecture shortly. However, they illuminate a deep relation among algebra, analysis, and arithmetic.

We recall that via works of Aramata-Brauer and Uchida-van der Waall, Dedekind's conjecture is valid whenever K/k is Galois, or K is contained in a solvable normal closure of k. Two key ingredients in their proofs are Artin reciprocity and the theory of monomial representations. Furthermore, they provide the background for the theory of Heilbronn characters. In light of these and the automorphy result for certain 2-dimensional (Galois) representations due to Langlands-Tunnell and Khare-Wintenberger, it may be interesting and possible to extend previous results via character theory as follows.

1. Investigate Dedekind's conjecture for non-solvable cases.

2. Study Heilbronn characters involving characters induced from characters of degree at most 2.

Also, via Arthur-Clozel's theory of automorphic induction, if K/k is a solvable Galois extension, then the quotient $\zeta_K(s)/\zeta_k(s)$ is equal to an automorphic L-function over k. Inspired by the result of Uchida and van der Waall, we further propose the following:

3. Study the strong Dedekind conjecture for K contained in a solvable normal closure of k. (That is, we want to show $\zeta_K(s)/\zeta_k(s)$ is automorphic over k.)

In a slightly different theme, we remark that the methods introduced in Chapter 6 allow one to study the Langlands reciprocity conjecture for solvable Galois extensions via elementary group theory (e.g. Sylow's theorems). Indeed, for solvable G, one can also argue using the derived subgroup G'. More precisely, as G/G' is abelian, our results obtained enable one to investigate the automorphy of G by simply considering cd(G'), the set of character degrees of G', which can be easily computed via the computer algebra package [20]. From this, we have the following project in our minds.

4. Use a mix of theory and computation to investigate the automorphy of solvable groups of order greater than 100.

The Langlands program has provided us with an exuberant interplay of number theory and representation theory. Indeed, since the analytic theory of automorphic L-functions is well-developed, the "automorphy connection" allows us to study L-functions associated to arithmetic objects easier and resolve several famous conjectures including Fermat's last theorem (which follows from the modularity theorem of Wiles) and the Sato-Tate conjecture (which follows from the potential automorphy results of Taylor et al.). Thus, it is interesting and natural to seek arithmetic

applications of the results presented in this thesis. For instance, in sieve theory, to study primes satisfying Chebotarev conditions, one of the main tools is a variant of the Bombieri-Vinogradov theorem due to M. Ram Murty and V. Kumar Murty [45], and Langlands reciprocity plays the crucial role in obtaining a better "level of distribution" in their theorem. From this, we propose our last project:

5. Find more applications of Langlands reciprocity in analytic number theory, especially, in sieve theory. We hope to apply this research to classical questions such as the Goldbach conjecture, the twin prime conjecture, the Artin primitive root conjecture, and the Lang-Trotter conjectures.

Bibliography

- S. A. Amitsur, Groups with representations of bounded degree, II, Illinois J. Math., 5 (1961), 198-205.
- [2] J. Arthur and L. Clozel, Simple Algebras, Base Change, and the Advanced Theory of the Trace Formula, Annals of Math. Studies 120, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1989.
- [3] E. Artin, Über eine neue Art von L-Reihen, Hamb. Abh. 3 (1924), 89-108. (Cf. Collected Papers, 105-124, Addison-Wesley, Reading, 1965.)
- [4] T. Barnet-Lamb, D. Geraghty, M. Harris, and R. Taylor, A family of Calabi-Yau varieties and potential automorphy II. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci., 7 (2011), 29-98.
- [5] Y. G. Berkovich and E. M. Zhmud', Characters of Finite Groups. Part 1 and Part2, Translations of Math. Monographs 172 and 181, AMS, Providence, RI, 1998.
- [6] H. F. Blichfeldt, Finite Collineation Groups, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1917.
- [7] R. Brauer, On the zeta functions of algebraic number fields, Amer. J. Math., 69 (1947), 243-250.

[8] R. Brauer, On Artin's L-series with general group characters, Annals of Math., 48 (1947), 502-514.

- [9] A. Borel and B. Casselman (ed.), Automorphic Forms, Representations, and L-Functions, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Vol. 33, AMS, Providence, RI, 1979.
- [10] N. G. Chebotarev, "Determination of the density of the set of primes corresponding to a given class of permutations", Izv. Akad. Nauk., 17 (1923), 205-250.
- [11] J. P. Cho, Automorphic L-Functions and their Applications to Number Theory, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Toronto, 2012.
- [12] A. Cojocaru and M. R. Murty, Cyclicity of elliptic curves modulo p and elliptic curve analogues of Linnik's problem, Math. Annalen, 330, No. 3 (2004), 601-625.
- [13] L. Clozel, M. Harris, and R. Taylor, Automorphy for some *l*-adic lifts of automorphic mod *l* representations, Publ. Math. IHES, 108 (2008), 1-181.
- [14] E. C. Dade, Accessible characters are monomial, J. Algebra, 117 (1988), 256-266.
- [15] M. Deuring, Die zetafunktion einer algebraischen Kurve vom Geschlechte Eins I, II, III, IV, Nachr. Akad. Wiss., Gottingen (1953), 85-94; (1955), 13-42; (1956), 37-76; (1957), 55-80.
- [16] P. Diaconis and I. M. Isaacs, Supercharacters and superclasses for algebra groups, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 360(5) (2008), 2359-2392.
- [17] H. Dietrich and B. Eick, On the groups of cube-free order, J. Algebra, 292 (2005), 122-137.

[18] R. Foote, Non-monomial characters and Artin's conjecture, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 321 (1990), 261-272.

- [19] R. Foote and V. K. Murty, Zeros and poles of Artin L-series, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc., 105, 5 (1989), 5-11.
- [20] The GAP Group, GAP Groups, Algorithms, and Programming, Version 4.8 (2016) (http://www.gap-system.org/).
- [21] R. Godement and H. Jacquet, Zeta Functions of Simple Algebras, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 260. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1972.
- [22] M. Harris, N. Shepherd-Barron, and R. Taylor, A family of Calabi-Yau varieties and potential automorphy, Annals of Math., 171 (2010), 779-813.
- [23] H. Heilbronn, On real zeros of Dedekind ζ -functions, Canad. J. Math. 25 (1973), 870-873.
- [24] A. O. F. Hendrickson, Supercharacter theory constructions corresponding to Schur ring products, Comm. Algebra, 40(12) (2012), 4420-4438.
- [25] E. Horváth, On some questions concerning subnormally monomial groups, Groups '93 Galway/St Andrews, Vol. 2 (C. M. Campbell, T. C. Hurley, E. F. Robertson, S. J. Tobin, and J. J. Ward ed.), 314-321, Cambridge University Press, 1995.
- [26] I. M. Isaacs, Character Theory of Finite Groups, Dover, New York, 1994.
- [27] I. M. Isaacs, Finite Group Theory, AMS, New York, 2008.

[28] N. Ito, Lectures on Frobenius and Zassenhaus Groups, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1969.

- [29] K. Iwasawa, A note on functions, Proceedings of the 1950 International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. 1, 322, Cambridge, MA, 1950; AMS, Providence, RI, 1952. (Cf. Letter to J. Dieudonné, Zeta Functions in Geometry (Proceedings, Tokyo 1990; N. Kurokawa and T. Sunada. ed.), Adv. Stud. Pure Math., 21, 445-450, Kinokuniya, Tokyo, 1992.)
- [30] H. Jacquet, Principal L-functions of the linear group, Automorphic forms, representations and L-functions (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Oregon State Univ., Corvallis, Ore., 1977), Part 2, 63-86, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., XXXIII, AMS, Providence, RI, 1979.
- [31] H. Jacquet, On the base change problem: after J. Arthur and L. Clozel, in Number Theory, Trace Formulas and Discrete Groups, Academic Press, 1989.
- [32] H. Jacquet, I. I. Piatetski-Shapiro, and J. Shalika, Relèvement cubique non normal, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 292, No. 12 (1981), 567-571.
- [33] H. Jacquet and J. Shalika, On Euler products and the classification of automorphic representations II, Amer. J. Math., 103, No. 3 (1981), 777-815.
- [34] C. Khare and J.-P. Wintenberger, Serre's modularity conjecture (I), Invent. Math., 178 (3) (2009), 485-504.
- [35] H. Kim, On symmetric powers of cusp forms on GL_2 , The Conference on L-functions, 95-113, World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, NJ, 2007.

[36] H. Kim and F. Shahidi, Functorial products for $GL_2 \times GL_3$ and functorial symmetric cube for GL_2 , with an appendix by Colin J. Bushnell and Guy Henniart, Annals of Math., (2) 155, No. 3 (2002), 837-893.

- [37] R. P. Langlands, Base change for GL(2), Annals of Math. Studies 96, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1980.
- [38] R. P. Langlands, Where stands functoriality today, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., 61 (1997), 457-471.
- [39] J. M. Lansky and K. M. Wilson, A variation on the solvable case of the Dedekind conjecture, Journal of the Ramanujan Math. Society, 20, No. 2 (2005), 1-10.
- [40] J. C. Lagarias and A. M. Odlyzko, Effective versions of the Chebotarev density theorem, Algebraic number fields: ζ-functions and Galois properties (Proc. Sympos., Univ. Durham, Durham, 1975), 409-464, Academic Press, London, 1977.
- [41] K. Martin, A symplectic case of Artin's conjecture, Math. Res. Lett., 10, No. 4 (2003), 483-492.
- [42] K. Martin, Modularity of hypertetrahedral representations, Comptes Rendus Mathematique, Vol. 339, No. 2 (2004), 99-102.
- [43] K. Martin, Four-Dimensional Galois Representations of Solvable Type and Automorphic Forms, Ph.D. Thesis, Caltech, 2004.
- [44] G. A. Miller, H. F. Blichfeldt, and L. E. Dickson, Theory and Applications of Finite Groups, Dover, New York, 1961.

[45] M. Ram Murty and V. Kumar Murty, A variant of the Bombieri-Vinogradov theorem, Number theory (Montréal, Québec, 1985), 243-272, CMS Conf. Proc., 7, AMS, Providence, RI, 1987.

- [46] M. R. Murty and V. K. Murty, Base change and the Birch-Swinnerton-Dyer conjecture, A tribute to Emil Grosswald: number theory and related analysis, Contemp. Math., Vol. 143, 481-494., AMS, Providence, RI, 1993.
- [47] M. R. Murty and V. K. Murty, The Sato-Tate conjecture and generalizations, Current Trends in Science: Platinum Jubilee Special, 639-646, Indian Academy of Sciences, 2009.
- [48] M. R. Murty, V. K. Murty, and N. Saradha, Modular forms and the Chebotarev density theorem, Amer. J. Math., 110 (1988), 253-281.
- [49] M. R. Murty and A. Raghuram, Variations on a conjecture of Dedekind, Journal of the Ramanujan Math. Society, 15, No. 2 (2000), 75-95.
- [50] D. S. Passman, Permutation Groups, W. A. Benjamin, New York, 1968.
- [51] D. S. Passman, The Algebraic Structure of Group Rings, Wiley, New York, 1977.
- [52] S. Qiao and C. H. Li, The finite groups of cube-free order, J. Algebra, 334 (2011), 101-108.
- [53] D. Ramakrishnan, Modularity of the Rankin-Selberg L-series, and multiplicity one for SL(2), Annals of Math., (2) 152, No. 1 (2000), 45-111.
- [54] D. Ramakrishnan, Modularity of solvable Artin representations of GO(4)-type, Int. Math. Res. Not., No. 1 (2002), 1-54.

[55] J.-P. Serre, Abelian l-Adic Representations and Elliptic Curves, W. A. Benjamin, New York-Amsterdam, 1968.

- [56] J.-P. Serre, Propriétés galoisiennes des points d'ordre fini des courbes elliptiques, Invent. Math., 15 (1972), 259-331.
- [57] J.-P. Serre, Résumé des cours de 1977-1978, Annuaire du Collège de France, 1978, 67-70. (Cf. Collected Papers, Volume III, Springer-Verlag, 1985.)
- [58] J.-P. Serre, Quelques applications du théorème de densité de Chebotarev, Publ. Math. IHES, 54 (1981), 123-201.
- [59] G. Shimura, On the zeta-function of an abelian variety with complex multiplication, Annals of Math., 94, No. 3 (1971), 504-533.
- [60] G. Shimura, On elliptic curves with complex multiplication as factors of the Jacobians of modular function fields, Nagoya Math. J. 43 (1971), 199-208.
- [61] W. R. Scott, Group Theory, Dover, New York, 1987.
- [62] H. Stark, Some effective cases of the Brauer-Siegel theorem, Invent. Math., 23 (1974), 135-152.
- [63] K. Taketa, Über die Gruppen, deren Darstellungen sich sämtlich auf monomiale Gestalt transformieren lassen, Proceedings Acad. Tokyo, 6 (2) (1930), 31-33.
- [64] J. Tate, Fourier Analysis in Number Fields and Hecke's Zeta-Functions, Ph.D. Thesis, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ, 1950. (Cf. Algebraic Number Theory (Proc. Instructional Conf., Brighton, 1965; J. W. S. Cassels and A. Fröehlich ed.), Thompson, Washington, D.C.)

[65] R. Taylor, Automorphy for some ℓ-adic lifts of automorphic mod ℓ representations II, Publ. Math. IHES, 108 (2008), 183-239.

- [66] J. Tunnell, Artin's conjecture for representations of octahedral type, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 5 (2) (1981), 173-175.
- [67] K. Uchida, On Artin's L-functions, Tohoku Math. J., 27 (1975), 75-81.
- [68] R. W. van der Waall, On monomial groups, J. reine angew. Math., 264 (1973), 103-134.
- [69] R. W. van der Waall, On a conjecture of Dedekind on zeta functions, Indag. Math., 37 (1975), 83-86.
- [70] A. Weil, Dirichlet Series and Automorphic Forms, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 189, Springer-Verlag, 1971.
- [71] M. Weinstein (ed.), Supersolvable groups, Between Nilpotent and Solvable, Polygonal Publishing House, 1982.
- [72] P.-J. Wong, A variant of Heilbronn characters, Int. J. Number Theory, Vol. 13, No. 6 (2017), 1547-1570.
- [73] P.-J. Wong, Langlands reciprocity for certain Galois extensions, Journal of Number Theory, Vol. 178 (2017), 126-145.
- [74] P.-J. Wong, Nearly supersolvable groups and applications to Artin L-functions, submitted.
- [75] Y. Zhang, A reciprocity law for certain Frobenius extensions, Proceedings of the Amer. Math. Soc., Vol. 124, No. 6 (1996), 1643-1648.